GENOMIC ANALYSIS OF SEPTORIA NODORUM BLOTCH SUSCEPTIBILITY GENES

SNN1 AND SNN2 IN WHEAT

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

WSJM Sudeshi Lakmali Seneviratne

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> Major Program: Genomics and Bioinformatics

> > October 2019

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title

Genomic analysis of septoria nodorum blotch susceptibility genes Snn1 and Snn2 in wheat

By

WSJM Sudeshi Lakmali Seneviratne

The Supervisory Committee certifies that this disquisition complies with North Dakota

State University's regulations and meets the accepted standards for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Dr. Phillip E. McClean

Dr. Justin D. Faris

Dr. Timothy L. Friesen

Dr. Zhaohui Liu

Dr. Steven S. Xu

10/24/2019 Date Dr. Phillip E. McClean

Department Chair

ABSTRACT

Septoria nodorum blotch is a disease of wheat caused by the necrotrophic fungus *Parastagonospora nodorum*. In the wheat-*P. nodorum* pathosystem, recognition of pathogenproduced necrotrophic effectors (NEs) by dominant host genes leads to host cell death, which allows the pathogen to gain nutrients and proliferate. To date, nine host gene-NE interactions have been reported in this pathosystem. Among them, the *Snn2*-SnTox2 interaction has shown to be important in both seedling and adult plant susceptibility. A saturated genetic linkage map was developed using a segregating population of recombinant inbred lines and a high-resolution map was then developed using F₂ plants derived from a cross between the SnTox2-insensitive wheat line BR34 and the SnTox2-sensitive line BG301. Over 10,000 gametes were screened for highresolution mapping and the *Snn2* gene was delineated to a genetic interval of 0.10 cM that corresponds to a physical segment of approximately 0.53 Mb on the short arm of wheat chromosome 2D. A total of 27 predicted genes present in this region and thirteen of them were identified as strong candidates. Seven EMS-induced *Snn2*-insensitive mutants were generated for gene validation. Results of this study provide the foundation for cloning of *Snn2*.

The host sensitivity gene *Snn1*, which confers sensitivity to SnTox1, was previously cloned. Here, allelic diversity of *Snn1* was studied to identify causal polymorphisms, and to develop markers useful for marker assisted selection (MAS). Twenty-seven coding sequence haplotypes that correspond to 21 amino acid haplotypes were identified. Three SNPs were identified as the possible mutations that caused the insensitive allele in wild emmer to become the sensitive allele in domesticated wheat. In addition, four SNPs that changed the sensitive allele into insensitive alleles were identified. SNP-based markers that could detect three of those

SNPs were developed. Results of this study help to increase our knowledge in wheat-NE interactions and host sensitivity gene evolution.

•

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I offer my sincere gratitude to my major advisor, Dr. Justin Faris for giving me the opportunity to join his lab and providing invaluable guidance throughout this research. It was a great privilege to work and study under his guidance. His immense knowledge and passion deeply inspired me to become a better scientist.

I would like to thank my committee members Dr. Phillip McClean, Dr. Timothy Friesen, Dr. Zhaohui Liu and Dr. Steven Xu for their support and insightful comments during committee meetings. I express my special thanks to my academic advisor Dr. Phillip McClean for his support and guidance while completing my degree.

Many thanks go to my current and former lab members: Dr. Zengcui Zhang, Megan Overlander, Amanda Peters Haugrud, Dr. Jyoti Saini, Sapna Sharma, Katherine Running, Cayley Steen, Dr. Agnes Szabo-Hever and Dr. Aliya Momotaz for creating such a pleasant and friendly environment in the lab. I want to express my special thanks to Dr. Zhang for teaching me lab techniques and offering valuable advice. Additionally, I thank Samantha Steckler, Marissa Condron, Erika Shay Bauer and Molly Holt for their great support in the greenhouse.

Last, but not least, I would like to thank my father, mother and brother: Lionel, Chandra and Rajitha Seneviratne. If it wasn't for them, I would not be where I am today.

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
CHAPTER 1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION	
1.1. References	
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1. Wheat	
2.2. The evolution of wheat	6
2.3. The wheat genome	
2.4. Plant response to biotic stresses	
2.5. Necrotrophic plant pathogens	
2.6. Septoria nodorum blotch (SNB)	
2.7. The host-NE interactions in the wheat-P. nodorum pathosystem	
2.7.1. SnToxA-Tsn1	
2.7.2. SnTox1-Snn1	
2.7.3. SnTox2- <i>Snn2</i>	
2.7.4. SnTox3- <i>Snn3</i>	
2.7.5. SnTox4- <i>Snn4</i>	
2.7.6. SnTox5- <i>Snn5</i>	
2.7.7. SnTox6- <i>Snn6</i>	
2.7.8. SnTox7- <i>Snn7</i>	
2.8. Molecular markers and genetic mapping	
2.9. References	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 3. GENOMIC ANALYSIS AND HIGH-RESOLUTION MAPPING OF THE SNN2 GENE IN WHEAT	33
3.1. Abstract	33
3.2. Introduction	34
3.3. Materials and methods	36
3.3.1. Plant materials	36
3.3.2. DNA extraction	36
3.3.3. PCR amplification and electrophoresis	37
3.3.4. Saturated mapping and marker development	37
3.3.5. Linkage analysis	38
3.3.6. High resolution mapping	38
3.3.7. Fungal cultures and culture filtrate production	39
3.3.8. Phenotyping	40
3.3.9. Mutagenesis	40
3.3.10. Identification of candidate genes	41
3.4. Results	41
3.4.1. Saturation mapping	41
3.4.2. High resolution mapping	42
3.4.3. Candidate genes	43
3.4.4. Mutagenesis	44
3.5. Discussion	48
3.6. References	52
CHAPTER 4. CHARACTERIZATION OF ALLELIC VARIATION IN THE <i>SNN1</i> GENE	60
4.1. Abstract	60
4.2. Introduction	60

4.3. Materials and methods	
4.3.1. Plant materials	63
4.3.2. Fungal culture production	
4.3.3. Phenotyping and statistical analysis	64
4.3.4. Identification of lines with two copies of <i>Snn1</i>	65
4.3.5. Polymerase chain reaction and sequencing	67
4.3.6. Sequence data analysis	69
4.3.7. Marker development	70
4.3.8. Analysis of Kronos mutants	70
4.4. Results	71
4.4.1. Reaction of the 70 wheat lines to SnTox1	71
4.4.2. Analysis of <i>Snn1</i> copy number and expression in the 70 wheat lines	72
4.4.3. Nucleotide diversity and haplotype analysis	74
4.4.4. Identification of critical SNPs	
4.4.5. Marker development	81
4.4.6. Analysis of Kronos EMS-mutants	84
4.5. Discussion	85
4.6. Conclusions	91
4.7. References	
APPENDIX A. ACCESSIONS OF WHEAT SPECIES DEPLOYED IN THE PHYLOGENETIC INTERACTION STUDY	101
APPENDIX B. COMPARISON OF SNTOX1-SENSITIVITY LEVELS AMONG DIFFERENT WHEAT SUBSPECIES EVALUATED	103
APPENDIX C. DETAILS OF THE KRONOS MUTANTS USED IN THE STUDY	104

LIST OF TABLES

<u>Table</u>	Ī	'age
3.1.	Markers developed for molecular mapping of <i>Snn2</i>	46
3.2.	Candidate genes for Snn2 based on IWGSC RefSeq v1.1	47
4.1.	Snn1 copy number and expression	73
4.2.	Nucleotide diversity and neutrality test of different regions along the Snn1 gene	75
4.3.	Descriptions of critical natural mutations identified within the Snn1 gene	80
4.4.	Markers develop to identify lines with critical SNPs	82
4.5.	Descriptions of critical induced mutations identified within the Snn1 gene	84

LIST	OF	FIC	GU	RES
------	----	-----	----	-----

<u>Figure</u>		Page
3.1.	Map-based analysis of <i>Snn2</i> region.	45
4.1.	The scoring scale used for phenotyping wheat leaves after infiltration with SnTox1	65
4.2.	Restriction enzyme digestion profiles of PCR products amplified from genomic DNA using the CAPs marker <i>fcp667</i>	67
4.3.	Number of accessions present in each phenotypic group.	71
4.4.	Haplotypes identified based on the coding sequences	76
4.5.	Haplotypes identified based on the deduced amino acid sequences	77
4.6.	Phylogenetic tree based on the deduced amino acid sequences	79
4.7.	Locations of critical mutations in the Snn1 gene	81
4.8.	Restriction enzyme digestion profiles of PCR products amplified from genomic DNA using dCAPs markers.	83
4.9.	Positions and the phenotypic effects of mutations in Kronos population	85

CHAPTER 1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Wheat is one of the most important staple foods of the human diet around the world. It is the leading source of plant-derived protein in food and contributes 20% of the caloric intake worldwide (Bockus et al. 2010; Curtis et al. 2002). In 2018/2019, 730.7 million tons of wheat were produced worldwide (FAO 2019). According to the Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, this production is sufficient for the current global demand. However, the global population is estimated to exceed nine billion people by 2050 which is an increase of about 1.5 billion. It is estimated that the annual global wheat production must be increased to more than 900 million tons by 2050 to meet the demand of the increased world population. (Ray et al. 2013; Singh and Upadhyaya 2015). However, wheat production is under continuous threats including a decrease in the amount of arable farmland, climate change, and abiotic and biotic stresses (Figueroa et al. 2017). Despite the need to increase production, 25 to 30% of the global wheat production is lost due to abiotic and biotic stresses (Bockus et al. 2010). Also, pathogens are constantly evolving to overcome genetic resistance. Therefore, continuous identification and implementation of new sources of genetic resistance is essential.

A major biotic stress on bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) and durum wheat (*T. durum*) is disease caused by necrotrophic pathogens. One example is *Parastagonospora* [teleomorph: *Phaeosphaeria* (Hedjar.) syn. *Leptosphaeria nodorum* (Müll.), syn. *Septoria nodorum* (Berk.), syn. *Stagonospora nodorum* (Berk.)] *nodorum* (Berk.) Quaedvleig, Verkley & Crous, which is the causal agent of Septoria nodorum blotch (SNB). *P. nodorum* affects leaves and glumes of both bread wheat (*T. aestivum*) and durum wheat (*T. durum*) creating major yield losses and reduction in quality (Solomon et al. 2006). The wheat-*P. nodorum* pathosytem has been used as a model to study inverse-gene-forgene interactions. Nine NE-host sensitivity gene interactions have been identified in this pathosystem, and they include SnToxA-*Tsn1*, SnTox1-*Snn1*, SnTox2-*Snn2*, SnTox3-*Snn3-B1*, SnTox3-*Snn3-D1*, SnTox4-*Snn4*, SnTox5-*Snn5*, SnTox6-*Snn6* and SnTox7-*Snn7* (Friesen et al. 2006; Liu et al. 2006; Faris et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2004a,b, Liu et al. 2012; Reddy et al. 2008; Shi et al. 2016b; Friesen et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2009; Friesen et al. 2008; Liu et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2011; Abeysekara et al. 2009; Friesen et al. 2012; Gao et al. 2015; Shi et al. 2015). Three NEencoding genes have been cloned from the pathogen including *SnToxA* (Friesen et al. 2006), *SnTox1* (Liu et al. 2012), and *SnTox3* (Liu et al. 2009). The corresponding host sensitivity genes (*Tsn1*, *Snn1* and *Snn3-D1*) have also been cloned (Faris et al. 2010, Shi et al. 2016b, Faris et al. unpublished). Further studies on this system will enhance our knowledge and understanding of host-necrotroph interactions and will be useful to control the diseases caused by necrotrophic pathogens through genetic manipulation.

In this dissertation, I report on the saturation and high-resolution mapping of the host sensitivity gene *Snn2*, and the development of markers suitable for map-based cloning and marker-assisted selection. I also report on the analysis of diversity and allelic variants of the *Snn1* gene.

1.1. References

- Abeysekara NS, Friesen TL, Keller B, Faris JD (2009) Identification and characterization of a novel host-toxin interaction in the wheat-*Stagonospora nodorum* pathosystem. Theor Appl Genet 120:117–126. doi: 10.1007/s00122-009-1163-6
- Bockus WW, Bowden RL, Hunger RM, Morrill WL, Murray TD, Smiley RW (2010) Compendium of wheat diseases and pests: Third Edition. American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN
- Curtis BC, Rajaram S, Go'mez Macpherson H (2002) Breeding for disease resistance in wheat. In Bread wheat improvement and production, p. 554. Roma: FAO.

- FAO (2019) Crop prospects and food situation quarterly global report no. 3, September 2019. Rome
- Faris JD, Zhang Z, Lu H, Lu S, Reddy L, Cloutier S, Fellers JP, Meinhardt SW, Rasmussen JB, Xu SS, Oliver RP, Simons KJ, Friesen TL (2010) A unique wheat disease resistance-like gene governs effector-triggered susceptibility to necrotrophic pathogens. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:13544–13549. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1004090107
- Figueroa M, Hammond-Kosack KE, Solomon PS (2017) A review of wheat diseases—a field perspective. Mol Plant Pathol 19:1523–1536. doi: 10.1111/mpp.12618
- Friesen TL, Chu C, Xu SS, Faris JD (2012) SnTox5–Snn5: a novel Stagonospora nodorum effector–wheat gene interaction and its relationship with the SnToxA–Tsn1 and SnTox3– Snn3–B1 interactions. Mol Plant Pathol 13:1101–1109. doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2012.00819.x
- Friesen TL, Faris JD, Solomon PS, Oliver RP (2008) Host-specific toxins: effectors of necrotrophic pathogenicity. Cell Microbiol 10:1421–1428. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2008.01153.x
- Friesen TL, Meinhardt SW, Faris JD (2007) The *Stagonospora nodorum*-wheat pathosystem involves multiple proteinaceous host-selective toxins and corresponding host sensitivity genes that interact in an inverse gene-for-gene manner. Plant J 51:681–692. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2007.03166.x
- Friesen TL, Stukenbrock EH, Liu Z, Meinhardt S, Ling H, Faris JD, Rasmussen JB, Solomon PS, McDonald BA, Oliver RP (2006) Emergence of a new disease as a result of interspecific virulence gene transfer. Nat Genet 38:953–956. doi: 10.1038/ng1839
- Gao Y, Faris JD, Liu Z, Kim YM, Syme RA, Oliver RP, Xu SS, Friesen TL (2015) Identification and characterization of the SnTox6-*Snn6* interaction in the *Parastagonospora nodorum*wheat pathosystem. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 28:615-625
- Liu Z, Faris J, Meinhardt S, Ali S, Rasmussen JB, Friesen TL (2004a) Genetic and physical mapping of a gene conditioning sensitivity in wheat to a partially purified host-selective toxin produced by *Stagonospora nodorum*. Phytopathology 94:1056–1060. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO.2004.94.10.1056
- Liu Z, Faris JD, Oliver RP, Tan K-C, Solomon PS, McDonald MC, McDonald BA, Nunez A, Lu S, Rasmussen JB, Friesen TL (2009) SnTox3 acts in effector triggered susceptibility to induce disease on wheat carrying the *Snn3* gene. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000581. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000581
- Liu Z, Friesen TL, Ling H, Meinhardt SW, Oliver RP, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2006) The *Tsn1*-ToxA interaction in the wheat-*Stagonospora nodorum* pathosystem parallels that of the wheat-tan spot system. Genome 49:1265–1273. doi: 10.1139/g06-088

- Liu Z, Zhang Z, Faris JD, Oliver RP, Syme R, McDonald MC, McDonald BA, Solomon PS, Lu S, Shelver WL, Xu S, Friesen TL (2012) The cysteine rich necrotrophic effector SnTox1 produced by *Stagonospora nodorum* triggers susceptibility of wheat lines harboring *Snn1*. PLoS Pathog 8:e1002467. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002467
- Liu Z, Friesen TL, Rasmussen JB, Ali S, Meinhardt SW, Faris JD (2004b) Quantitative trait loci analysis and mapping of seedling resistance to *Stagonospora* nodorum leaf blotch in wheat. Phytopathology 94:1061–1067. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO.2004.94.10.1061
- Marcussen T, Sandve SR, Heier L, Spannagl M, Pfeifer M, The international wheat genome sequencing consortium, Jakobsen KS, Wulff BBH, Steuernagel B, Mayer KFX, Olsen OA (2014) Ancient hybridizations among the ancestral genomes of bread wheat. Science 345:1250092. doi: 10.1126/science.1250092
- Ray DK, Mueller ND, West PC, Foley JA (2013) Yield trends are insufficient to double global crop production by 2050. PLoS One 8:e66428. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066428
- Reddy L, Friesen TL, Meinhardt SW, Chao S, Faris JD (2008) Genomic analysis of the *Snn1* locus on wheat chromosome arm 1BS and the identification of candidate genes. Plant Genome 1:55–66. doi: 10.3835/plantgenome2008.03.0181
- Shi G, Friesen TL, Saini J, Xu SS, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2015) The wheat Snn7 gene confers susceptibility on recognition of the Parastagonospora nodorum necrotrophic effector SnTox7. Plant Genome 8. doi: 10.3835/plantgenome2015.02.0007
- Shi G, Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Bansal U, Cloutier S, Wicker T, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2016a) Marker development, saturation mapping, and high-resolution mapping of the Septoria nodorum blotch susceptibility gene *Snn3-B1* in wheat. Mol Genet Genomics 291:107– 119. doi: 10.1007/s00438-015-1091-x
- Shi G, Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Raats D, Fahima T, Brueggeman RS, Lu S, Trick HN, Liu Z, Chao W, Frenkel Z, Xu SS, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2016b) The hijacking of a receptor kinase–driven pathway by a wheat fungal pathogen leads to disease. Sci Adv 2. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1600822
- Singh M, Upadhyaya HD (2016) Genetic and genomic resources for grain cereals improvement. Academic Press is an imprint of Elsevier, London, UK
- Solomon P, Lowe R, Tan K-C, Waters O, Oliver R (2006) Pathogen profile: *Stagonospora nodorum*: cause of stagonospora nodorum blotch of wheat. Mol Plant Pathol 7:147–156. doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2006.00326.x
- Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Simons KJ, Xu SS, Faris JD (2009) Development, identification, and validation of markers for marker-assisted selection against the *Stagonospora nodorum* toxin sensitivity genes *Tsn1* and *Snn2* in wheat. Mol Breeding 23:35–49. doi: 10.1007/s11032-008-9211-5

Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Xu SS, Shi G, Liu Z, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2011) Two putatively homoeologous wheat genes mediate recognition of SnTox3 to confer effector-triggered susceptibility to *Stagonospora nodorum*. Plant J 65:27–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2010.04407.x

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Wheat

Wheat is one of the most important food crops that contributes to a great amount of the world's caloric intake. It is also the most important protein source among cereals. It is the most widely grown crop cultivated over 200 Mha worldwide and contributing 30% of the total world cereal production (Wheat initiative 2018). The European Union, China, India, the Russian Federation and the United States rank as the world's leading producers of wheat with an average production of 150.3, 129.2, 94.6, 70.5 and 54.6 million tons, respectively. The global wheat production in the 2018/2019 marketing year was 730.7 million metric tons, which included 51.3 million tons produced by the United States (FAO 2019, USDA Foreign agricultural service 2019). However, wheat production is needed to be increased by 60% to meet the demand of the predicted world population of 9.1 billion by 2050 (Wheat initiative 2018).

2.2. The evolution of wheat

The two fully domesticated wheats are known as common wheat (*T. aestivum* ssp. *aestivum* L.) and durum wheat (*T. turgidum* ssp. *durum* L.), which are free-threshing hexaploid and tetraploid wheats, respectively. Wild and domesticated wheat species belong to two genera, *Triticum* and *Aegilops*. It has been found that these wheat species have evolved through frequent allopolyploidization events, giving rise to many allopolyploids. The diploid progenitors and close relatives of modern wheat have evolved from a common ancestor with seven chromosomes about three million years ago (Dvorak and Zhang 1990; Chalupska et al. 2008). This gave rise to the *Triticum* and *Aegilops* taxa.

The wild A-genome diploids of the *Triticum* group consist of *T. urartu* Tumanian ex Gandylian (2n = 2x = 14, AA) and *T. monococcum* ssp. *aegilopoides* (2n = 2x = 14, A^mA^m). There were several diploid *Aegilops* species including *Ae. tauschii* Coss. (the progenitor of the D genome, 2n = 2x = 14, DD) and a progenitor to the *Sitopsis* section of *Aegilops* which gave rise to the S-genome containing *Aegilops* species. The only domesticated diploid wheat is *T. monococcum* ssp. *monococcum* L. (2n = 2x = 14, A^mA^m), which was domesticated from ssp. *aegilopoides* (Faris 2014).

The formation of the cultivated forms of polyploid wheat occurred through two basic lineages that involved two amphiploidization events. One lineage started with the hybridization of *T. urartu* and *Ae. speltoides*, or a close relative, which led to the formation of the wild wheat *T. timopheevii* ssp. *araraticum* Jakubz. (2n = 4x = 28, AAGG) containing a pair of A genomes from *T. urartu* and a pair of G genomes (Dvorak et al. 1993; Blake et al. 1999; Huang et al. 2002; Chalupska et al. 2008; Salse et al. 2008). The G genomes are considered as a divergent form of the S genome of the *Aegilops* progenitor. *T. timopheevii* ssp. *araraticum* had a brittle rachis. A mutation led to the domesticated form *T. timopheevii* ssp. *timopheevii* (2n = 4x = 28, AAGG), which has a non-brittle rachis. *T. timopheevii* was not cultivated as a significant crop (Faris 2014).

A hexaploid wheat known as *T. zhukovskyi* Menabde et Ericzjan (2n = 6x = 42, $A^{m}A^{m}$ AAGG) emerged from a hybridization between *T. timopheevii* ssp. *timopheevii* and domesticated einkorn wheat. Like ssp. *timopheevii*, *T. zhukovskyi* also was not cultivated and did not contribute to the formation of economically important wheats found today (Nesbitt and Samuel 1996).

The widely cultivated allohexaploid wheat *T. aestivum* L. (2n = 6x = 42, AABBDD) is commonly known as common or bread wheat. It originated as the result of two separate amphiploidization events. First, a hybridization between *T. urartu* and an unidentified diploid *Aegilops* species gave rise to the tetraploid wild emmer wheat *T. turgidum* ssp. *dicoccoides* (Körn. Ex Asch. & Graebner) Aarons (2n = 4x = 28, AABB) (Dvorak and Zhang 1990; Chalupska et al. 2008). The unidentified diploid species is thought to be *Aegilops speltoides* (2n = 2x = 14, SS) or a close relative as the donor of the B genome. This event has happened less than 0.5 million years ago (see Faris, 2014 for review). The second event occurred about 8,000 years ago (Huang et al. 2002), which involved a hybridization between a subspecies of *T. turgidum* and the diploid goatgrass *Ae. tauschii*. This gave rise to the wheat species *T. aestivum* ssp. *aestivum*. Hence, *T. urartu* and *Ae. tauschii* are the diploid progenitors of the A and D genomes, respectively and *Ae. speltoides* is considered as the closest living relative of the diploid B genome progenitor (McFadden and Sears 1946).

There are several other tetraploid wheat subspecies in addition to durum wheat. These include spp. *turgidum, turanicum, polonicum, carthlicum*, and other species that are quite similar to ssp. *durum*. These probably arose relatively recently through secondary hybridizations (see Faris 2014 for review).

2.3. The wheat genome

The wheat genome was once considered intractable and its genes inaccessible to cloning by traditional means due to its large genome. However, the sequencing of wheat DNA and several early map-based cloning efforts (Huang et al. 2003; Yan et al. 2003) indicated that genes in the wheat genome are accessible by positional cloning. The International Wheat Genome Sequencing Consortium (IWGSC) released an annotated reference genome of the 21 chromosomes of the hexaploid wheat cultivar Chinese Spring (IWGSC et al. 2018). This data is a tremendous resource for marker development and gene cloning. The IWGSC RefSeq v1.0 has a 94% coverage of the entire wheat genome which was estimated to be 15.4 – 15.8 Gb. The released 14.5 Gb genome assembly had contigs, scaffolds and superscaffolds with N50 values of 52 kb, 7 Mb and 22.8 Mb, respectively. RefSeq Annotation v1.0 was developed using two independent annotation pipelines. A total of 107,891 high-confidence (HC) and 161,537 low-confidence (LC) protein-coding genes were identified. They consist of 35,345, 35,643 and 34,212 genes in the A, B and D subgenomes, respectively. In addition, 3,968,974 copies of transposable elements that belonged to 505 families were identified. They represent 85% of the genome and are responsible for the large genome size of wheat (IWGSC et al. 2018). Recently, IWGSC RefSeq v2.0 was released by improving the original IWGSC RefSeq v1.0 using whole genome optical maps and WGS PacBio SMRT reads (Eid et al. 2009). However, this version has not yet been annotated. Currently, IWGSC RefSeq v1.0 is publicly available and IWGSC RefSeq v2.0 is available for people who signed the Toronto agreement.

In 2016, the 10+ Wheat Genome Project was started to create a wheat pan-genome. The objective was to identify structural variation, copy number variation, and genes that are absent in the initial reference genome. High quality reference genomes were released for 13 cultivars under this project. NRGene's DeNovoMagicV3.0 assembler was used to create the reference genomes from the Canadian spring wheat varieties Landmark and Stanley, the USA variety Jagger, the German winter wheat variety Julius, the Swiss winter wheat variety Arina, the Australian varieties Mace and Lancer, the Japanese variety Norin61, and the variety from France known as SY_Mattis. The assembly was also done for cultivars Cadenza, Paragon, Kronos, Robigus and Claire using the W2RAP assembly algorithms developed by the Earlham Institute. The annotation data for these assemblies are yet to be released. In addition, genome assemblies were released for the wild emmer wheat accession Zavitan (Avni et al. 2017), *Ae*.

tauschii ssp. *strangulata* accession AL8/78 (Luo et al. 2017) and durum wheat cultivar Svevo (Maccaferri et al. 2019).

2.4. Plant response to biotic stresses

Biotic stresses do damage to the growth and development of plants and can cause major yield losses. FAO (2017) reports that biotic stress can cause about 20 - 40 % yield loss worldwide annually. This accounts for more than US\$220 billion in losses. Plants have evolved multiple defense mechanisms to survive against the pathogens. These mechanisms predominantly include two main classes known as pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP)-triggered immunity (PTI) (Zipfel 2009), and effector-triggered immunity (ETI) (Eitas and Dangl 2010).

PTI is the first layer of defense in plants that act against a wide range of pathogens. It detects the pathogens by recognizing the conserved microbe-associated, pathogen-associated or damage-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs, PAMPs, DAMPs) using cell surface-localized pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (Monaghan and Zipfel 2012). PRRs of plants usually include receptor-like kinases (RLKs) and receptor like proteins (RLPs). RLKs are more complex than RLPs and consist of extracellular domains, transmembrane domains, and intracellular kinase domains. Recognition of MAMPs, PAMPS or DAMPs by PRRs trigger the activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) which activate multiple signaling defense responses such as biosynthesis/signaling of plant stress/defense hormones, reactive oxygen species generation, stomatal closure, defense gene activation, phytoalexin biosynthesis, cell wall strengthening, and a hypersensitive response (HR) (Zhang et al. 2019). As a response to PTI, pathogens have evolved to secrete effectors to disrupt the PTI pathway. This is known as the effector-triggered susceptibility or ETS. As a response to ETS, plants have evolved a second

layer of defense involving a robust host defense response upon the recognition of effector proteins. This level of resistance is called effector-triggered immunity (ETI) (Zipfel et al. 2009). A resistance response occurs when a pathogen-produced effector is detected by the corresponding host resistance (R) gene and a susceptible (compatible) interaction occurs if either the pathogen effector or the host R gene is absent.

Most of the R genes involved in the ETI pathway include intracellular nucleotide-binding site and leucine-rich repeat (NBS-LRR or NLR) genes. NLRs are typically cytoplasmic receptor proteins and can recognize specific pathogen-secreted effector proteins and then transfer the signals to activate multiple defense responses including a hypersensitive response (HR), which is a form of programmed cell death at the site of infection (Eitas and Dangl 2010). NLR proteins in plants belong to two classes depending on the N-terminal domain which can be either a terminal Toll/interleukin-1 receptor (TIR) or coiled-coil (CC) domain. This TIR and CC domains have found to be important in signal transmission (Mukhtar et al. 2011).

Recognition of an avirulence (Avr) protein of a pathogen by a single R gene in the host plant to activate the resistant response was introduced as the gene-for-gene hypothesis by H.H. Flor in the 1950s (Flor 1956). Since then, many *R-Avr* gene combinations have been characterized (Dangl and Jones 2011). Many studies conducted over the past years have revealed that R gene products and effectors can interact both directly (the ligand- receptor model) and indirectly in multiple ways. Four models of effector recognition have been proposed so far. According to the initially proposed elicitor-receptor model, the R protein directly recognizes the corresponding Avr protein (Keen 1990; Jia et al. 2000; Dodds et al. 2006; Catanzariti et al. 2010; Steinbrenner et al. 2015). According to the guard model, the effector does not directly interact with the R protein. Instead, it has a different host target protein known as "the guardee" and the R protein detects the modifications of the guardee caused by the pathogen's effector (Dangl and Jones 2001). The third model is called the decoy model. Here, the host plant has a protein known as "the decoy" that mimics the effector's host target protein. The effector binds to the decoy instead of the target protein and R gene monitors the modifications of the decoy and activates the defense responses protein (van der Hoorn and Kamoun 2008). The recently proposed integrated decoy model states that the decoy that mimics the effector's target is integrated into the NLR making the recognition and defense pathway activation faster (Cesari et al. 2014; Le Roux et al. 2015; Sarris et al. 2015; Petit-Houdenot et al. 2017).

2.5. Necrotrophic plant pathogens

Plant pathogens can be classified as biotrophs, hemi-biotrophs, and necrotrophs based on their lifestyles. Biotrophs are a class of pathogens that require living host cells to feed, grow, and complete their life cycles. They produce limited amounts of cell wall-degrading enzymes and effectors to suppress the host immune system (Dean et al. 2012). Necrotrophic pathogens gain their nutrients and complete their life cycles on dead or dying tissue. Hemi-biotrophs have a biotrophic phase early during infection followed by a necrotrophic phase at later stages of the lifecycle (Wang et al. 2014; Horbach et al. 2011). Both host-specific and broad host-range necrotrophic pathogens have been identified. Common host-specific necrotrophic fungal pathogens include *Cochliobolus carbonum* (causal agent of northern corn leaf spot), *C. heterostrophus* (causal agent of southern corn leaf blight), *C. victoriae* (causal agent of Victoria blight of oats), *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* (causal agent of tan spot of wheat) and *Parastagonospora nodorum* (causal agent of Septoria nodorum blotch of wheat) (Wang et al. 2014).

12

Recent studies have shown that some necrotrophs have evolved mechanisms to disrupt the mechanisms that plants have evolved to fight pathogens (Faris et al. 2010). Many necrotrophs produce necrotrophic effectors (NEs), which are effectors of pathogenicity. NEs are toxic only to host genotypes that express a gene that recognizes the corresponding NE. Such host genes are called dominant disease susceptibility genes. The presence of a pathogen-produced NE and the corresponding dominant host gene for sensitivity leads to a compatible interaction and ultimately disease susceptibility. This is known as necrotrophic effector-triggered susceptibility (NETS). If either the NE or the dominant host allele is absent, a resistance response occurs. Therefore, these host-necrotroph interactions are the inverse of the classic host-biotroph gene-for-gene interactions at the host-NE interface (Wolpert et al. 2002).

Studies involving NE sensitivity genes (Lorang et al. 2007; Nagy and Bennetzen 2008; Faris et al. 2010) indicate that necrotrophic pathogens exploit ETI pathways to trigger responses that lead to death of the plant tissue creating an environment favorable for the necrotrophs, which would otherwise be unfavorable to the survival of a biotrophic pathogen (Faris et al. 2010). Therefore, it is important to study the role of resistance and/or susceptibility genes when trying to breed disease resistant crops.

2.6. Septoria nodorum blotch (SNB)

Septoria nodorum blotch (SNB) is a severe foliar and glume blotch disease that can cause about 10-20% yield losses in wheat (Bockus et al. 2010). SNB has been reported in most of the wheat-growing areas including Australia, South Asia, North Africa and Europe and North America (Oliver et al. 2012; Bearchell et al. 2005; Crook et al. 2012). SNB is caused by *Parastagonospora* [syn. anamorph: *Stagonospora*; teleomorph: *Phaeosphaeria*] *nodorum*, which is a heterothallic, necrotrophic, filamentous, ascomycete fungus pathogenic on wheat, barley and a wide range of wild grasses. It affects both the glume and the leaf of wheat leading to yield losses and reductions in grain quality and grain weight. Initially, this fungus was classified under the genus *Stagonospora* and known as *Stagonospora nodorum* (Goodwin and Zismann 2001). Later, it was moved to the genus *Parastagonospora* based on morphology of sexual and asexual stages and sequence analysis of ribosomal DNA (Quaedvlieg et al. 2013).

Because P. nodorum is a necrotrophic pathogen, its lifecycle can be divided into two phases known as parasitic phase and saprophytic phase. During the parasitic phase, the pathogen can infect all the above-ground plant parts and during the saprophytic phase, the pathogen overwinters on wheat straw and stubble until the parasitic phase starts again. During the parasitic phase, sexual reproductive structures known as pseudothecia produce ascospores. They can travel long distances by wind. Generally, ascospores cause the first infection (Solomon et al. 2006; Oliver et al. 2012). Upon infection, small, water-soaked chlorotic lesions appear on the lower leaves of the plant. They later become red-brown and lens-shaped lesions with a graybrown center (Friesen and Faris 2010). These lesions contain the asexual pycnidiospores that produce pycnidia which are dispersed primarily via rain splashes. In severe cases, the pathogen can infect the glume and cause dark brown or purple lesions and lightweight and shriveled kernels (McMullen and Adhikari 2009). This pathogen can have a polycyclic infection cycle within a single growing season increasing the chance of an epidemic (Scharen 1966). During the saprophytic phase, the pathogen overwinters on wheat straw, stubble, and other wheat residues. The ascospore-producing perithecia are present during both the parasitic and saprophytic phases. Infected seeds and ascospores are considered as the major inocula of SNB (Chooi et al. 2014).

2.7. The host-NE interactions in the wheat-P. nodorum pathosystem

Nine NE-host sensitivity gene interactions have been identified in the *P. nodorum*-wheat pathosystem including SnToxA-*Tsn1* (Friesen et al. 2006; Liu et al. 2006; Faris et al. 2010), SnTox1-*Snn1* (Liu et al. 2004a, b, 2012; Reddy et al. 2008), SnTox2-*Snn2* (Friesen et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2009), SnTox3-*Snn3-B1* (Friesen et al. 2008; Liu et al. 2009), SnTox3-*Snn3-D1* (Zhang et al. 2011), SnTox4-*Snn4* (Abeysekara et al. 2009), SnTox5-*Snn5* (Friesen et al. 2012), SnTox6-*Snn6* (Gao et al. 2015), and SnTox7-*Snn7* (Shi et al. 2015). Pathogen genes encoding three of the NEs (SnToxA, SnTox1 and SnTox3) and three host sensitivity genes (*Tsn1, Snn1* and *Snn3-D1*) have been cloned so far.

2.7.1. SnToxA-Tsn1

ToxA was first purified from the wheat tan spot pathogen *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* and named as Ptr ToxA (Tomás and Bockus 1987; Ballance et al. 1989). Later, a homologous gene that had 99.7 % similarity was found in the *P. nodorum* genome (Friesen et al. 2006) and designated as *SnToxA*. Both of these genes interact with the same host sensitivity gene *Tsn1* (Liu et al. 2006). In addition to *P. tritici-repentis* and *P. nodorum*, homologous genes of *ToxA* have been found in *Bipolaris sorokiniana*, which causes spot blotch, Helminthosporium leaf blight, and common root rot in wheat (McDonald et al. 2018). Friesen et al. (2006) identified more haplotypes of the *ToxA* gene in *P. nodorum* compared to *P. tritici-repentis*. Therefore, it was concluded that *ToxA* had been horizontally transferred to *P. tritici-repentis* from *P. nodorum*. The *ToxA* gene was found to encode a protein with a size of 13.2 kDa (Sarma et al. 2005). The genes that encode both Ptr ToxA and SnToxA have been cloned (Ballance et al. 1996; Ciuffetti et al. 1997; Friesen et al. 2006).

The host sensitivity gene *Tsn1* is located on chromosome 5BL of wheat (Faris et al.

1996). The SnToxA-*Tsn1* interaction can account for 25-95 % of the disease variation in both common and durum wheat (Faris and Friesen. 2009; Virdi et al. 2016). *Tsn1* was cloned by Faris et al. (2010) using map-based cloning. *Tsn1* is a relatively large gene with 10,581 bp and consists of eight exons that encode a protein of 1490 amino acids. It contains C-terminal NB and LRR domains and an N-terminal S/TPK domain. Analysis of mutants revealed that all three domains of the protein are required for sensitivity. Transcription analysis showed that *Tsn1* expression increases under light conditions. According to yeast two-hybrid assay experiments, *Tsn1* does not directly interact with SnToxA. Therefore, it's likely a guard in a guard-guardee model (Faris et al. 2010). Immunolocalization experiments have shown that ToxA is localized in the choloroplast after infection (Manning and Ciuffetti 2005). Several studies revealed that ToxA directly binds to a conserved plant chloroplast protein ToxABP1 (Manning et al. 2007), chloroplast-associated plastocyanin (Tai et al. 2007) and a dimeric PR-1-type pathogenesis-related protein (PR-1-5) (Lu et al. 2014).

2.7.2. SnTox1-Snn1

SnTox1-*Snn1* was the first NE-sensitivity gene interaction that was identified in the wheat-*P. nodorum* pathosystem (Liu et al. 2004a) and accounts for up to 58% of the disease variation (Liu et al. 2004b; Friesen et al. 2007; Chu et al. 2010; Phan et al. 2016). *SnTox1* was the third NE gene cloned from *P. nodorum*. This was done by comparing the sequence similarities between the candidate genes identified from *P. nodorum* reference genome and previously cloned NE genes and using previously identified characteristics of SnTox1 (Liu et al. 2012). This led to the identification of the gene SNOG_20078 which was later verified to be *SnTox1*. The SnTox1 protein is 10.33 kDa in size and consists of a signal peptide and a chitin-

binding domain (Liu et al. 2012, 2016). The chitin binding domain has found to be important for the protection of the fungus from plant chitinases during the initial penetration step of an infection (Liu et al. 2016). Transcriptional expression analysis revealed that *SnTox1* expression was high during early stages of infection which also suggested the importance of SnTox1 for the initial penetration step (Liu et al. 2012). An avirulent isolate was converted into a virulent isolate by co-inoculation with SnTox1. This experiment confirmed that SnTox1 is involved in the penetration process. During infection, SnTox1 is localized to the outer surface of the mycelium and allows *P. nodorum* to successfully penetrate the host tissue for colonization (Liu et al. 2016). A compatible SnTox1-*Snn1* interaction led to defense responses including an oxidative burst, upregulation of PR-genes, and DNA laddering (Liu et al. 2012).

The host sensitivity gene *Snn1* was mapped to the chromosome arm 1BS (Liu et al. 2004a). Saturation and high-resolution mapping conducted using a population derived from a cross between Chinese Spring (CS) and a CS-*T. dicoccoides* 1B disomic chromosome substitution line delimited *Snn1* to a 0.46 cM interval (Reddy et al. 2008). Shi et al. (2016b) cloned *Snn1* by positional cloning and validated by mutagenesis and transgenesis approaches. *Snn1* is 3045 bp in length and consists of 3 exons. It encodes a protein that contains a signal sequence, a wall-associated receptor kinase galacturonan binding domain (GUB_WAK), epidermal growth factor-calcium binding domain (EGF_CA), a transmembrane domain, and a serine/threonine protein kinase (S/TPK) domain. It was predicted that GUB_WAK and EGF_CA domains are located extracellularly whereas the S/TPK domain is located intracellularly (Shi et al. 2016b). *Snn1* expression is regulated by light signals and its expression is highest at subjective dawn. A yeast two-hybrid assay revealed that SnTox1 directly binds to a region between the GUB WAK and EGF_CA domains.

2.7.3. SnTox2-Snn2

The third NE identified in *P. nodorum* is SnTox2 (Friesen et al. 2007). It was partially purified from the culture filtrates of isolate Sn6. The size of the protein was estimated to be between 3 and 10 kDa (Friesen et al. 2007). The *Snn2*-SnTox2 interaction can account for 47% of the disease variation and plays a strong role in conferring disease in both seedlings and adult plants (Friesen et al. 2007). The interaction was also found to be light-dependent (Friesen et al. 2007). The corresponding dominant sensitivity gene *Snn2* was mapped to the short arm of chromosome 2D using a recombinant inbred population developed from crossing the two hard red spring wheat cultivars BR34 and Grandin. Zhang et al. (2009) developed a low-resolution map that delineated *Snn2* to a genetic interval of 4.0 cM.

2.7.4. SnTox3-Snn3

SnTox3-*Snn3* is the fourth interaction identified in the wheat – *P. nodorum* pathosystem (Friesen et al. 2008). The pathogen NE *SnTox3* was cloned by Liu et al. (2009). It encodes a mature protein with a size of 25.88 kDa. *SnTox3* has a higher expression during the initial days after infection, and the expression level decreases with time (Liu et al. 2009). A compatible interaction causes upregulation of PR proteins, jasmonic acid pathway proteins and phenylpropanoid pathway proteins, which are typically associated with defense responses (Winterberg et al. 2014).

SnTox3 is recognized by two homoeologous genes known as *Snn3-B1* and *Snn3-D1*, which are located on wheat chromosomes 5B and 5D, respectively (Friesen et al. 2008; Zhang et al. 2011). The SnTox3-*Snn3-D1* interaction is much more severe and epistatic to SnTox3-*Snn3-B1*. A saturated genetic map of the *Snn3-D1* region was developed using an *Aegilops tauschii* TA2377 × AL8/78 F₂ population. Subsequent high-resolution mapping delineated *Snn3-D1* to a genetic interval of 1.38 cM (Zhang et al. 2011). Shi et al. (2016a) developed a saturation map for *Snn3-B1* using two F₂ populations, which were developed by crossing the sensitive cultivar Sumai3 to the insensitive cultivar BR34 (BS population) and by crossing Sumai3 to a Chinese Spring-*T. turgidum* ssp. *dicoccoides* chromosome 5B disomic substitution line (CS-DIC 5B) (CS population). High resolution mapping was performed using the BS population and *Snn3-B1* was delimited to a 1.5 cM genetic interval.

2.7.5. SnTox4-Snn4

SnTox4-*Snn4* was the fifth interaction identified in this pathosystem (Abeysekara et al. 2009). It accounts for 23-41 % of disease variation depending on the wheat background and the NE susceptibility genes present. The phenotype of this interaction is a mottled necrosis and appears to be less severe than the other interactions observed in the pathosystem. SnTox4 was partially purified from the Swiss isolate Sn99CH1A7a, which was also known as Sn99. It was expected to be a protein of the size between 10-30 kDa. The *Snn4*-SnTox4 interaction was also found to be light dependent. The corresponding dominant host sensitivity gene *Snn4* was mapped to the short arm of wheat chromosome 1A using an RI population developed by crossing the Swiss winter wheat cultivars Arina and Forno. *Snn4* was delimited to a 2.5 cM interval by Abeysekara et al. (2009).

2.7.6. SnTox5-Snn5

The sixth NE-host gene interaction identified in the wheat-*P. nodorum* pathosystem was SnTox5-*Snn5* (Friesen et al. 2012). It explained up to 63% of the disease variation depending on the other interactions in the background. SnTox5 was identified from the *SnToxA*-knockout Sn2000 fungal isolate Sn2000K06-1. The size of SnTox5 was estimated to be 10-30 kDa. This interaction was also identified as light-dependent. The host sensitivity gene *Snn5* was mapped to

the long arm of chromosome 4B using a tetraploid doubled haploid population derived from the North Dakota durum variety Lebsock and *T. turgidum* ssp. *carthlicum* accession PI 94749 (LP population) (Chu et al. 2010). Currently *Snn5* is delineated to a genetic distance of 2.8 cM (Sharma et al. unpublished).

2.7.7. SnTox6-Snn6

The SnTox6-*Snn6* interaction was characterized by Gao et al. (2015) using culture filtrates of *P. nodorum* isolate Sn6 and Sn6KOTox3. This interaction explained 27% of the disease variation also found to be light dependent. SnTox6 was estimated to be 12 kDa in size. were used to initially characterize this interaction and to map the wheat sensitivity gene *Snn6* to the distal region of the long arm of chromosome 6A. The corresponding host sensitivity gene *Snn6* was mapped to a 3.2 cM genetic distance in the International Triticeae Mapping Initiative (ITMI) population. The *Snn1*-SnTox1 and *Snn3-B1*-SnTox3 interactions did not affect the level of sensitivity of the *Snn6*-SnTox6 interaction although such multiple interactions were additive in previous studies (Gao et al. 2015).

2.7.8. SnTox7-Snn7

The latest NE-host gene interaction identified in the wheat-*P. nodorum* pathosystem was SnTox7-*Snn7* (Shi et al. 2015). It explained 33% of the disease variation. This interaction was not completely light-dependent. SnTox7 was identified from the *P. nodorum* isolate Sn6 and estimated to be less than 30 kDa. The corresponding host sensitivity gene *Snn7* was mapped to the long arm of chromosome 2D using a population developed from Chinese Spring and CS-Tm 2D (Chinese Spring - Timstein 2D disomic chromosome substitution line) (Shi et al. 2015).

2.8. Molecular markers and genetic mapping

Allelic variations within a genome of the same species can be classified into several major groups that include differences in the number of tandem repeats at a particular locus (microsatellites, or simple sequence repeats), insertions or deletions of a segment (InDels), and changes of a single nucleotide at a particular position of a sequence (single nucleotide polymorphisms; SNPs). In order to detect these variations in the individuals of a progeny at the DNA level, researchers develop and use molecular markers. Molecular markers are DNA sequences that are associated with a certain location on a chromosome. They do not necessarily affect the function of genes. Over the years, many different types of molecular markers were developed and used such as random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP), simple sequence repeat (SSR) and SNP markers. Among them, SSRs are widely being used because of their cost effectiveness, locus specificity and high polymorphism level. Lately, SNPs have become extremely popular in plant molecular genetics. A single nucleotide base is the smallest unit of inheritance and thus SNPs are highly abundant in genomes. Therefore, they can provide the highest map resolution compared to other marker systems. Unlike earlier marker systems, SNPs made it possible to create saturated and highresolution maps of target regions, rapidly identify marker-trait associations, and accelerated the cloning of genes of interest. SNP markers became the marker of choice especially after the development of NGS. The availability of reference genome sequences allowed the development of SNP-based markers much easier. Various means of SNP genotyping have also been developed. KASP (Kompetitive Allele Specific PCR) and STARP (semi-thermal asymmetric reverse PCR) currently appear to be the most promising SNP-based markers (Long et al. 2017).

Genetic mapping studies involve genetic linkage analyses, which are based on the concept of genetic recombination during meiosis. The chance of having a recombination event between loci that are closer to each other is lower than for the loci located far apart. This can be observed in a segregating population and used in genetic mapping to determine the distance between loci. DNA-based markers are widely used in developing genetic linkage maps. Mapbased cloning has several steps that includes saturation mapping, high resolution mapping, mutagenesis and gene complementation.

2.9. References

- Abeysekara NS, Faris JD, Chao S, McClean PE, Friesen TL (2011) Whole-genome QTL analysis of *Stagonospora nodorum* blotch resistance and validation of the SnTox4–*Snn4* interaction in hexaploid wheat. Phytopathology 102:94–104. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-02-11-0040
- Abeysekara NS, Friesen TL, Keller B, Faris JD (2009) Identification and characterization of a novel host-toxin interaction in the wheat-*Stagonospora nodorum* pathosystem. Theor Appl Genet 120:117–126. doi: 10.1007/s00122-009-1163-6
- Avni R, Nave M, Barad O, Baruch K, Twardziok SO, Gundlach H, Hale I, Mascher M, Spannagl M, Wiebe K, Jordan KW, Golan G, Deek J, Ben-Zvi B, Ben-Zvi G, Himmelbach A, MacLachlan RP, Sharpe AG, Fritz A, Ben-David R, Budak H, Fahima T, Korol A, Faris JD, Hernandez A, Mikel MA, Levy AA, Steffenson B, Maccaferri M, Tuberosa R, Cattivelli L, Faccioli P, Ceriotti A, Kashkush K, Pourkheirandish M, Komatsuda T, Eilam T, Sela H, Sharon A, Ohad N, Chamovitz DA, Mayer KFX, Stein N, Ronen G, Peleg Z, Pozniak CJ, Akhunov ED, Distelfeld A (2017) Wild emmer genome architecture and diversity elucidate wheat evolution and domestication. Science 357:93–97. doi: 10.1126/science.aan0032
- Ballance GM, Lamari L, Bernier CC (1989) Purification and characterization of a host-selective necrosis toxin from *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*. Physiol Mol Plant P 35:203–213. doi: 10.1016/0885-5765(89)90051-9
- Ballance GM, Lamari L, Kowatsch R, Bernier CC (1996) Cloning, expression and occurrence of the gene encoding the Ptr necrosis toxin from *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*. Mol Plant Pathol On-line
- Bearchell SJ, Fraaije BA, Shaw MW, Fitt BDL (2005) Wheat archive links long-term fungal pathogen population dynamics to air pollution. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:5438–5442. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0501596102

- Blake NK, Lehfeldt BR, Lavin M, Talbert LE (1999) Phylogenetic reconstruction based on low copy DNA sequence data in an allopolyploid: The B genome of wheat. Genome 42:351–360
- Bockus WW, Bowden RL, Hunger RM, Morrill WL, Murray TD, Smiley RW (2010) Compendium of wheat diseases and pests: Third Edition. American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN
- Brueggeman R, Rostoks N, Kudrna D, Kilian A, Han F, Chen J, Druka A, Steffenson B, Kleinhofs A (2002) The barley stem rust-resistance gene *Rpg1* is a novel diseaseresistance gene with homology to receptor kinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:9328– 9333. doi: 10.1073/pnas.142284999
- Catanzariti AM, Dodds PN, Ve T, Kobe B, Ellis JG, Staskawicz BJ (2010) The AvrM effector from flax rust has a structured C-terminal domain and interacts directly with the M resistance protein. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 23:49–57. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-23-1-0049
- Cesari S, Bernoux M, Moncuquet P, Kroj T, Dodds PN (2014) A novel conserved mechanism for plant NLR protein pairs: The "integrated decoy" hypothesis. Front Plant Sci 5:606. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2014.00606
- Chalupska D, Lee HY, Faris JD, Evrard A, Chalhoub B, Haselkorn R, Gornicki P (2008) *Acc* homoeoloci and the evolution of wheat genomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:9691– 9696. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0803981105
- Chisholm ST, Coaker G, Day B, Staskawicz BJ (2006) Host-microbe interactions: Shaping the evolution of the plant immune response. Cell 124:803–814. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.008
- Chooi YH, Muria-Gonzalez MJ, Solomon PS (2014) A genome-wide survey of the secondary metabolite biosynthesis genes in the wheat pathogen *Parastagonospora nodorum*. Mycology 5:192–206. doi: 10.1080/21501203.2014.928386
- Chu CG, Chao S, Friesen TL, Faris JD, Zhong S, Xu SS (2010) Identification of novel tan spot resistance QTLs using an SSR-based linkage map of tetraploid wheat. Mol Breeding 25:327–338. doi: 10.1007/s11032-009-9335-2
- Crook AD, Friesen TL, Liu ZH, Ojiambo PS, Cowger C (2012) Novel necrotrophic effectors from *Stagonospora nodorum* and corresponding host sensitivities in winter wheat germplasm in the southeastern United States. Phytopathology 102:498–505. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-08-11-0238
- Dangl JL, Jones JD (2001) Plant pathogens and integrated defence responses to infection. Nature 411:826–833. doi: 10.1038/35081161
- Dean R, Kan J, LV, Pretorius ZA, Hammond-Kosack KE, Pietro AD, Spanu PD, Rudd JJ, Dickman M, Kahmann R, Ellis J, Foster GD (2012) The top 10 fungal pathogens in

molecular plant pathology. Mol Plant Pathol 13:414–430. doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2011.00783.x

- Dodds PN, Lawrence GJ, Catanzariti A-M, Teh T, Wang C-IA, Ayliffe MA, Kobe B, Ellis JG (2006) Direct protein interaction underlies gene-for-gene specificity and coevolution of the flax resistance genes and flax rust avirulence genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:8888–8893. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0602577103
- Dvorak J, Deal KR, Luo M-C, You FM, von Borstel K, Dehghani H (2012) The origin of spelt and free-threshing hexaploid wheat. J Hered 103:426–441. doi: 10.1093/jhered/esr152
- Dvorak J, Diterlizzi P, Zhang HB, Resta P (1993) The evolution of polyploidy wheat: Identification of the A genome donor species. Genome 36:21-31
- Dvorák J, Zhang HB (1990) Variation in repeated nucleotide sequences sheds light on the phylogeny of the wheat B and G genomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87:9640–9644. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.24.9640
- Eid J, Fehr A, Gray J, Luong K, Lyle J, Otto G, Peluso P, Rank D, Baybayan P, Bettman B,
 Bibillo A, Bjornson K, Chaudhuri B, Christians F, Cicero R, Clark S, Dalal R, Dewinter A, Dixon J, Foquet M, Gaertner A, Hardenbol P, Heiner C, Hester K, Holden D, Kearns G, Kong X, Kuse R, Lacroix Y, Lin S, Lundquist P, Ma C, Marks P, Maxham M,
 Murphy D, Park I, Pham T, Phillips M, Roy J, Sebra R, Shen G, Sorenson J, Tomaney A,
 Travers K, Trulson M, Vieceli J, Wegener J, Wu D, Yang A, Zaccarin D, Zhao P, Zhong F, Korlach J, Turner S (2009) Real-time DNA sequencing from single polymerase
 molecules. Science 323:133–138. doi: 10.1126/science.1162986
- Eitas TK, Dangl JL (2010) NB-LRR proteins: pairs, pieces, perception, partners, and pathways. Curr Opin in Plant Biol 13:472–477. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2010.04.007
- FAO (2017) The future of food and agriculture Trends and challenges. Rome.
- FAO (2019) Crop prospects and food situation Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. http://www.fao.org/3/ca3696en/ca3696en.pdf Accessed 11 Oct 2019
- Faris J, Anderson JA, Francl L, Jordahl J (1996) Chromosomal location of a gene conditioning insensitivity in wheat to a necrosis-inducing culture filtrate from *Pyrenophora triticirepentis*. Phytopathology 86:459–463. doi: 10.1094/Phyto-86-459
- Faris JD (2014) Wheat domestication: key to agricultural revolutions past and future. In: Tuberosa R, Graner A, Frison E (eds) Genomics of plant genetic resources: Volume 1. Managing, sequencing and mining genetic resources. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp 439–464
- Faris JD, Friesen TL (2009) Reevaluation of a tetraploid wheat population indicates that the *Tsn1*–ToxA interaction is the only factor governing Stagonospora nodorum blotch susceptibility. Phytopathology 99:906–912. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-99-8-0906

- Faris JD, Zhang Z, Lu H, Lu S, Reddy L, Cloutier S, Fellers JP, Meinhardt SW, Rasmussen JB, Xu SS, Oliver RP, Simons KJ, Friesen TL (2010) A unique wheat disease resistance-like gene governs effector-triggered susceptibility to necrotrophic pathogens. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:13544–13549. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1004090107
- Faris JD, Zhang Z, Rasmussen JB, Friesen TL (2011) Variable expression of the *Stagonospora* nodorum effector SnToxA among isolates is correlated with levels of disease in wheat. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 24:1419–1426. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-04-11-0094
- Figueroa M, Hammond-Kosack KE, Solomon PS (2017) A review of wheat diseases—a field perspective. Mol Plant Pathol 19:1523–1536. doi: 10.1111/mpp.12618
- Flor HH (1956) The complementary genetics systems in flax and flax rust. Adv Genet. 8:29-54
- Friesen T, Zhang Z, Solomon P, Oliver R, Faris J (2008) Characterization of the interaction of a novel *Stagonospora nodorum* host-selective toxin with a wheat susceptibility gene. Plant Physiol 146:682–93. doi: 10.1104/pp.107.108761
- Friesen TL, Chu C, Xu SS, Faris JD (2012) SnTox5–Snn5: a novel Stagonospora nodorum effector–wheat gene interaction and its relationship with the SnToxA–Tsn1 and SnTox3– Snn3–B1 interactions. Mol Plant Pathol 13:1101–1109. doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2012.00819.x
- Friesen TL, Chu C-G, Liu ZH, Xu SS, Halley S, Faris JD (2009) Host-selective toxins produced by *Stagonospora nodorum* confer disease susceptibility in adult wheat plants under field conditions. Theor Appl Genet 118:1489–1497. doi: 10.1007/s00122-009-0997-2
- Friesen TL, Faris JD (2010) Characterization of the wheat-*Stagonospora nodorum* disease system: what is the molecular basis of this quantitative necrotrophic disease interaction? Can J Plant Pathol 32:20–28. doi: 10.1080/07060661003620896
- Friesen TL, Faris JD, Solomon PS, Oliver RP (2008) Host-specific toxins: effectors of necrotrophic pathogenicity. Cell Microbiol 10:1421–1428. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2008.01153.x
- Friesen TL, Meinhardt SW, Faris JD (2007) The *Stagonospora nodorum*-wheat pathosystem involves multiple proteinaceous host-selective toxins and corresponding host sensitivity genes that interact in an inverse gene-for-gene manner. Plant J 51:681–692. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2007.03166.x
- Friesen TL, Stukenbrock EH, Liu Z, Meinhardt S, Ling H, Faris JD, Rasmussen JB, Solomon PS, McDonald BA, Oliver RP (2006) Emergence of a new disease as a result of interspecific virulence gene transfer. Nat Genet 38:953–956. doi: 10.1038/ng1839
- Gao Y, Faris JD, Liu Z, Kim YM, Syme RA, Oliver RP, Xu SS, Friesen TL (2015) Identification and characterization of the SnTox6-*Snn6* interaction in the *Parastagonospora nodorum*wheat pathosystem. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 28:615-625

- Goodwin SB, Zismann VL (2001) Phylogenetic analyses of the ITS region of ribosomal DNA reveal that Septoria passerinii from barley is closely related to the wheat pathogen Mycosphaerella graminicola. Mycologia 93:934–946. doi: 10.1080/00275514.2001.12063227
- Grain: World Markets and Trade | USDA Foreign Agricultural Service. https://www.fas.usda.gov/data/grain-world-markets-and-trade. Accessed 11 Oct 2019
- Horbach R, Navarro-Quesada AR, Knogge W, Deising HB (2011) When and how to kill a plant cell: infection strategies of plant pathogenic fungi. J Plant Physiol 168:51–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jplph.2010.06.014
- Huang L, Brooks SA, Li W, Fellers JP, Trick HN, Gill BS (2003) Map-based cloning of leaf rust resistance gene *Lr21* from the large and polyploid genome of bread wheat. Genetics 164:655–664
- Huang S, Sirikhachornkit A, Su X, Faris J, Gill B, Haselkorn R, Gornicki P (2002) Genes encoding plastid acetyl-CoA carboxylase and 3-phosphoglycerate kinase of the *Triticum/Aegilops* complex and the evolutionary history of polyploid wheat. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:8133–8138. doi: 10.1073/pnas.072223799
- IWGSC, Appels R, Eversole K, Stein N, Feuillet C, Keller B, Rogers J, Pozniak CJ, Choulet F, Distelfeld A, Poland J, Ronen G, Sharpe AG, Barad O, Baruch K, Keeble-Gagnère G, Mascher M, Ben-Zvi G, Josselin A-A, Himmelbach A, Balfourier F, Gutierrez-Gonzalez J, Hayden M, Koh C, Muehlbauer G, Pasam RK, Paux E, Rigault P, Tibbits J, Tiwari V, Spannagl M, Lang D, Gundlach H, Haberer G, Mayer KFX, Ormanbekova D, Prade V, Šimková H, Wicker T, Swarbreck D, Rimbert H, Felder M, Guilhot N, Kaithakottil G, Keilwagen J, Leroy P, Lux T, Twardziok S, Venturini L, Juhász A, Abrouk M, Fischer I, Uauy C, Borrill P, Ramirez-Gonzalez RH, Arnaud D, Chalabi S, Chalhoub B, Cory A, Datla R, Davey MW, Jacobs J, Robinson SJ, Steuernagel B, Ex F van, Wulff BBH, Benhamed M, Bendahmane A, Concia L, Latrasse D, Bartoš J, Bellec A, Berges H, Doležel J, Frenkel Z, Gill B, Korol A, Letellier T, Olsen O-A, Singh K, Valárik M, Vossen E van der, Vautrin S, Weining S, Fahima T, Glikson V, Raats D, Číhalíková J, Toegelová H, Vrána J, Sourdille P, Darrier B, Barabaschi D, Cattivelli L, Hernandez P, Galvez S, Budak H, Jones JDG, Witek K, Yu G, Small I, Melonek J, Zhou R, Belova T, Kanyuka K, King R, Nilsen K, Walkowiak S, Cuthbert R, Knox R, Wiebe K, Xiang D, Rohde A, Golds T, Čížková J, Akpinar BA, Biyiklioglu S, Gao L, N'Daiye A, Kubaláková M, Šafář J, Alfama F, Adam-Blondon A-F, Flores R, Guerche C, Loaec M, Quesneville H, Condie J, Ens J, Maclachlan R, Tan Y, Alberti A, Aury J-M, Barbe V, Couloux A, Cruaud C, Labadie K, Mangenot S, Wincker P, Kaur G, Luo M, Sehgal S, Chhuneja P, Gupta OP, Jindal S, Kaur P, Malik P, Sharma P, Yadav B, Singh NK, Khurana JP, Chaudhary C, Khurana P, Kumar V, Mahato A, Mathur S, Sevanthi A, Sharma N, Tomar RS, Holušová K, Plíhal O, Clark MD, Heavens D, Kettleborough G, Wright J, Balcárková B, Hu Y, Salina E, Ravin N, Skryabin K, Beletsky A, Kadnikov V, Mardanov A, Nesterov M, Rakitin A, Sergeeva E, Handa H, Kanamori H, Katagiri S, Kobayashi F, Nasuda S, Tanaka T, Wu J, Cattonaro F, Jiumeng M, Kugler K, Pfeifer M, Sandve S, Xun X, Zhan B, Batley J, Bayer PE, Edwards D, Hayashi S, Tulpová Z,
Visendi P, Cui L, Du X, Feng K, Nie X, Tong W, Wang L (2018) Shifting the limits in wheat research and breeding using a fully annotated reference genome. Science 361:eaar7191. doi: 10.1126/science.aar7191

- Jia Y, McAdams SA, Bryan GT, Hershey HP, Valent B (2000) Direct interaction of resistance gene and avirulence gene products confers rice blast resistance. EMBO J 19:4004–4014. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.15.4004
- Jones JDG, Dangl JL (2006) The plant immune system. Nature 444:323–329. doi: 10.1038/nature05286
- Keen NT (1990) Gene-for-Gene complementarity in plant-pathogen interactions. Annu Rev Genet 24:447–463. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ge.24.120190.002311
- Kimber G, Sears ER (1987) Evolution in the Genus Triticum and the Origin of Cultivated Wheat. In: Wheat and Wheat Improvement. American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI, pp 154–164
- Krasileva KV, Vasquez-Gross HA, Howell T, Bailey P, Paraiso F, Clissold L, Simmonds J, Ramirez-Gonzalez RH, Wang X, Borrill P, Fosker C, Ayling S, Phillips AL, Uauy C, Dubcovsky J (2017) Uncovering hidden variation in polyploid wheat. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 114:E913–E921. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1619268114
- Krattinger S, Wicker T, Keller B (2009) Map-Based Cloning of Genes in *Triticeae* (Wheat and Barley). In: Muehlbauer GJ, Feuillet C (eds) Genetics and Genomics of the *Triticeae*. Springer US, New York, NY, pp 337–357
- Le Roux C, Huet G, Jauneau A, Camborde L, Trémousaygue D, Kraut A, Zhou B, Levaillant M, Adachi H, Yoshioka H, Raffaele S, Berthomé R, Couté Y, Parker JE, Deslandes L (2015) A receptor pair with an integrated decoy converts pathogen disabling of transcription factors to immunity. Cell 161:1074–1088. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.04.025
- Liu Z, Faris J, Meinhardt S, Ali S, Rasmussen JB, Friesen TL (2004a) Genetic and physical mapping of a gene conditioning sensitivity in wheat to a partially purified host-selective toxin produced by *Stagonospora nodorum*. Phytopathology 94:1056–1060. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO.2004.94.10.1056
- Liu Z, Faris JD, Oliver RP, Tan K-C, Solomon PS, McDonald MC, McDonald BA, Nunez A, Lu S, Rasmussen JB, Friesen TL (2009) SnTox3 acts in effector triggered susceptibility to induce disease on wheat carrying the *Snn3* gene. PLoS Pathog 5. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000581
- Liu Z, Friesen TL, Ling H, Meinhardt SW, Oliver RP, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2006) The *Tsn1*-ToxA interaction in the wheat-*Stagonospora nodorum* pathosystem parallels that of the wheat-tan spot system. Genome 49:1265–1273. doi: 10.1139/g06-088
- Liu Z, Gao Y, Kim YM, Faris JD, Shelver WL, de Wit PJGM, Xu SS, Friesen TL (2016) SnTox1, a *Parastagonospora nodorum* necrotrophic effector, is a dual-function protein

that facilitates infection while protecting from wheat-produced chitinases. New Phytol 211:1052–1064. doi: 10.1111/nph.13959

- Liu Z, Zhang Z, Faris JD, Oliver RP, Syme R, McDonald MC, McDonald BA, Solomon PS, Lu S, Shelver WL, Xu S, Friesen TL (2012) The cysteine rich necrotrophic effector SnTox1 produced by *Stagonospora nodorum* triggers susceptibility of wheat lines harboring *Snn1*. PLoS Pathog 8. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002467
- Liu Z, Friesen TL, Rasmussen JB, Ali S, Meinhardt SW, Faris JD (2004b) Quantitative trait loci analysis and mapping of seedling resistance to Stagonospora nodorum leaf blotch in wheat. Phytopathology 94:1061–1067. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO.2004.94.10.1061
- Long YM, Chao WS, Ma GJ, Xu SS, Qi LL (2017) An innovative SNP genotyping method adapting to multiple platforms and throughputs. Theor Appl Genet 130:597–607. doi: 10.1007/s00122-016-2838-4
- Lorang JM, Sweat TA, Wolpert TJ (2007) Plant disease susceptibility conferred by a "resistance" gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:14861–14866. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0702572104
- Lu Q, Lillemo M (2014) Molecular mapping of adult plant resistance to Parastagonospora nodorum leaf blotch in bread wheat lines 'Shanghai-3/Catbird' and 'Naxos.' Theor Appl Genet 127:2635–2644. doi: 10.1007/s00122-014-2404-x
- Luo M-C, Gu YQ, Puiu D, Wang H, Twardziok SO, Deal KR, Huo N, Zhu T, Wang L, Wang Y, McGuire PE, Liu S, Long H, Ramasamy RK, Rodriguez JC, Van SL, Yuan L, Wang Z, Xia Z, Xiao L, Anderson OD, Ouyang S, Liang Y, Zimin AV, Pertea G, Qi P, Bennetzen JL, Dai X, Dawson MW, Müller H-G, Kugler K, Rivarola-Duarte L, Spannagl M, Mayer KFX, Lu F-H, Bevan MW, Leroy P, Li P, You FM, Sun Q, Liu Z, Lyons E, Wicker T, Salzberg SL, Devos KM, Dvořák J (2017) Genome sequence of the progenitor of the wheat D genome *Aegilops tauschii*. Nature 551:498–502. doi: 10.1038/nature24486
- Maccaferri M, Harris NS, Twardziok SO, Pasam RK, Gundlach H, Spannagl M, Ormanbekova D, Lux T, Prade VM, Milner SG, Himmelbach A, Mascher M, Bagnaresi P, Faccioli P, Cozzi P, Lauria M, Lazzari B, Stella A, Manconi A, Gnocchi M, Moscatelli M, Avni R, Deek J, Biyiklioglu S, Frascaroli E, Corneti S, Salvi S, Sonnante G, Desiderio F, Marè C, Crosatti C, Mica E, Özkan H, Kilian B, Vita PD, Marone D, Joukhadar R, Mazzucotelli E, Nigro D, Gadaleta A, Chao S, Faris JD, Melo ATO, Pumphrey M, Pecchioni N, Milanesi L, Wiebe K, Ens J, MacLachlan RP, Clarke JM, Sharpe AG, Koh CS, Liang KYH, Taylor GJ, Knox R, Budak H, Mastrangelo AM, Xu SS, Stein N, Hale I, Distelfeld A, Hayden MJ, Tuberosa R, Walkowiak S, Mayer KFX, Ceriotti A, Pozniak CJ, Cattivelli L (2019) Durum wheat genome highlights past domestication signatures and future improvement targets. Nat Genet 51:885–895. doi: 10.1038/s41588-019-0381-3
- Manning VA, Ciuffetti LM (2005) Localization of Ptr ToxA produced by *Pyrenophora triticirepentis* reveals protein import into wheat mesophyll cells. Plant Cell 17:3203–3212. doi: 10.1105/tpc.105.035063

- Manning VA, Hardison LK, Ciuffetti LM (2007) Ptr ToxA interacts with a chloroplast-localized protein. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 20:168–177. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-20-2-0168
- McDonald MC, Ahren D, Simpfendorfer S, Milgate A, Solomon PS (2018) The discovery of the virulence gene ToxA in the wheat and barley pathogen *Bipolaris sorokiniana*. Mol Plant Pathol 19:432–439. doi: 10.1111/mpp.12535
- Mcfadden ES, Sears ER (1946) The origin of *Triticum spelta* and its free-threshing hexaploid relatives. J Hered 37:81–89. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.jhered.a105590
- McMullen M, Adhikari T (2009) Fungal leaf spot diseases of wheat: Tan spot, Stagonospora nodorum blotch and Septoria tritici blotch. NDSU extension service
- Mendgen K, Hahn M (2002) Plant infection and the establishment of fungal biotrophy. Trends Plant Sci 7:352–356. doi: 10.1016/S1360-1385(02)02297-5
- Monaghan J, Zipfel C (2012) Plant pattern recognition receptor complexes at the plasma membrane. Curr Opin Plant Biol 15:349–357. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2012.05.006
- Mukhtar MS, Carvunis A-R, Dreze M, Epple P, Steinbrenner J, Moore J, Tasan M, Galli M, Hao T, Nishimura MT, Pevzner SJ, Donovan SE, Ghamsari L, Santhanam B, Romero V, Poulin MM, Gebreab F, Gutierrez BJ, Tam S, Monachello D, Boxem M, Harbort CJ, McDonald N, Gai L, Chen H, He Y, European Union Effectoromics Consortium, Vandenhaute J, Roth FP, Hill DE, Ecker JR, Vidal M, Beynon J, Braun P, Dangl JL (2011) Independently evolved virulence effectors converge onto hubs in a plant immune system network. Science 333:596–601. doi: 10.1126/science.1203659
- Nagy ED, Bennetzen JL (2008) Pathogen corruption and site-directed recombination at a plant disease resistance gene cluster. Genome res 18:1918–1923. doi: 10.1101/gr.078766.108
- Nesbitt M. Samuel D (1996) From staple crop to extinction? The archaeology and history of the hulled wheats. Hulled Wheats, 4, 41-100.
- Nürnberger T, Brunner F, Kemmerling B, Piater L (2004) Innate immunity in plants and animals: striking similarities and obvious differences. Immunol rev 198:249–66
- Oliver RP, Friesen TL, Faris JD, Solomon PS (2012) *Stagonospora nodorum*: from pathology to genomics and host resistance. Annu Rev Phytopathol 50:23–43. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-081211-173019
- Petit-Houdenot Y, Fudal I (2017) Complex interactions between fungal avirulence genes and their corresponding plant resistance genes and consequences for disease resistance management. Front Plant Sci 8: . doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017.01072
- Phan HTT, Rybak K, Furuki E, Breen S, Solomon PS, Oliver RP, Tan K-C (2016) Differential effector gene expression underpins epistasis in a plant fungal disease. Plant J 87:343–354. doi: 10.1111/tpj.13203

- Quaedvlieg W, Verkley GJM, Shin H-D, Barreto RW, Alfenas AC, Swart WJ, Groenewald JZ, Crous PW (2013) Sizing up *Septoria*. Stud Mycol 75:307–390. doi: 10.3114/sim0017
- Rafiqi M, Ellis JG, Ludowici VA, et al (2012) Challenges and progress towards understanding the role of effectors in plant–fungal interactions. Curr Opin Plant Biol 15:477–482. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2012.05.003
- Reddy L, Friesen TL, Meinhardt SW, Chao S, Faris JD (2008) Genomic analysis of the *Snn1* locus on wheat chromosome arm 1BS and the identification of candidate genes. Plant Genome 1:55–66. doi: 10.3835/plantgenome2008.03.0181
- Rodriguez-Moreno L, Ebert M, Bolton M, P.H.J. Thomma B (2017) Tools of the crook: infection strategies of fungal plant pathogens. Plant J 93. doi: 10.1111/tpj.13810
- Salse J, Bolot S, Throude M, Jouffe V, Piegu B, Quraishi U, Calcagno T, Cooke R, Delseny M, Feuillet C (2008) Identification and characterization of shared duplications between rice and wheat provide new insight into grass genome evolution. Plant Cell 20:11–24. doi: 10.1105/tpc.107.056309
- Sarma GN, Manning VA, Ciuffetti LM, Karplus PA (2005) Structure of *Ptr* ToxA: an RGDcontaining host-selective toxin from *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*. Plant Cell 17:3190– 3202. doi: 10.1105/tpc.105.034918
- Sarris PF, Duxbury Z, Huh SU, Ma Y, Segonzac C, Sklenar J, Derbyshire P, Cevik V, Rallapalli G, Saucet SB, Wirthmueller L, Menke FLH, Sohn KH, Jones JDG (2015) A plant immune receptor detects pathogen effectors that target WRKY transcription factors. Cell 161:1089–1100. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.04.024
- Scharen AL (1966) Cyclic production of pycnidia and spores in dead wheat tissue by *Septoria* nodorum. Phytopathology 56(5):580-581
- Scheffer RP, Livingston RS (1984) Host-selective toxins and their role in plant diseases. Science 223:17–21. doi: 10.1126/science.223.4631.17
- Shi G, Friesen TL, Saini J, Xu SS, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2015) The wheat Snn7 gene confers susceptibility on recognition of the Parastagonospora nodorum necrotrophic effector SnTox7. Plant Genome 8. doi: 10.3835/plantgenome2015.02.0007
- Shi G, Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Bansal U, Cloutier S, Wicker T, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2016a) Marker development, saturation mapping, and high-resolution mapping of the Septoria nodorum blotch susceptibility gene *Snn3-B1* in wheat. Mol Genet Genomics 291:107– 119. doi: 10.1007/s00438-015-1091-x
- Shi G, Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Raats D, Fahima T, Brueggeman RS, Lu S, Trick HN, Liu Z, Chao W, Frenkel Z, Xu SS, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2016b) The hijacking of a receptor kinase–driven pathway by a wheat fungal pathogen leads to disease. Sci Adv 2. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1600822

- Solomon PS, Waters ODC, Jörgens CI, Lowe RGT, Rechberger J, Trengove RD, Oliver RP (2006) Mannitol is required for asexual sporulation in the wheat pathogen *Stagonospora nodorum* (glume blotch). Biochem J 399:231–239. doi: 10.1042/BJ20060891
- Steinbrenner AD, Goritschnig S, Staskawicz BJ (2015) Recognition and activation domains contribute to allele-specific responses of an *Arabidopsis* NLR receptor to an oomycete effector protein. PLoS Pathog 11:e1004665. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004665
- Thomma BP, Penninckx IA, Cammue BP, Broekaert WF (2001) The complexity of disease signaling in *Arabidopsis*. Curr Opin Immunol 13:63–68. doi: 10.1016/S0952-7915(00)00183-7
- Tomás A and Bockus WW (1987) Cultivar specific toxicity of culture filtrate of *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*. Phytopathology 77:1337-1366
- Tsuda K, Katagiri F (2010) Comparing signaling mechanisms engaged in pattern-triggered and effector-triggered immunity. Curr Opin Plant Biol 13:459–465. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2010.04.006
- van der Hoorn RAL, Kamoun S (2008) From guard to decoy: a new model for perception of plant pathogen effectors. Plant Cell 20:2009–2017 . doi: 10.1105/tpc.108.060194
- Virdi SK, Liu Z, Overlander ME, Zhang Z, Xu SS, Friesen TL, Faris JD (2016) New insights into the roles of host gene-necrotrophic effector interactions in governing susceptibility of durum wheat to tan spot and septoria nodorum blotch. G3 6:4139–4150. doi: 10.1534/g3.116.036525
- Wang X, Jiang N, Liu J, Liu W, Wang GL (2014) The role of effectors and host immunity in plant–necrotrophic fungal interactions. Virulence 5:722–732. doi: 10.4161/viru.29798
- Wheat Initiative (2018) Annual report, Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants Königin-Luise-Straße 19 14195 Berlin - Germany
- Winterberg B, Du Fall LA, Song X, Pascovici D, Care N, Molloy M, Ohms S, Solomon PS (2014) The necrotrophic effector protein SnTox3 re-programs metabolism and elicits a strong defence response in susceptible wheat leaves. BMC Plant Biol 14:215. doi: 10.1186/s12870-014-0215-5
- Wolpert TJ, Dunkle LD, Ciuffetti LM (2002) Host-selective toxins and avirulence determinants: what's in a name? Annu Rev Phytopathol 40:251–285. doi: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.40.011402.114210
- Yan L, Loukoianov A, Tranquilli G, Helguera M, Fahima T, Dubcovsky J (2003) Positional cloning of the wheat vernalization gene VRN1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:6263–6268. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0937399100
- Zhang R, Zheng F, Wei S, Zhang S, Li G, Cao P, Zhao S (2019) Evolution of disease defense genes and their regulators in plants. Int J Mol Sci 20. doi: 10.3390/ijms20020335

- Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Simons KJ, Xu SS, Faris JD (2009) Development, identification, and validation of markers for marker-assisted selection against the *Stagonospora nodorum* toxin sensitivity genes *Tsn1* and *Snn2* in wheat. Mol Breeding 23:35–49. doi: 10.1007/s11032-008-9211-5
- Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Xu SS, et al (2011) Two putatively homoeologous wheat genes mediate recognition of SnTox3 to confer effector-triggered susceptibility to *Stagonospora nodorum*. Plant J 65:27–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2010.04407.x
- Zipfel C (2009) Early molecular events in PAMP-triggered immunity. Curr Opin Plant Biol 12:414–420. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2009.06.003

CHAPTER 3. GENOMIC ANALYSIS AND HIGH-RESOLUTION MAPPING OF THE SNN2 GENE IN WHEAT

3.1. Abstract

Septoria nodorum blotch (SNB) of wheat is caused by the necrotrophic fungus Parastagonospora nodorum. The recognition of P. nodorum-produced necrotrophic effectors (NEs) by dominant host sensitivity genes in wheat leads to disease development according to the inverse gene-for-gene model. There have been nine host gene-NE interactions reported in the wheat-P. nodorum pathosystem so far, and the Snn2-SnTox2 interaction has been shown to be important in both seedling and adult plant susceptibility. The overall goal of this study was to develop a high-resolution map to provide a foundation for the map-based cloning and characterization of Snn2 in wheat. A saturated genetic linkage map was developed using a segregating population of 164 F_{7:8} recombinant inbred lines. A high-resolution map was then developed using F₂ plants derived from a cross between the SnTox2-insensitive wheat line BR34 and the SnTox2-sensitive line BG301. Markers were identified by SNP genotyping using the 90K iSelect wheat SNP chip and simple sequence repeat markers. New markers were developed based on whole-genome sequence scaffolds, wheat survey sequences, and the IWGSC RefSeqv1.0 wheat reference genome. Over 10,000 gametes were screened for high-resolution mapping. I have delineated the Snn2 gene to a genetic interval of 0.10 cM that corresponds to a physical segment of approximately 0.53 Mb on the short arm of wheat chromosome 2D. A total of 27 predicted genes reside in this region, thirteen of which are considered as strong candidates for Snn2 including four NB-ARC domain-containing genes and nine protein kinase-containing genes. I also developed seven EMS-induced Snn2-disrupted mutants for gene validation and functional analyses. Results of this study provide the knowledge and tools for cloning *Snn2*,

which will increase our knowledge of wheat-*P. nodorum* interactions and help to develop better host resistance in the future.

3.2. Introduction

Wheat is one of the most important food crops because it provides 20% of the world's caloric intake. However, worldwide wheat production is constantly under numerous biotic stresses. Septoria nodorum blotch (SNB), caused by the necrotrophic fungus *Parastagonospora* (syn. ana, *Stagonospora*; teleo, *Phaeosphaeria*) *nodorum* (Berk.) Quaedvleig, Verkley & Crous, is a severe foliar and glume disease that can cause yield losses up to 50% and reduction of quality in most wheat growing areas. SNB affects both common wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) and durum wheat (*T. turgidum* L.). SNB resistance is inherited quantitatively and many interactions show additive effects (Xu et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2009; Friesen et al. 2012).

Biotrophs are a class of pathogens that require living host cells to feed, grow, and complete their life cycles. Plants have multiple layers of recognition to protect themselves against biotrophs. The first and basal layer involves the identification of microbe-, pathogen-, or damage-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs/MAMPs/DAMPs) using plant surface-localized pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (Zipfel 2009; Tsuda and Katagiri 2010). This recognition leads to a resistance response by the plant which is known as PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI) (Zipfel 2009). With time, many pathogens have adapted to secrete some effector proteins to suppress PTI. Then, plants evolved a second layer of defense involving a robust host defense response upon the recognition of effector proteins. This level of resistance is called effectortriggered immunity (ETI) (Zipfel 2009). A resistance response occurs when a pathogen-produced effector is detected by the corresponding host resistance (R) gene and a susceptible (compatible) interaction occurs if either the pathogen effector or the host R gene is absent. Unlike biotrophs, necrotrophic pathogens gain their nutrients from dead, or dying, cells. Recent studies have shown that some necrotrophs have evolved to obtain nutrients from plants by utilizing the defense mechanisms that plants have evolved to fight biotrophic pathogens (Faris et al. 2010; Lorang et al. 2007; Nagy and Bennetzen 2008; Shi et al. 2016b). Many necrotrophs produce necrotrophic effectors (NEs), which are effectors of pathogenicity (Wang et al. 2014b). NEs are toxic only to host genotypes that express a corresponding gene that recognizes the NE. Such host genes are called dominant disease susceptibility genes. In these systems, the presence of a pathogen-produced NE and the corresponding dominant host gene for sensitivity leads to a compatible interaction, and ultimately, disease susceptibility (Wang et al. 2014b). This is known as necrotorophic effector-triggered susceptibility (NETS) (Jones and Dangl 2006; Liu et al. 2009; Faris et al. 2010). If either the NE or the dominant host allele is absent, a resistance response occurs. This is the opposite of what happens in a host-biotroph interaction explained by gene-for-gene theory introduced by Flor (1956). Therefore, these host-necrotroph interactions follow an inverse gene-for-gene model (Friesen et al. 2007).

Nine NE-host sensitivity gene interactions have been identified in the *P. nodorum*-wheat pathosystem including SnToxA- *Tsn1* (Friesen et al. 2006; Liu et al. 2006; Faris et al. 2010), SnTox1-*Snn1* (Liu et al. 2004a, 2012; Reddy et al. 2008), SnTox2-*Snn2* (Friesen et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2009), SnTox3-*Snn3-B1* (Friesen et al. 2008; Liu et al. 2009), SnTox3-*Snn3-D1* (Zhang et al. 2011), SnTox4-*Snn4* (Abeysekara et al. 2009), SnTox5-*Snn5* (Friesen et al. 2012), SnTox6-*Snn6* (Gao et al. 2015), and SnTox7-*Snn7* (Shi et al. 2015). Three NE-encoding genes have been cloned from the pathogen including *SnToxA* (Friesen et al. 2006), *SnTox1* (Liu et al. 2012), and *SnTox3* (Liu et al. 2009). The corresponding host sensitivity genes *Tsn1*, *Snn1* and *Snn3-D1* have also been cloned (Faris et al. 2010; Shi et al. 2016b; Faris et al. unpublished).

The wheat *Snn2* gene confers sensitivity to the NE SnTox2. The *Snn2*-SnTox2 interaction plays a strong role in conferring both seedling and adult plant susceptibility (Friesen et al. 2007). The objectives of this study were to build the foundation for cloning *Snn2* by developing high-resolution maps, molecular markers, and *Snn2*-disrupted mutants, and to identify candidate genes, which would significantly extend our knowledge of wheat-*P. nodorum* interactions. Results of this study will further increase our knowledge of this system which would help to obtain complete host resistance through genetic manipulation.

3.3. Materials and methods

3.3.1. Plant materials

A segregating population of recombinant inbred (RI) lines derived from a cross between the Brazilian hard red spring wheat breeding line BR34 and the North Dakota hard red spring variety Grandin were used for saturation mapping. Previous studies have indicated that Grandin is sensitive to SnTox2 whereas BR34 is insensitive (Zhang et al. 2009). This population consisting of 164 $F_{7:8}$ lines was used for saturation mapping of the *Snn2* locus. A population consisting of 5073 F_2 plants generated using a cross between BR34 and BG301 was used for high-resolution mapping. BG301 is a hexaploid SnTox2-sensitive RI line derived from the BR34 × Grandin RI population. It is not sensitive to any other NEs identified and thus used for the cross with BR34 as the resulting population segregates only for *Snn2* and no other NE sensitivity genes. The SnTox2-sensitive line BG301 was used for EMS mutagenesis as well.

3.3.2. DNA extraction

DNA from the parents and the RIL population was extracted as described by Faris et al. (2000). Young leaf tissue (5 g) was collected from each plant into separate microfuge tubes (1.5 ml) frozen in liquid nitrogen and ground into a fine powder. Sodium bisulfite (3.8 g/l) was added

to the monocot extraction buffer [500 mM NaCl, 100 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 50 mM EDTA, 0.84% (w/v) SDS], and the pH was adjusted to 8.0 by adding NaOH. Extraction buffer (600 μ l) was preheated to 65 °C, added to frozen tissue, and incubated at 65 °C for 30 min. A 24:1 solution of chloroform:isoamyl alcohol was added (600 μ l), mixed vigorously, and centrifuged at 7000 g for 12 min at room temperature. The supernatant was added to a new microfuge tube (1.4 ml), and the DNA was precipitated by adding 850 μ l of 95% (v/v) ethanol and centrifuging at 7000 g for 30 s. The pellet was rinsed in 70% (v/v) ethanol, dried and dissolved in TE buffer (60 μ l). DNA from the F₂ plants was extracted using the ammonium acetate method (Pallotta et al. 2003). Extracted DNA was quantified using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer ND-1000 (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE) and diluted to approximately 150 ng/µL.

3.3.3. PCR amplification and electrophoresis

Each polymerase chain reaction (PCR) experiment was conducted using a total volume of 10 µl and consisted of 2 µl of template DNA, 1X PCR buffer, 1 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM dNTPs, 4 pmol of the primer and 0.5 units of homemade Taq DNA polymerase. The PCR conditions were initial denaturation at 94 °C for 5 min, followed by 35 cycles of 94 °C for 30 s, the annealing temperature of 60.8 °C for 30 s with a 0.2 °C decrement at every cycle, and extension at 72 °C for 90 s, followed by a final extension of 72 °C for 7 min. Amplicons were electrophoresed on 6 % polyacrylamide gels, stained with GelRed stain, and visualized with a Typhoon 9500 variable mode imager (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Piscataway, NJ).

3.3.4. Saturated mapping and marker development

SNP genotyping was performed using the Illumina 90K iSelect wheat SNP chip (Wang et al. 2014a). The array was processed using a BeadStation and iScan instrument by Dr. Shiaoman Chao at the small grains genotyping laboratory in Fargo, ND, USA. SNP clustering was

performed with GS Polyploid Clustering v1.0 software (Illumina). The setting of the minimum number of points in a cluster was adjusted to five to minimize the merging of clusters into a single cluster when clusters were not well separated. The clustered SNPs were then filtered based on custom cluster number and call rate. The accuracy for SNP clustering was visually checked, and incorrectly clustered SNPs were manually curated. Sample cluster assignments for each SNP assay were converted to genotype calls.

The contextual sequences of SNP markers on wheat 2DS from the 90K SNP arrays were identified and used as queries in BLASTn (Altschul et al. 1997) searches of the wheat 2DS survey sequences and *Ae. tauschii* whole genome draft sequences. New PCR markers were developed based on whole-genome sequence scaffolds, wheat survey sequences, and the IWGSC RefSeqv1.0 wheat reference genome. Primers were designed using Primer3 (Rozen and Skaletsky 2000) and NCBI primer design tool and tested for polymorphism between the parents.

3.3.5. Linkage analysis

The computer program MapDisto v.1.8 (Lorieux 2012) was used for the linkage analysis using the Kosambi mapping function (Kosambi 1943) with a logarithm of odds (LOD) threshold of 3.0 and a maximum recombination frequency of 0.3. The command 'find groups' was used to verify the linkage of markers. The seriation algorithm using sum of adjacent recombination frequencies was conducted with the 'order sequence' command. The 'check inversions', 'ripple order', and 'drop locus' commands were applied for the local improvement of the order of loci.

3.3.6. High resolution mapping

All PCR-based markers developed were amplified and visualized. Co-dominant PCR markers flanking *Snn2* based on saturation mapping in the 164 RILs were subsequently used to screen the BR34 \times BG301 population of 5073 F₂ plants to identify plants with putative

38

recombination events within the *Snn2* interval. All the recombinant plants (plants with crossovers between the markers flanking *Snn2*) were screened for reaction to an SnTox2-containing culture filtrate. Plants that were insensitive to SnTox2 were considered homozygous for a recessive *snn2* allele, and plants sensitive to SnTox2 were considered to be either homozygous for the *Snn2* allele or heterozygous. All the identified recombinants were transplanted in pots and self-pollinated to obtain F₃ seeds. Sixteen plants from each F₃ family were screened with the same flanking markers to identify homozygous recombinants. One homozygous recombinant plant was selected from each F₃ family and transplanted to increase seed to be used in further experiments. All the homozygous recombinant plants were genotyped with the markers between the flanking markers. Also, they were phenotyped for reaction to an SnTox2-containing culture filtrate. The genotypic and phenotypic data of the high-resolution population were used to develop the high-resolution map that further narrowed down the *Snn2* interval. Additional markers were develop based on the high-resolution map and were used to further narrow down the region.

3.3.7. Fungal cultures and culture filtrate production

SnTox2 was obtained from the SnTox2-expressing *P. nodorum* isolate Sn6 as described by Friesen et al. (2007). Culture filtrates of *P. nodorum* were produced by growing the fungus on V8-potato dextrose agar medium as previously described by Liu et al. (2004). Each plate was washed with 50 ml of sterile distilled water once the pycnidia begin to release spores. The spore suspension (200 μ l) was added to 50 ml of liquid Fries medium (5 g of ammonium tartrate, 1.0 g of ammonium nitrate, 0.5 g of magnesium sulfate, 1.3 g of potassium phosphate [dibasic], 2.6 g of potassium phosphate [monobasic], 30.0 g of sucrose, 1.0 g of yeast extract, dissolved in 1,000 ml of water) and cultures were grown in an orbital shaker at 80 rpm at 27 °C for 48 to 72 h followed by stationary growth at 21 °C for 3 weeks. Both growth steps were conducted in the dark. The cultures were filtered through two layers of cheese cloth followed by vacuum filtration through a Whatman No. 1 filter and a 0.45-µm Whatman cellulose nitrate filter for sterilization.

3.3.8. Phenotyping

Plants were infiltrated at the second leaf stage as described in Liu et al. (2004a). The fully expanded secondary leaves of the plants were infiltrated with 25 µl of SnTox2-containing cultures using a 1 ml syringe with the needle removed. The boundaries of the infiltration sites were marked before water-soaking disappeared. After infiltration, all plants were grown at 21°C with a 12-h photoperiod. Leaves were evaluated 5 days after infiltration and scored as insensitive or sensitive based on the presence or absence of necrosis within the infiltrated area.

3.3.9. Mutagenesis

Snn2-disrupted mutants were developed and identified using the methods described in Faris et al. (2010). Mutants were generated by treating seeds of BG301 with 0.35 % v/v ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS) as described in Williams et al. (1992). Here, seeds were presoaked for 8 h in 0.05 M phosphate buffer at pH 8 and treated by soaking at 20 °C for 16 h in a 0.35% (v/v) solution of EMS in the same buffer. The EMS solutions were aerated by gentle agitation on a shaker during treatment. Treated seeds were rinsed in running tap water for 1 min to remove EMS solution from surfaces and planted immediately. The M₁ plants were maintained at 20°C to 24 °C with a 16/8-h day/night cycle. Fourteen plants from each M₂ family at the two-leaf stage were infiltrated with SnTox2-containing cultures and plants were scored for the development of the disease.

3.3.10. Identification of candidate genes

The markers most closely flanking and cosegregating with *Snn2* on the high-resolution map were used as queries in BLAST searches of the IWGSC RefSeqv1.0 wheat reference genome. This information was used to develop additional markers for mapping and further delineation of the *Snn2* gene region. The genomic sequence corresponding to the interval between markers that flanked *Snn2* was obtained from the Chinese Spring reference sequence (https://urgi.versailles.inra.fr/download/iwgsc/IWGSC_RefSeq_Assemblies/v2.0/). The candidate genes for *Snn2* were identified by analyzing the candidate region with IWGSC RefSeq v1.0 annotation. In addition, corresponding candidate region in the sequence scaffolds of other available sequenced lines were downloaded and analyzed for putative genes using BLAST analysis against the NCBI non-redundant database

(https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi?PAGE_TYPE=BlastSearch) and by *ab initio* gene prediction programs in Triannot (https://urgi.versailles.inra.fr/triannot/).

3.4. Results

3.4.1. Saturation mapping

All markers were tested for polymorphism between the parents BR34 and Grandin. In the previously published 2D map (Zhang et al. 2009), the markers *TC253803*, *cfd56* and *gwm614.1* mapped distal to *Snn2*, and *cfd51*, *barc95* and *cfd53* mapped proximal to *Snn2*. In addition to these markers, 11 new markers were added to the *Snn2* candidate region during saturation mapping. Three of them were SNP markers from the 90K SNP chip and nine were SSR markers. The SNP markers *15798* (D_contig15948_318), *18107* (D_GB5Y7FA02HSMR1_278) and *34642* (IAAV298) mapped at distances of 0.9, 5.5 and 14.2 cM distal to the *Snn2*, respectively (Figure 3.1). Contextual sequences were downloaded for these three SNP markers from the

wheat 90K consensus maps and the un-mapped SNPs in between them according to the consensus map were identified. (Wang et al. 2014a). The contextual sequences of the mapped and unmapped SNPs were subjected to BLAST searches against the Chinese Spring 2DS survey sequences to identify scaffolds spanning the *Snn2* region. Three scaffolds (29046, 5390773 and 32556) were identified and used for designing new SSR markers. This led to the development of the eight new SSR markers (Table 3.1, Figure 3.1). Among them, the markers *29046 F2R2, 29046 F3R3,* and *29046 F5R5* co-segregated at a distance of 7.5 cM distal to *Snn2.* The marker *32556 F31R31* mapped at 0.3 cM distal to *Snn2.* The markers *5390773 F5R5* and *5390773 F10R10* co-segregated with *Snn2.* The markers *32556 F36R36* and *32556 F20R20* co-segregated with each other at a distance of 1.0 cM proximal to *Snn2.* Therefore, *Snn2* was delimited to a genetic interval of 1.3 cM after saturation mapping (Figure 3.1).

3.4.2. High resolution mapping

A total of 10,146 gametes of the BR34/BG301 population were genotyped with the *Snn2* flanking markers *TC253803* and *32556 F20R20*, which flanked *Snn2* at genetic distances of 5.8 cM and 1.0 cM, respectively, in the saturation map to identify recombinants for high-resolution mapping (Figure 3.1). This screening resulted in the identification of 280 plants with recombination events between *TC253803* and *32556 F20R20*. The identified recombinant plants were self-pollinated and 16 F₃ plants from the progeny of each recombinant were genotyped with the same flanking markers to identify homozygous recombinants. Markers that mapped between *TC253803* and *32556 F20R20* in the saturation map were used to genotype the identified 280 recombinants of the BR34/BG301 population to place them on the high-resolution map. The marker *32556 F31R31* mapped at a distance of 0.10 cM distal to *Snn2* and the markers *32556 F30R20* mapped at distances of 0.56 and 1.06 cM proximal to *Snn2*,

respectively (Figure 3.1). The markers 5390773 F5R5 and 5390773 F10R10 still co-segregated with Snn2.

The positions of the markers on the genetic map were compared with those in the Chinese Spring reference genome to identify the physical location of the markers. This information was used to design new markers in the region between the flanking markers. Eight new SSR markers were developed in this way and mapped in the high-resolution population (Table 3.1). The markers *CSRef2DS F12R32* and *CSRef2DS F46R46* mapped at distances of 0.53 cM and 0.09 cM distal to *Snn2*, respectively. The markers *CSRef2DS F48R48*, *CSRef2DS F54R54* and *CSRef2DS F55R55* co-segregated with *Snn2* along with the previously mapped cosegregating markers *5390773 F5R5* and *5390773 F10R10*. The markers *CSRef2DS F56R56*, *CSRef2DS F57R57* and *CSRef2DS F64R64* mapped at distances of 0.01, 0.04 and 0.49 cM proximal to *Snn2*, respectively. These results delimited *Snn2* to a 0.10 cM interval flanked by *CSRef2DS F46R46* and *CSRef2DS F56R56*. This genetic distance corresponded to a physical distance of 526,787 bp in the IWGSC RefSeq v1.1 Chinese Spring reference genome (Figure 3.1).

3.4.3. Candidate genes

The genomic sequence corresponding to the interval between markers that flanked *Snn2* was downloaded from IWGSC RefSeq v1.1 reference genome and used to identify candidate genes using IWGSC RefSeq v1.0 annotation and the URGI TriAnnot pipeline. Twenty-seven high confidence genes were identified between the *Snn2* flanking markers *CSRef2DS F46R46* and *CSRef2DS F56R56* (Table 3.2). Among them, 13 genes were identified as most plausible candidates including four NB-ARC domain-containing genes and nine protein kinase-containing genes.

3.4.4. Mutagenesis

More than 500 M_1 plants were generated. Thirteen SnTox2-insensitive mutants belonging to 10 different M_2 families were identified by the initial infiltration with a SnTox2-containing culture filtrate. Among them, seven independent mutants were confirmed as real mutants by phenotyping M_3 plants.



Figure 3.1. Map-based analysis of *Snn2* region. Left: Saturation map constructed from 164 F_{7:8} RIL population. Center: High-resolution map constructed from 5073 F2 plants from BR34/BG301 population. Right: Physical map constructed using IWGSC RefSeq v1.1 reference genome. The dash lines connect the same marker mapped in different maps.

45

Marker designation	Marker type	Forward primer	Reverse primer	Start position ^a	End position ^b	Polymorphism	Motif ^c
29046 F5R5	SSR	TCTGGTTTATTGACCAAACTG	GTGTGGCAAAAATTAGAGATG	7219210	7219374	Co-dominant	(TC)26
29046 F3R3	SSR	GTGCGTTGATTTTCTGTTATC	GAGACATGAAAGGTTTTCACC	7644602	7644752	Co-dominant	(AT)22
29046 F2R2	SSR	GACAAGAATACGACCAATGTC	GTTGCCTAGATTATTGTCACG	7698555	7698704	Co-dominant	(AC)26
CSRef2DS F12R32	SSR	AGAGAAAAACCATGGTGAAGT	GGCTCTGATATCAATTGTTGG	10025895	10026046	Co-dominant	(GA)17
32556 F31R31	SSR	CATGATGTGTTTTGTCATGTGT	AGGCTGCTCTTCATTTGTACT	10729838	10729995	Co-dominant	(AAC)35
CSRef2DS F46R46	SSR	TACATACTGTCGACAACCACA	GCTCAATCATGCTTTAATTTG	10748550	10748717	Co-dominant	(TC)17
CSRef2DS F48R48	SSR	ATCAGTCTGGACATGATATGC	TGTGATACCGACATCTCTAGC	10914483	10914637	Co-dominant	(GA)19
Cg25700 F5R5	InDel	AATCGGGTTGGCTCATTGTT	CATCAGGAGCGTGGAGTT	11065247	11066175	Dominant	
5390773 F5R5	SSR	GCTTCCTCTTCTAAAGCAAAT	TATACATCCTGTTCAGCCACT	11192553	11192694	Dominant	(AGA)4
5390773 F10R10	SSR	TGTATCCAAACTAGCATCCTG	TATACCTCTTCCACGGTCCT	11198053	11198202	Dominant	(TTTC)5
CSRef2DS F54R54	SSR	CATAGGTACAGCCGCAATCT	CGGGAACACATTCTACTCTCA	11243928	11244075	Dominant	(GA)21
Cg26700 F2R2	InDel	CATATTCCACGCTGCTCCTT	ACGCCTCAGAACCATTCATC	11248733	11249437	Dominant	
CSRef2DS F55R55	SSR	GCACCCGAGTGAATATGAGAT	TTTTCAAGTGGGTCATTGTTC	11262021	11262175	Dominant	(AG)29
CSRef2DS F56R56	SSR	CTATGGGTAGGGAGGTGGTAG	GCCAACTAGGCATGTTGAGTA	11275504	11275690	Dominant	(AG)18
CSRef2DS F57R57	SSR	GGACGAGCAATCTATTTTCCA	CCCGCTTCTAAACTAACTCCA	11278393	11278543	Dominant	(TA)37
CSRef2DS F64R64	SSR	ACAAAAGGCCCTTACAAACTG	GGGCTGTCTTCTTCTTCTTCT	11710547	11710680	Co-dominant	(AGA)15
32556 F36R36	SSR	ACTAGAACAAGGAGGCTTCTC	CCATATTGCGCAGTAGTATTC	12134664	12134802	Co-dominant	(GA)22
32556 F20R20	SSR	GTTTCATTTAAAAGCGGATCT	TGAAACAACCAAGAAGAACAT	12625514	12625662	Co-dominant	(TAA)26

Table 5.1. Warkers developed for molecular mapping of Sunz.

^{a, b} The start and end position are in respect to the IWGSC RefSeqv1.0 reference genome. ^c The repeat motif is shown if the marker is an SSR

46

Table 3.2. Candidate genes for Sni	12 based on IWGSC RefSeq v1	1.1. Genes present between	1 the flanking markers (CSRef2DS F46R46
and CSRef2DS F56R56. The most	plausible candidates based on plausi	putative function are high	lighted in green.	

		Gene ID	Position in IWGSC RefSeq v1.1	Length (bp)	Function description
	1	TraesCS2D02G024100	chr2D:1074855810750844 (- strand)	2,287	Cytochrome P450
	2	TraesCS2D02G024200	chr2D:1079866510800402 (- strand)	1,738	Cytochrome P450
	3	TraesCS2D02G024300	chr2D:1081695810819230 (- strand)	2,273	Kinase, putative
	4	TraesCS2D02G024400	chr2D:1082727510831015 (- strand)	3,741	Heavy metal transport/detoxification superfamily protein
	5	TraesCS2D02G024500	chr2D:1083162310835466 (- strand)	3,844	Disease resistance protein (NBS-LRR class) family
	6	TraesCS2D02G024600	chr2D:1086751410872335 (+ strand)	4,822	NBS-LRR-like resistance protein
	7	TraesCS2D02G024700	chr2D:1089297310901915 (- strand)	8,943	Receptor kinase 1
	8	TraesCS2D02G024800	chr2D:1090548210906797 (- strand)	1,316	Jasmonate-induced protein
	9	TraesCS2D02G024900	chr2D:1091516310917127 (+ strand)	1,965	Receptor-like protein kinase
	10	TraesCS2D02G025000	chr2D:1096473810966700 (- strand)	1,963	receptor kinase 1
	11	TraesCS2D02G025100	chr2D:1097937110981010 (- strand)	1,640	Glycosyltransferase
	12	TraesCS2D02G025200	chr2D:1098665710987050 (+ strand)	394	Defensin
	13	TraesCS2D02G025300	chr2D:1103013011030556 (+ strand)	427	Defensin
	14	TraesCS2D02G025400	chr2D:1103756711040831 (+ strand)	3,265	Receptor kinase 1
	15	TraesCS2D02G025500	chr2D:1104413111049743 (+ strand)	5,613	Receptor-like protein kinase
4	16	TraesCS2D02G025600	chr2D:1105762911061196 (+ strand)	3,568	Glutamate receptor
→ 1 1	17	TraesCS2D02G025700	chr2D:1106230211068423 (- strand)	6,122	Disease resistance protein RPM1
	18	TraesCS2D02G025800	chr2D:1108191211083979 (+ strand)	2,068	GDSL esterase/lipase
	19	TraesCS2D02G025900	chr2D:1108717811088316 (- strand)	1,139	Endonuclease 8-like 3
	20	TraesCS2D02G026000	chr2D:1109432511095952 (- strand)	1,628	Cytochrome P450
	21	TraesCS2D02G026100	chr2D:1112756311127862 (+ strand)	300	FORMS APLOID AND BINUCLEATE CELLS 1A
	22	TraesCS2D02G026200	chr2D:1113856211149777 (- strand)	11,216	NBS-LRR disease resistance protein homologue
	23	TraesCS2D02G026300	chr2D:1116749811169390 (- strand)	1,893	Glutamyl-tRNA (Gln) amidotransferase subunit A
	24	TraesCS2D02G026400	chr2D:1119472611198310 (- strand)	3,585	Carboxyl methyltransferase
	25	TraesCS2D02G026500	chr2D:1121299811216043 (+ strand)	3,046	Protein kinase family protein
	26	TraesCS2D02G026600	chr2D:1121816711221640 (+ strand)	3,474	Protein kinase family protein
	27	TraesCS2D02G026700	chr2D:1124517111259790 (+ strand)	14,620	Protein kinase family protein

3.5. Discussion

Although nine host sensitivity gene-NE interactions have been identified in the wheat-*P*. *nodorum* pathosystem, *Tsn1*, *Snn1* and *Snn3-D1* are the only wheat host sensitivity genes cloned so far (Friesen et al. 2006; Liu et al. 2006; Faris et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2004, 2012; Reddy et al. 2008; Friesen et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2009; Friesen et al. 2008; Liu et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2011; Abeysekara et al. 2009; Friesen et al. 2012; Gao et al. 2015; Shi et al. 2015, Shi et al. 2016b, Faris et al. unpublished). It is important to clone host sensitivity genes as well as NE genes in order to understand the molecular mechanisms underlying interactions in this system. Saturated and high-resolution genetic linkage maps of the *Snn2* locus were developed in this study for map-based cloning of *Snn2*.

Friesen et al. (2007) mapped *Snn2* to the short arm of chromosome 2D in a genetic interval of 13.5 cM flanked by the markers *Xgwm614* and *Xbarc95*. Later, Zhang et al. (2009) added additional PCR-based markers that delineated the *Snn2* interval to 4.0 cM. The new markers added in this study further reduced the *Snn2* interval to a genetic distance of 0.10 cM which corresponds to a physical distance of 526,787 bp. The candidate genes for *Snn2* were identified based on the IWGSC RefSeq v1.1 wheat reference genome which was developed using the landrace Chinese Spring. Having a reference genome has made gene cloning much easier than traditional chromosome walking using BACs. However, the infiltration of Chinese Spring with SnTox2-containing culture filtrates showed that it does not have a functional copy of *Snn2*. Recently, several other sequenced wheat genomes also became available under the 10+ wheat genome project. Infiltration of these sequenced wheat lines including Arina, Cadenza, Claire, Jagger, Landmark, Norin61, Paragon, Robigus, Soissons and Stanley revealed that none of them contains a functional copy of *Snn2*. This suggests *Snn2* might be somewhat rare and more difficult to clone despite having a reference genome. The IWGSC Chinese Spring reference genome was used in this study for both marker development and candidate gene identification because it is the most comprehensive and contiguous assembly of the hexaploid wheat genome that was available at the time this study was conducted.

A total of 27 genes were found between the newly identified flanking markers *CSRef2DS* F46R46 and CSRef2DS F56R56. Among them, 13 were identified as plausible candidates because they had domains that are commonly found in disease resistance genes. All the host sensitivity genes cloned in the wheat - P. nodorum pathosystem have domains typically found in common plant disease resistance genes. Tsn1, Snn1 and Snn3-D1 all harbor a serine/threonine protein kinase domain (Faris et al. 2010; Shi et al. 2016b; Faris et al. unpublished). Protein kinases have been found to be important for signaling during pathogen recognition and the subsequent activation of plant defense mechanisms. For example, the resistance genes Pto in tomato and Xa21 in rice each possess a serine/threonine protein kinase domain and confer racespecific resistance against *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato and Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae, respectively (Martin et al. 1993; Song et al. 1995). In addition, Tsn1, the first host sensitivity gene cloned in the wheat - P. nodorum pathosystem, contains NB and LRR domains, which are also commonly found in plant disease resistance genes. The NLR class is considered as the most prevalent type among the R genes identified in plants (Meyers et al. 2003). Plant NLR gene products can recognize pathogen-encoded effectors directly or indirectly to initiate defense responses. For example, Pita is an NLR gene in rice that acts against the effector AVR-Pita from Magnaporthe grisea through direct recognition (Jia et al. 2000). On the contrary, the Arabidopsis RPS2 gene recognizes AvrRpt2 from Pseudomonas syringae in an indirect manner through a guardee protein known as RIN4 (Axtell and Staskawicz 2003; Mackey et al.

2002; Kim et al. 2005). Nine protein kinase-containing genes and four NLR genes were found in the *Snn2* candidate region. None of the genes contain a protein kinase in addition to NB and LRR domains. However, two of the protein kinases (*TraesCS2D02G024900* and

TraesCS2D02G025400) have a major sperm protein domain in addition to the kinase domain and therefore resemble the structure of *Snn3-D1* (Faris et al. unpublished). The candidate genes with the protein kinase domains may be considered strong candidates for *Snn2* as all the previously cloned SNB susceptibility genes have this domain. However, the other genes within the region should not be completely ignored.

One of the biggest challenges of this study was to develop polymorphic markers for genetic mapping. Only 18 markers were found to be polymorphic out of the 184 markers designed in this study. A majority of the markers designed amplified fragments within the target region and were specific to 2DS, but they were not polymorphic between the two parents. This low-level polymorphism has been observed throughout the wheat D genome in many different studies. The number of SNPs mapped in the D genome has been about five-fold lower than that of A and B genome in a consensus map built using six biparental populations and one fourparent multiparent advanced generation intercross (MAGIC) population (Cavanagh et al. 2013). Only 15% of markers in the wheat 90K SNP array were mapped to the D genome in eight double-haploid mapping populations (Wang et al. 2014a). The wheat 90K SNP array was also used in this current study during saturation mapping. However, only 406 SNPs were mapped to the 2D chromosome and only three SNPS (15798, 18107 and 34642) were mapped close to Snn2. Sixteen of the eighteen markers developed were SSRs and among them, six were dominant markers. The remaining two markers were gene-specific markers designed for the candidate genes TraesCS2D02G025700 and TraesCS2D02G026200. Both of those markers were also

dominant markers. Also, six of the seven markers that co-segregated with *Snn2* (*Cg25700 F5R5*, *5390773 F5R5*, *5390773 F10R10*, *CSRef2DS F54R54*, *Cg26700* and *CSRef2DS F55R55*) were dominant markers in which the amplicon was present in BG301 and absent in BR34. This suggests that there might be one or more deletions in BR34 within the *Snn2* candidate region.

Genetic linkage mapping and map-based cloning largely depends on the frequency of recombination events between loci. However, the recombination frequency is not equal along a chromosome. It has been found that recombination frequency is higher towards the ends of a chromosome and in regions close to or within genes in wheat (Darrier et al. 2017; Gardnier et al. 2019). The physical to genetic ratio of the *Snn2* candidate region was 5,268 kb/cM which shows a very low recombination frequency. Therefore, screening of more gametes will be needed to resolve the co-segregating markers in the candidate region.

Currently, the identified candidate genes are being sequenced from the BG301 parent line and the *Snn2*-disrupted EMS-mutants for gene validation. Putative genes will be eliminated as candidates if there are no difference in the sequence for a given gene in BG301 and the mutants. This method would work if Chinese Spring has at least a non-functional copy of *Snn2*. However, if Chinese Spring does not carry the gene, it is possible for none of these candidates to be *Snn2*. In that case, alternative approaches will have to be taken for *Snn2* cloning. New techniques such as MutRenSeq (Steuernagel et al. 2017) and AgRenSeq (Arora et al. 2019) are emerging for rapid cloning of resistance genes. However, both these methods have a bias towards NLR genes and can still be dependent on the reference genome. The traditional chromosome walking approach using a BAC library of BG301 will also be a possible option. A gene complementation study will be conducted to validate the gene function after identifying the most promising candidate gene using the mutant analysis. This information will be useful to increase our

51

understanding of the function, evolution and the molecular mechanisms underlying the wheat -

P. nodorum interactions. Transcriptional expression and phylogenetic analyses will be possible

after the gene validation.

In addition to map-based cloning approach, 120 Aegilops tauschii accessions were

phenotyped with a SnTox2 containing culture filtrate to be used in a genome wide association

study (GWAS). This study would help to narrow down the Snn2 candidate region to a great

extent as the GWAS panel has a higher recombination rate than the bi-parental population used

in the current study.

3.6. References

- Abeysekara NS, Friesen TL, Keller B, Faris JD (2009) Identification and characterization of a novel host-toxin interaction in the wheat-*Stagonospora nodorum* pathosystem. Theor Appl Genet 120:117-126
- Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schäffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, Lipman DJ (1997) Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. Nucleic Acids Res 25:3389–3402. doi: 10.1093/nar/25.17.3389
- Arora S, Steuernagel B, Gaurav K, Chandramohan S, Long Y, Matny O, Johnson R, Enk J, Periyannan S, Singh N, Asyraf Md Hatta M, Athiyannan N, Cheema J, Yu G, Kangara N, Ghosh S, Szabo LJ, Poland J, Bariana H, Jones JDG, Bentley AR, Ayliffe M, Olson E, Xu SS, Steffenson BJ, Lagudah E, Wulff BBH (2019) Resistance gene cloning from a wild crop relative by sequence capture and association genetics. Nat Biotechnol 37:139– 143. doi: 10.1038/s41587-018-0007-9
- Avni R, Nave M, Barad O, Baruch K, Twardziok SO, Gundlach H, Hale I, Mascher M, Spannagl M, Wiebe K, Jordan KW, Golan G, Deek J, Ben-Zvi B, Ben-Zvi G, Himmelbach A, MacLachlan RP, Sharpe AG, Fritz A, Ben-David R, Budak H, Fahima T, Korol A, Faris JD, Hernandez A, Mikel MA, Levy AA, Steffenson B, Maccaferri M, Tuberosa R, Cattivelli L, Faccioli P, Ceriotti A, Kashkush K, Pourkheirandish M, Komatsuda T, Eilam T, Sela H, Sharon A, Ohad N, Chamovitz DA, Mayer KFX, Stein N, Ronen G, Peleg Z, Pozniak CJ, Akhunov ED, Distelfeld A (2017) Wild emmer genome architecture and diversity elucidate wheat evolution and domestication. Science 357:93–97. doi: 10.1126/science.aan0032
- Axtell MJ, Staskawicz BJ (2003) Initiation of RPS2-specified disease resistance in *Arabidopsis* is coupled to the AVRRPT2-directed elimination of RIN4. Cell 112:369–377. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00036-9

- Bockus WW, Bowden RL, Hunger RM, Morrill WL, Murray TD, Smiley RW (2010) Compendium of wheat diseases and pests: Third Edition. American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN
- Brueggeman R, Rostoks N, Kudrna D, Kilian A, Han F, Chen J, Druka A, Steffenson B, Kleinhofs A (2002) The barley stem rust-resistance gene *Rpg1* is a novel diseaseresistance gene with homology to receptor kinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:9328– 9333. doi: 10.1073/pnas.142284999
- Catanzariti AM, Dodds PN, Ve T, Kobe B, Ellis JG, Staskawicz BJ (2010) The AvrM effector from flax rust has a structured C-terminal domain and interacts directly with the M resistance protein. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 23:49–57. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-23-1-0049
- Cavanagh CR, Chao S, Wang S, Huang BE, Stephen S, Kiani S, Forrest K, Saintenac C, Brown-Guedira GL, Akhunova A, See D, Bai G, Pumphrey M, Tomar L, Wong D, Kong S, Reynolds M, da Silva ML, Bockelman H, Talbert L, Anderson JA, Dreisigacker S, Baenziger S, Carter A, Korzun V, Morrell PL, Dubcovsky J, Morell MK, Sorrells ME, Hayden MJ, Akhunov E (2013) Genome-wide comparative diversity uncovers multiple targets of selection for improvement in hexaploid wheat landraces and cultivars. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110:8057–8062. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1217133110
- Cesari S, Bernoux M, Moncuquet P, Kroj T, Dodds PN (2014) A novel conserved mechanism for plant NLR protein pairs: the "integrated decoy" hypothesis. Front Plant Sci 5:606. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2014.00606
- Chisholm ST, Coaker G, Day B, Staskawicz BJ (2006) Host-microbe interactions: shaping the evolution of the plant immune response. Cell 124:803–814. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.008
- Chu CG, Chao S, Friesen TL, Faris JD, Zhong S, Xu SS (2010) Identification of novel tan spot resistance QTLs using an SSR-based linkage map of tetraploid wheat. Mol Breeding 25:327–338. doi: 10.1007/s11032-009-9335-2
- Darrier B, Rimbert H, Balfourier F, Pingault L, Josselin A-A, Servin B, Navarro J, Choulet F, Paux E, Sourdille P (2017) High-resolution mapping of crossover events in the hexaploid wheat genome suggests a universal recombination mechanism. Genetics 206:1373–1388. doi: 10.1534/genetics.116.196014
- Eitas TK, Dangl JL (2010) NB-LRR proteins: pairs, pieces, perception, partners, and pathways. Curr Opin Plant Biol 13:472–477 . doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2010.04.007
- Faris J, Anderson JA, Francl L, Jordahl J (1996) Chromosomal location of a gene conditioning insensitivity in wheat to a necrosis-inducing culture filtrate from *Pyrenophora triticirepentis*. Phytopathology 86:459–463. doi: 10.1094/Phyto-86-459
- Faris JD, Friesen TL (2009) Reevaluation of a tetraploid wheat population indicates that the *Tsn1*–ToxA interaction is the only factor governing Stagonospora nodorum blotch susceptibility. Phytopathology 99:906–912. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-99-8-0906

- Faris JD, Haen KM, Gill BS (2000) Saturation mapping of a gene-rich recombination hot spot region in wheat. Genetics 154:823–835
- Faris JD, Zhang Z, Lu H, Lu S, Reddy L, Cloutier S, Fellers JP, Meinhardt SW, Rasmussen JB, Xu SS, Oliver RP, Simons KJ, Friesen TL (2010) A unique wheat disease resistance-like gene governs effector-triggered susceptibility to necrotrophic pathogens. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:13544–13549. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1004090107
- Flor HH (1956) The complementary genetics systems in flax and flax rust. Adv Genet. 8:29-54
- Friesen T, Zhang Z, Solomon P, Oliver R, Faris J (2008) Characterization of the interaction of a novel *Stagonospora nodorum* host-selective toxin with a wheat susceptibility gene. Plant Physiol 146:682–93. doi: 10.1104/pp.107.108761
- Friesen TL, Chu C, Xu SS, Faris JD (2012) SnTox5–Snn5: a novel Stagonospora nodorum effector–wheat gene interaction and its relationship with the SnToxA–Tsn1 and SnTox3– Snn3–B1 interactions. Mol Plant Pathol 13:1101–1109. doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2012.00819.x
- Friesen TL, Chu CG, Liu ZH, Xu SS, Halley S, Faris JD (2009) Host-selective toxins produced by *Stagonospora nodorum* confer disease susceptibility in adult wheat plants under field conditions. Theor Appl Genet 118:1489–1497. doi: 10.1007/s00122-009-0997-2
- Friesen TL, Faris JD (2010) Characterization of the wheat-*Stagonospora nodorum* disease system: what is the molecular basis of this quantitative necrotrophic disease interaction?. Can J Plant Pathol 32:20–28. doi: 10.1080/07060661003620896
- Friesen TL, Faris JD, Solomon PS, Oliver RP (2008) Host-specific toxins: effectors of necrotrophic pathogenicity. Cell Microbiol 10:1421–1428. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2008.01153.x
- Friesen TL, Meinhardt SW, Faris JD (2007) The *Stagonospora nodorum*-wheat pathosystem involves multiple proteinaceous host-selective toxins and corresponding host sensitivity genes that interact in an inverse gene-for-gene manner. Plant J 51:681–692. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2007.03166.x
- Friesen TL, Stukenbrock EH, Liu Z, Meinhardt S, Ling H, Faris JD, Rasmussen JB, Solomon PS, McDonald BA, Oliver RP (2006) Emergence of a new disease as a result of interspecific virulence gene transfer. Nat Genet 38:953–956. doi: 10.1038/ng1839
- Gao Y, Faris JD, Liu Z, Kim YM, Syme RA, Oliver RP, Xu SS, Friesen TL (2015) Identification and characterization of the SnTox6-*Snn6* interaction in the *Parastagonospora nodorum*wheat pathosystem. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 28:615-625
- Gardiner LJ, Wingen LU, Bailey P, Joynson R, Brabbs T, Wright J, Higgins JD, Hall N, Griffiths S, Clavijo BJ, Hall A (2019) Analysis of the recombination landscape of hexaploid bread wheat reveals genes controlling recombination and gene conversion frequency. Genome Biol 20:69. doi: 10.1186/s13059-019-1675-6

- Gill KS, Gill BS, Endo TR, Boyko EV (1996) Identification and High-Density Mapping of Gene-Rich Regions in Chromosome Group 5 of Wheat. Genetics 143:1001–1012
- IWGSC, Appels R, Eversole K, Stein N, Feuillet C, Keller B, Rogers J, Pozniak CJ, Choulet F, Distelfeld A, Poland J, Ronen G, Sharpe AG, Barad O, Baruch K, Keeble-Gagnère G, Mascher M, Ben-Zvi G, Josselin A-A, Himmelbach A, Balfourier F, Gutierrez-Gonzalez J, Hayden M, Koh C, Muehlbauer G, Pasam RK, Paux E, Rigault P, Tibbits J, Tiwari V, Spannagl M, Lang D, Gundlach H, Haberer G, Mayer KFX, Ormanbekova D, Prade V, Šimková H, Wicker T, Swarbreck D, Rimbert H, Felder M, Guilhot N, Kaithakottil G, Keilwagen J, Leroy P, Lux T, Twardziok S, Venturini L, Juhász A, Abrouk M, Fischer I, Uauy C, Borrill P, Ramirez-Gonzalez RH, Arnaud D, Chalabi S, Chalhoub B, Cory A, Datla R, Davey MW, Jacobs J, Robinson SJ, Steuernagel B, Ex F van, Wulff BBH, Benhamed M, Bendahmane A, Concia L, Latrasse D, Bartoš J, Bellec A, Berges H, Doležel J, Frenkel Z, Gill B, Korol A, Letellier T, Olsen O-A, Singh K, Valárik M, Vossen E van der, Vautrin S, Weining S, Fahima T, Glikson V, Raats D, Číhalíková J, Toegelová H, Vrána J, Sourdille P, Darrier B, Barabaschi D, Cattivelli L, Hernandez P, Galvez S, Budak H, Jones JDG, Witek K, Yu G, Small I, Melonek J, Zhou R, Belova T, Kanyuka K, King R, Nilsen K, Walkowiak S, Cuthbert R, Knox R, Wiebe K, Xiang D, Rohde A, Golds T, Čížková J, Akpinar BA, Biyiklioglu S, Gao L, N'Daiye A, Kubaláková M, Šafář J, Alfama F, Adam-Blondon A-F, Flores R, Guerche C, Loaec M, Quesneville H, Condie J, Ens J, Maclachlan R, Tan Y, Alberti A, Aury J-M, Barbe V, Couloux A, Cruaud C, Labadie K, Mangenot S, Wincker P, Kaur G, Luo M, Sehgal S, Chhuneja P, Gupta OP, Jindal S, Kaur P, Malik P, Sharma P, Yadav B, Singh NK, Khurana JP, Chaudhary C, Khurana P, Kumar V, Mahato A, Mathur S, Sevanthi A, Sharma N, Tomar RS, Holušová K, Plíhal O, Clark MD, Heavens D, Kettleborough G, Wright J, Balcárková B, Hu Y, Salina E, Ravin N, Skryabin K, Beletsky A, Kadnikov V, Mardanov A, Nesterov M, Rakitin A, Sergeeva E, Handa H, Kanamori H, Katagiri S, Kobayashi F, Nasuda S, Tanaka T, Wu J, Cattonaro F, Jiumeng M, Kugler K, Pfeifer M, Sandve S, Xun X, Zhan B, Batley J, Bayer PE, Edwards D, Hayashi S, Tulpová Z, Visendi P, Cui L, Du X, Feng K, Nie X, Tong W, Wang L (2018) Shifting the limits in wheat research and breeding using a fully annotated reference genome. Science 361:eaar7191. doi: 10.1126/science.aar7191
- Jia Y, McAdams SA, Bryan GT, Hershey HP, Valent B (2000) Direct interaction of resistance gene and avirulence gene products confers rice blast resistance. EMBO J 19:4004–4014. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.15.4004
- Jones JDG, Dangl JL (2006) The plant immune system. Nature 444:323–329. doi: 10.1038/nature05286
- Keen NT (1990) Gene-for-gene complementarity in plant-pathogen interactions. Annu Rev Genet 24:447–463. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ge.24.120190.002311
- Kim MG, Cunha L da, McFall AJ, Belkhadir Y, DebRoy S, Dangl JL, Mackey D (2005) Two *Pseudomonas syringae* type III effectors inhibit RIN4-regulated basal defense in *Arabidopsis*. Cell 121:749–759. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.03.025

- Kosambi DD (1944) The estimation of map distances from recombination values. Ann Eugenic 12:172–175.
- Leroy P, Guilhot N, Sakai H, Bernard A, Choulet F, Theil S, Reboux S, Amano N, Flutre T, Pelegrin C, Ohyanagi H, Seidel M, Giacomoni F, Reichstadt M, Alaux M, Gicquello E, Legeai F, Cerutti L, Numa H, Tanaka T, Mayer K, Itoh T, Quesneville H, Feuillet C (2012) TriAnnot: A versatile and high performance pipeline for the automated annotation of plant genomes. Front Plant Sci 3:5. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2012.00005
- Liu Z, Faris J, Meinhardt S, Ali S, Rasmussen JB, Friesen TL (2004a) Genetic and physical mapping of a gene conditioning sensitivity in wheat to a partially purified host-selective toxin produced by *Stagonospora nodorum*. Phytopathology 94:1056–1060. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO.2004.94.10.1056
- Liu Z, Faris JD, Oliver RP, Tan K-C, Solomon PS, McDonald MC, McDonald BA, Nunez A, Lu S, Rasmussen JB, Friesen TL (2009) SnTox3 acts in effector triggered susceptibility to induce disease on wheat carrying the *Snn3* gene. PLoS Pathog 5. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000581
- Liu Z, Friesen TL, Ling H, Meinhardt SW, Oliver RP, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2006) The *Tsn1*-ToxA interaction in the wheat-*Stagonospora nodorum* pathosystem parallels that of the wheat-tan spot system. Genome 49:1265–1273. doi: 10.1139/g06-088
- Liu Z, Zhang Z, Faris JD, Oliver RP, Syme R, McDonald MC, McDonald BA, Solomon PS, Lu S, Shelver WL, Xu S, Friesen TL (2012) The cysteine rich necrotrophic effector SnTox1 produced by *Stagonospora nodorum* triggers susceptibility of wheat lines harboring *Snn1*. PLoS Pathog 8. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002467
- Liu Z, Friesen TL, Rasmussen JB, Ali S, Meinhardt SW, Faris JD (2004b) Quantitative trait loci analysis and mapping of seedling resistance to Stagonospora nodorum leaf blotch in wheat. Phytopathology 94:1061–1067. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO.2004.94.10.1061
- Long YM, Chao WS, Ma GJ, Xu SS, Qi LL (2017) An innovative SNP genotyping method adapting to multiple platforms and throughputs. Theor Appl Genet 130:597–607. doi: 10.1007/s00122-016-2838-4
- Lorang JM, Sweat TA, Wolpert TJ (2007) Plant disease susceptibility conferred by a "resistance" gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:14861–14866. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0702572104
- Lorieux M (2012) MapDisto: fast and efficient computation of genetic linkage maps. Mol Breed 30:1231–1235.
- Luo MC, Gu YQ, Puiu D, Wang H, Twardziok SO, Deal KR, Huo N, Zhu T, Wang L, Wang Y, McGuire PE, Liu S, Long H, Ramasamy RK, Rodriguez JC, Van SL, Yuan L, Wang Z, Xia Z, Xiao L, Anderson OD, Ouyang S, Liang Y, Zimin AV, Pertea G, Qi P, Bennetzen JL, Dai X, Dawson MW, Müller H-G, Kugler K, Rivarola-Duarte L, Spannagl M, Mayer KFX, Lu F-H, Bevan MW, Leroy P, Li P, You FM, Sun Q, Liu Z, Lyons E, Wicker T,

Salzberg SL, Devos KM, Dvořák J (2017) Genome sequence of the progenitor of the wheat D genome *Aegilops tauschii*. Nature 551:498–502. doi: 10.1038/nature24486

- Mackey D, Holt BF, Wiig A, Dangl JL (2002) RIN4 interacts with *Pseudomonas syringae* type III effector molecules and is required for RPM1-mediated resistance in *Arabidopsis*. Cell 108:743–754. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00661-X
- Martin G, Brommonschenkel S, Chunwongse J, Frary A, Ganal M, Spivey R, Wu T, Earle E, Tanksley S (1993) Map-based cloning of a protein kinase gene conferring disease resistance in tomato. Science 262:1432–1436
- Meyers BC, Kozik A, Griego A, Kuang H, Michelmore RW (2003) Genome-wide analysis of NBS-LRR–encoding genes in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 15:809–834. doi: 10.1105/tpc.009308
- Nagy ED, Bennetzen JL (2008) Pathogen corruption and site-directed recombination at a plant disease resistance gene cluster. Genome res 18:1918–1923. doi: 10.1101/gr.078766.108
- Oliver RP, Friesen TL, Faris JD, Solomon PS (2012) *Stagonospora nodorum*: from pathology to genomics and host resistance. Annu Rev Phytopathol 50:23–43. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-081211-173019
- Pallotta MA, Warner P, Fox RL, Kuchel H, Jefferies SJ, Langridge P (2003) Marker assisted wheat breeding in the southern region of Australia. In: Pogna NE, Romano M, Pogna EA, Galterio Z (eds): Proceedings of the 10th International Wheat Genetics Symposium, Paestum, Italy, 1-6 September, 2003. Instituto Sperimentale per la Cerealicoltura, p 789-791
- Petit-Houdenot Y, Fudal I (2017) Complex interactions between fungal avirulence genes and their corresponding plant resistance genes and consequences for disease resistance management. Front Plant Sci 8. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017.01072
- Quaedvlieg W, Verkley GJM, Shin H-D, Barreto RW, Alfenas AC, Swart WJ, Groenewald JZ, Crous PW (2013) Sizing up *Septoria*. Stud Mycol 75:307–390. doi: 10.3114/sim0017
- Reddy L, Friesen TL, Meinhardt SW, Chao S, Faris JD (2008) Genomic analysis of the *Snn1* locus on wheat chromosome arm 1BS and the identification of candidate genes. Plant Genome 1:55–66. doi: 10.3835/plantgenome2008.03.0181
- Rozen S, Skaletsky H (2000) Primer3 on the WWW for general users and for biologist programmers. Methods Mol Biol 132:365–386. doi: 10.1385/1-59259-192-2:365
- Sarris PF, Duxbury Z, Huh SU, Ma Y, Segonzac C, Sklenar J, Derbyshire P, Cevik V, Rallapalli G, Saucet SB, Wirthmueller L, Menke FLH, Sohn KH, Jones JDG (2015) A plant immune receptor detects pathogen effectors that target WRKY transcription factors. Cell 161:1089–1100. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.04.024

- Schmidt R, West J, Love K, Lenehan Z, Lister C, Thompson H, Bouchez D, Dean C (1995) Physical map and organization of *Arabidopsis thaliana* chromosome 4. Science 270:480– 483. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5235.480
- Shi G, Friesen TL, Saini J, Xu SS, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2015) The wheat Snn7 gene confers susceptibility on recognition of the Parastagonospora nodorum necrotrophic effector SnTox7. Plant Genome 8. doi: 10.3835/plantgenome2015.02.0007
- Shi G, Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Bansal U, Cloutier S, Wicker T, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2016a) Marker development, saturation mapping, and high-resolution mapping of the Septoria nodorum blotch susceptibility gene *Snn3-B1* in wheat. Mol Genet Genomics 291:107– 119. doi: 10.1007/s00438-015-1091-x
- Shi G, Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Raats D, Fahima T, Brueggeman RS, Lu S, Trick HN, Liu Z, Chao W, Frenkel Z, Xu SS, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2016b) The hijacking of a receptor kinase–driven pathway by a wheat fungal pathogen leads to disease. Sci Adv 2. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1600822
- Song WY, Wang GL, Chen LL, Kim HS, Pi LY, Holsten T, Gardner J, Wang B, Zhai WX, Zhu LH, Fauquet C, Ronald P (1995) A receptor kinase-like protein encoded by the rice disease resistance gene, *Xa21*. Science 270:1804–1806. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5243.1804
- Steinbrenner AD, Goritschnig S, Staskawicz BJ (2015) Recognition and activation domains contribute to allele-specific responses of an *Arabidopsis* NLR receptor to an oomycete effector protein. PLoS Pathog 11:e1004665. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004665
- Steuernagel B, Witek K, Jones JDG, Wulff BBH (2017) MutRenSeq: A method for rapid cloning of plant disease resistance genes. In: Periyannan S (ed) Wheat Rust Diseases: Methods and Protocols. Springer New York, New York, NY, pp 215–229
- Thomma BP, Penninckx IA, Cammue BP, Broekaert WF (2001) The complexity of disease signaling in *Arabidopsis*. Curr Opin Immunol 13:63–68. doi: 10.1016/S0952-7915(00)00183-7
- Tsuda K, Katagiri F (2010) Comparing signaling mechanisms engaged in pattern-triggered and effector-triggered immunity. Curr Opin Plant Biol 13:459–465. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2010.04.006
- van der Hoorn RAL, Kamoun S (2008) From guard to decoy: a new model for perception of plant pathogen effectors. Plant Cell 20:2009–2017. doi: 10.1105/tpc.108.060194
- Wang S, Wong D, Forrest K, Allen A, Chao S, Huang BE, Maccaferri M, Salvi S, Milner SG, Cattivelli L, Mastrangelo AM, Whan A, Stephen S, Barker G, Wieseke R, Plieske J, International Wheat Genome Sequencing Consortium, Lillemo M, Mather D, Appels R, Dolferus R, Brown-Guedira G, Korol A, Akhunova AR, Feuillet C, Salse J, Morgante M, Pozniak C, Luo M-C, Dvorak J, Morell M, Dubcovsky J, Ganal M, Tuberosa R, Lawley C, Mikoulitch I, Cavanagh C, Edwards KJ, Hayden M, Akhunov E (2014a)

Characterization of polyploid wheat genomic diversity using a high-density 90 000 single nucleotide polymorphism array. Plant Biotechnol J 12:787–796. doi: 10.1111/pbi.12183

- Wang X, Jiang N, Liu J, Liu W, Wang GL (2014b) The role of effectors and host immunity in plant–necrotrophic fungal interactions. Virulence 5:722–732. doi: 10.4161/viru.29798
- Williams ND, Miller JD, Klindworth DL (1992) Induced mutations of a genetic suppressor of resistance to wheat stem rust. Crop Sci 32:612–616.
- Xu S, Friesen T, Mujeeb-Kazi A (2004) Seedling resistance to tan spot and Stagonospora nodorum blotch in synthetic hexaploid wheats. Crop Sci 44:2238–2245. doi: 10.2135/cropsci2004.2238
- Ye J, Coulouris G, Zaretskaya I, Cutcutache I, Rozen S, Madden TL (2012) Primer-BLAST: a tool to design target-specific primers for polymerase chain reaction. BMC Bioinformatics 13:134. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-13-134
- Zhang R, Zheng F, Wei S, Zhang S, Li G, Cao P, Zhao S (2019) Evolution of disease defense genes and their regulators in plants. Int J Mol Sci 20. doi: 10.3390/ijms20020335
- Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Simons KJ, Xu SS, Faris JD (2009) Development, identification, and validation of markers for marker-assisted selection against the *Stagonospora nodorum* toxin sensitivity genes *Tsn1* and *Snn2* in wheat. Mol Breeding 23:35–49. doi: 10.1007/s11032-008-9211-5
- Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Xu SS, Shi G, Liu Z, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2011) Two putatively homoeologous wheat genes mediate recognition of SnTox3 to confer effector-triggered susceptibility to *Stagonospora nodorum*. Plant J 65:27–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2010.04407.x
- Zipfel C (2009) Early molecular events in PAMP-triggered immunity. Curr Opin Plant Biol 12:414–420. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2009.06.003

CHAPTER 4. CHARACTERIZATION OF ALLELIC VARIATION IN THE *SNN1* GENE 4.1. Abstract

Septoria nodorum blotch (SNB) is a severe foliar and glume disease of durum and common wheat. Disease is initiated by the interaction of necrotrophic effectors (NE) produced by the fungus *Parastagonospora nodorum* and host sensitivity genes in an inverse gene-for-gene manner. To date, nine NE sensitivity genes have been identified in the wheat-P. nodorum pathosystem. Among them, the SnTox1-Snn1 interaction accounts for up to 58% of the disease variation. Snn1 is a member of the wall-associated kinase (WAK) class of plant receptor kinases. The objectives of this study were to analyze *Snn1* allelic diversity, identify causal polymorphisms, and to develop markers useful for marker assisted selection (MAS). The full length Snn1 gene was sequenced from 70 accessions including diploid, tetraploid and hexaploid wheat species. Multiple sequence alignments revealed 27 haplotypes based on the coding sequence of the gene. Three SNPs were identified as the possible mutations that changed the primitive insensitive allele in wild emmer into the sensitive allele in domesticated wheat. Four subsequent and independent SNPs that caused the sensitive allele to form insensitive alleles were also identified. SNP-based markers were developed for three of these mutations. Results of this study help to develop more specific markers to be used in marker-assisted selection and increase our understanding of the NE sensitivity gene evolution.

4.2. Introduction

Wheat is a major source of sustenance throughout the world and possesses a large market share (FAO 2019). Therefore, factors that affect wheat yield and quality have a significant impact on the agricultural economy. Studies have indicated that global climate change leading to increased ozone levels could promote the colonizing of plants by necrotrophs at an accelerated rate (Manning et al. 1995). Therefore, it is important to improve our knowledge of hostnecrotroph interactions.

Many necrotrophs produce necrotrophic effectors (NEs), which are effectors of pathogenicity (Wang et al. 2014b). NEs are toxic only to host genotypes that express a corresponding gene that recognizes the NE. Such host genes operate as dominant disease susceptibility genes. In these systems, the presence of a pathogen-produced NE and the corresponding dominant host gene for sensitivity leads to a compatible interaction, and ultimately, disease susceptibility (Wang et al. 2014; Oliver et al. 2012). This is the inverse of the classic gene-for-gene interaction commonly observed in plant-biotroph interactions (Friesen and Faris 2010).

A total of nine sensitivity genes that interact with NEs produced by *P. nodorum* have been identified (Friesen et al. 2006; Liu et al. 2006; Faris et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2004a, 2012; Reddy et al. 2008; Friesen et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2009; Friesen et al. 2008; Liu et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2011; Abeysekara et al. 2009; Friesen et al. 2012; Gao et al. 2015; Shi et al. 2015). However, only three of them (*Tsn1*, *Snn1*, *Snn3-D1*) have been cloned so far (Faris et al. 2010; Shi et al. 2016b; Faris et al. unpublished). All three genes have characteristics typically found in genes that typically govern disease resistance. SnTox1-*Snn1* was the first NE-sensitivity gene interaction that was identified and *Snn1* was the second host sensitivity gene cloned in the wheat-*P. nodorum* pathosystem (Liu et al. 2004a; Shi et al. 2016b). A compatible SnTox1-*Snn1* interaction leads to defense responses including an oxidative burst, up-regulation of PR-genes, and DNA laddering (Liu et al. 2012). Transcription expression analysis revealed that the *Snn1-*SnTox1 interaction activated TaMAPK3, which belonged to the family of MAPK genes that are typically associated with the PTI pathway (Couto and Zipfel 2016; Shi et al. 2016b).

The host sensitivity gene Snn1 was mapped to chromosome arm 1BS using the ITMI population (Liu et al. 2004a). Saturation and high-resolution mapping performed using a population derived from a cross between Chinese Spring (CS) and a CS-T. dicoccoides chromosome 1B disomic substitution line (Reddy et al. 2008). Shi et al (2016b) cloned Snn1 using the same population by positional cloning and validated by mutagenesis and transgenesis approaches. Snn1 is 3045 bp in length and consists of 3 exons and a coding region of 2145 bp. It encodes a protein that contains a signal sequence, a wall-associated receptor kinase galacturonan binding domain (GUB WAK), epidermal growth factor-calcium binding domain (EGF CA) a transmembrane domain and a serine/threonine protein kinase (S/TPK) domain and is therefore a member of the wall-associated kinase (WAK) class of receptor kinase genes, which typically act as pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) for damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and activate PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI) (Brutus et al. 2010; Delteil et al. 2016). A yeast two-hybrid assay revealed that SnTox1 directly binds to a region between the GUB WAK and EGF CA domains. To date, this is the only direct interaction observed in this pathosystem (Shi et al. 2016b, Chapter 2).

Multiple studies have been done to discover resistance gene variants to be used in breeding programs through allele mining. Allele mining is a process of identification and isolation of alleles of a gene responsible for a given trait(s) and their variants in other genotypes (Thakur et al. 2013). It is important to understand the evolutionary forces of selection to allow breeders to directly access key alleles that confer resistance. In this study, my objectives were to determine the level of natural and induced allelic variation in the *Snn1* gene, identify natural and induced mutations that affect a compatible SnTox1-*Snn1* interaction, and developed allele-specific markers to be used in marker-assisted selection.

62
4.3. Materials and methods

4.3.1. Plant materials

A total of 70 wheat accessions that included ten accessions of *Triticum aestivum* L. ssp. *aestivum*, 42 accessions of *T. turgidum* ssp. *durum*, two accessions of *T. aestivum* ssp. *macha*, two accessions of *T. aestivum* ssp. *compactum*, ten accessions of *T. turgidum* ssp. *dicoccum*, three accessions of *T. turgidum* ssp. *dicoccoides* and one accession of *Aegilops speltoides* ssp. *ligustica* were used for the haplotype analysis (Appendix A). Shi et al. (2016b) found that the functional SnTox1-sensitivity allele is more prevalent in domesticated durum wheat (*T. turgidum* ssp. *drurum*) with 65.91% of the evaluated accessions being sensitive as opposed to only 9.86% of common wheat (*T. aestivum* ssp. *aestivum*) accessions being sensitive (Appendix B). Therefore, more durum wheat lines (42) were included in this study to increase the identification of different haplotypes of *Snn1*. Also, accessions were selected from different parts of the world to increase the diversity of the population.

A total of 69 ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS)-mutants from the targeting induced local lesions in genomes (TILLING) population of *T. turgidum* ssp. *durum* cv. Kronos (Krasileva et al. 2017) were evaluated to determine the effects of mutations on reaction to SnTox1. To identify the mutants for analysis, the *Snn1* genomic sequence was subjected to BLAST searches against the Kronos TILLING database at http://dubcovskylab.ucdavis.edu/wheat_blast, and the inbuilt Jbrowse was used to identify the available mutants with mutations in the target region. The mutants were evaluated as described below.

4.3.2. Fungal culture production

A *Pichia pastoris* culture expressing SnTox1 was started in yeast extract-peptonedextrose (YPD, 2 mL) medium from a frozen stock and incubated at 30°C for 48 hours with vigorous shaking. The resulting culture was diluted 1:100 and sub-cultured in new YPD medium (250 mL). It was then incubated at 30°C for another 48 hours with vigorous shaking. The SnTox1-containing cultures were harvested by subjecting the culture to centrifugation at 4000 g for ten minutes followed by filtration through a 0.45-µm Whatman cellulose nitrate filter.

4.3.3. Phenotyping and statistical analysis

A total of six replicates were grown in a completely randomized design (CRD). Each replicate consisted of plants grown in small plastic cones with three plants per cone to represent a single experimental unit. Plants were infiltrated with SnTox1 at the second leaf stage as described in Liu et al. (2004b). The fully expanded secondary leaves of the plants were infiltrated with 25 µl of the SnTox1 culture using a 1 mL syringe with the needle removed. The boundaries of the infiltration sites were marked before water-soaking disappeared. After infiltration, all plants were grown at 21 °C with a 12-h photoperiod. Leaves were evaluated 5 days after infiltration and scored for severity of necrosis within the infiltrated area.

An expanded scoring scale, which included seven categories (0, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, 2.5, 3.0), was developed for rating SnTox1 sensitivity levels based on the one defined by Zhang et al. (2011) (Figure 4.1). The scores 0, 1.0, 2.0 and 3.0 were same as the ones defined by Zhang et al. (2011) where 0 = no visible necrosis; 1.0 = mottled necrosis extending to the boundaries of the infiltrated area; 2.0 = highly visible necrosis with little mottling extending to the boundaries of the infiltrated area without complete tissue collapse and little or no shriveling or narrowing of the leaf within the infiltrated region; and 3.0 = extensive and severe necrosis throughout the entire infiltrated area with complete tissue collapse and shriveling or narrowing of the leaf within the infiltrated region. Scores of 0.5, 1.5 and 2.5 were newly added to the scale to represent sensitivity levels that were intermediate between 0 - 1.0, 1.0 - 2.0 and 2.0 - 3.0, respectively. A

score ≤ 1.0 was considered as an insensitive phenotype and a score > 1.0 was considered as a sensitive phenotype.

Bartlett's test for homogeneity of variances (Snedecor and Cochran 1989) and analysis of variance was conducted using RStudio Version 1.1.442 (RStudio). Fisher's protected least significant difference (LSD) was also calculated at an α level of 0.05 to identify significant differences of the phenotypic scores among lines.



Figure 4.1. The scoring scale used for phenotyping wheat leaves after infiltration with SnTox1. A score of 0 indicates an insensitive response and a score of 3.0 indicates a severely sensitive response.

4.3.4. Identification of lines with two copies of Snn1

In work previously done by Shi et al. (unpublished), sequencing of *Snn1* and analysis of the sequencing reads revealed that some lines contained double peaks in chromatograms of sequence reads, mostly at one position (127). This indicated that two copies of the gene existed and were being amplified. A 4-bp cutter restriction enzyme (*Hpy*CH4IV) that detected the SNP (G127A) was identified. It was used to develop a CAPS marker for *Snn1* to test all lines to be sequenced in an effort to identify lines with two copies of the gene (Shi et al. unpublished). This

CAPS marker was designated as *fcp667* and was amplified using primers *3476283F9* and *3476283R3* reported in Shi et al. (2016b).

Each polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was conducted using a total volume of 10 µl consisting of 2 µl of template DNA, 1X PCR buffer, 1 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM dNTPs, 4 pmol of the primers and 0.5 units of homemade Taq DNA polymerase. The PCR conditions were initial denaturation at 94 °C for 5 min, followed by 35 cycles of 94 °C for 30 s, an annealing temperature for 30 s started at 60.8 °C with 0.2 °C decrements at each cycle, and extension at 72 °C for 90 s, followed by a final extension of 72 °C for 7 min. The restriction enzyme digestion was conducted in a total volume of 17 µl consisting of 10 units of the restriction enzyme, 2 µl of 10X CutSmart buffer (New England BioLabs Incorporation) and 10 µl of the PCR product. Digested product was electrophoresed on 1.5 % agarose gels for 60 minutes at 90 V and the banding pattern was used to identify the lines with two copies of *Snn1* (Figure 4.2). It was later found that although most lines with two copies of Snn1 had the SNP at position 127 bp, there were others with two copies that did not differ at position 127 bp and instead had SNPs at other positions. Therefore, fcp667 was not completely diagnostic for the presence of two copies of Snn1, and some additional sequencing was needed to characterize the gene in two-copy accessions not harboring the SNP at 127 bp.



Figure 4.2. Restriction enzyme digestion profiles of PCR products amplified from genomic DNA using the CAPs marker *fcp667*. Fragments are separated on a 1.5% agarose gel. Lanes 1, 2 and 3 contain digested PCR products from an accession with two copies of *Snn1*, an accession with copy 1 of *Snn1*, and an accession with copy 2 of *Snn1*, respectively.

4.3.5. Polymerase chain reaction and sequencing

4.3.5.1. Sequencing the lines with two copies of the gene

If *fcp667* did reveal the presence of two copies through cleavage of the amplicon, we did the following to separately sequence the two copies. The full-length genomic sequence of *Snn1* was amplified from the identified lines using the primers *3476283R3* and *3UTRF4* reported in Shi et al. (2016b). PCR was done for a total volume of 30 µl consisting of 2.5 µl of template DNA, 1X PCR buffer, 1 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM dNTPs, 4 pmol of the primers and 0.5 units of Biolase Taq DNA polymerase (Bioline USA Inc.). The PCR reaction had two phases. In phase 1, the conditions were initial denaturation at 94 °C for 5 min, followed by 5 cycles of 94 °C for 30 s, annealing temperature of 58 °C for 30 s, and extension at 72 °C for 90 s. Then it was immediately followed by phase two with 30 cycles of 94 °C for 30 s, the annealing temperature started at 60.8 °C for 30 s with 0.2 °C decrements at each cycle, and extension at 72 °C for 90 s, followed by a final extension of 72 °C for 7 min. At least two independent PCR reactions for each fragment were performed to identify PCR errors. PCR amplicons were electrophoresed on 1.5 % agarose gels for 60 minutes at 90 V. The amplified fragment was excised from the gel and purified using the Wizard ® SV gel and PCR Clean Up System from Promega (Madison, WI). Each purified product was ligated to the pDrive cloning vector from QIAGEN PCR cloning kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) and transformed into NEB 5- α competent *E. coli* cells (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA). Bluewhite selection with X-gal was used to identify positive colonies that contained the ligated vector. Colonies containing copy 1 and colonies with copy 2 were differentiated by PCR followed by restriction digestion for five colonies for each cloning reaction. At least two colonies from each type were then cultured in 2.5 mL liquid LB media with carbenicillin for 12-16 hours. Plasmid DNA was extracted from cells using the QIAprep spin Miniprep kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) and sent to Eurofins MWG Operon (Louisville, KY) for Sanger sequencing. Each clone was sequenced using four primer pairs that amplified overlapping fragments as reported in Shi et al. (2016b).

Total RNA was isolated from leaf tissue of the lines with two copies and used for cDNA synthesis as described by Faris et al. (2010). The cDNA was amplified using the primers reported in Shi et al. (2016b). The amplicons were sequenced and compared with the corresponding genomic sequence to identify the expressed copy.

4.3.5.2. Sequencing the lines with one copy of the gene

If *fcp667* indicated that a line carried a single copy of *Snn1*, i.e. it did not cleave the PCR product, it was sequenced as follows. Four overlapping fragments representing the complete gene were amplified from the lines with only one copy using the primers reported in Shi et al. (2016b). At least two independent PCR reactions for each fragment were sequenced to eliminate

PCR and sequencing errors. The chromatograms of the resulting sequence reads were checked for the presence of double peaks to identify lines with two copies that could not be identified by *fcp667*. If none were observed, then we assumed that there was a single copy present.

4.3.5.3. Sequencing the lines with two copies of the gene that were not identified by the CAPs marker

If double peaks were observed in sequencing reads of a line that was not revealed to have two copies based on the *fcp667* CAPs marker, the two copies were sequenced as follows. The full-length genomic sequence of *Snn1* was amplified and cloned in *E. coli* cells (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA) from the identified lines as described in 4.3.5.1. Blue-white selection with X-gal was used to identify positive colonies that contained the ligated vector. Multiple positive colonies were cultured separately in liquid LB medium (2.5 mL) with carbenicillin for 12-16 hours. Plasmid DNA was extracted from cells using the QIAprep spin Miniprep kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) and sent to Eurofins MWG Operon (Louisville, KY) for Sanger sequencing. Resulting sequencing reads were compared with those obtained before cloning (See 4.3.5.2) and the nucleotides at the positions where double peaks were observed were used to separate the two copies. Plasmid DNA was extracted and sequenced from multiple colonies until three replicates of each *Snn1* copy were obtained.

4.3.6. Sequence data analysis

Sequence reads were assembled into contigs for each accession using the software CodonCode V7.1.2 (CodonCode corporation). The predicted amino acid sequences were generated from the contigs using ExPASy translation tool (Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics). Multiple sequence alignments were generated using MUSCLE (Edgar 2004) in MEGA v7.0 (Kumar et al. 2016) for both genomic and deduced amino acid sequences. The phylogenetic tree was constructed using the Neighbor Joining method using the p distance model with pairwisedeletion option in MEGA v7.0. Confidence values for branch nodes were calculated using 1000 bootstraps. Haplotype analysis, nucleotide diversity analysis (Nei 1987), Tajima (Tajima 1989) and Fu and Li (Fu and Li 1993) neutrality tests were performed using DnaSP v5 (Librado and Rozas 2009) (Significance P < 0.05). SIFT scores of the critical SNPs were calculated using the Ensemble Variant Effect Predictor (McLaren et al. 2016).

4.3.7. Marker development

Diagnostic dCAPS markers were developed for the identified critical SNPs using dCAPS Finder 2.0 (Neff et al. 2002). Primers containing one or more mismatches to the template DNA were designed in a way that they introduce or disrupt a restriction enzyme recognition site at the target site. PCR and restriction enzyme digestion conditions were as described in 4.3.4. The resulting products were subjected to electrophoresis on 6 % polyacrylamide gels for 1 hour, stained with GelRed stain, and visualized with a Typhoon 9500 variable mode imager (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Piscataway, NJ).

4.3.8. Analysis of Kronos mutants

Three plants from each mutant line were used to confirm the presence of the expected mutation. This was done by amplification and sequencing of fragments expected to have mutations. Chromatograms of the sequence reads were studied to identify the lines with mutations that were homozygous at the target site using the software Sequencher v4.8 (Gene Codes Corporation). Mutants with homozygous mutations were self-pollinated to increase seeds and the seeds from the progenies were used in the phenotypic analysis. A total of six replicates were grown in a completely randomized design. Each replicate consisted of plants grown in small plastic cones with three plants per cone to represent a single experimental unit. Plants were

infiltrated with a purified SnTox1 at the second leaf stage as described in Liu et al. (2004b) and scored according to the scoring scale developed in this study.

4.4. Results

4.4.1. Reaction of the 70 wheat lines to SnTox1

Screening of the wheat accessions with SnTox1 showed that different lines had different levels of sensitivity to SnTox1. Bartlett's Chi-squared test for homogeneity of variances showed that the variance among the six replicates was not significantly different ($\chi^2_{df=5} = 6.8537$, P = 0.2318). Therefore, means were combined for further analysis. According to the analysis of variance, mean phenotypic scores were significantly different among the accessions [Pr (>F) = 2.2e⁻¹⁶]. LSD data are shown in Table 4.1. A majority of the 70 accessions had phenotypic scores between 0.0 and 0.5 or between 2.1 and 2.5 (Figure 4.3). Lines with scores ≤ 1.0 were considered as insensitive and lines with scores > 1.0 were considered as a sensitive.



Figure 4.3. Number of accessions present in each phenotypic group. A score ≤ 1.0 was considered as insensitive and a score > 1.0 was considered as sensitive.

4.4.2. Analysis of Snn1 copy number and expression in the 70 wheat lines

Among the 70 lines studied, 46 had only one copy and 24 had two copies of *Snn1*. Two SNPs that were different in the two copies of most lines were identified by sequence alignment (G127A and A264G). Both are located in the coding region of the gene. G127A encodes a missense variant V43I, and A264G is a synonymous mutation. These two SNPs were used to differentiate the two copies as copy 1 and copy 2 if the mutation was present. Copy 1 had an A at position 127 and a G at position 264. Copy 2 had a G at position 127 and an A at position 264. Five lines in which both copies had A at position 127 and G at 264 were observed (Opata85, Renan, Langdon, N-85, *T. dicoccum* 42). These were the lines where the presence of two copies could not be identified using the marker *fcp667*. For those lines in which SNP G127A was absent, each copy was assigned as copy 1 or copy 2 arbitrarily.

Sequencing of cDNA revealed that when two copies were present only one copy was expressed. Except for *T. dicoccum* 58, all the lines contained two copies had copy 1 expressed. Among lines that possessed only one copy, either copy 1 or copy 2 was expressed depending on which copy was present. Nineteen lines with copy 1 and 27 lines with copy 2 were found to be expressed among the lines with one copy of *Snn1* (Table 4.1).

			Average	
	Number of	Expressed	phenotypic	Amino acid
Accession	copies	copy	score ^a	haplotype
Faia	2	Copy 1	3.00	AA Han 14
T dicoccum 178	2	Copy 1	2 94	AA Han 14
Trinakria	1	Copy 1 Copy 2	2.94	AA Han 8
CHEN 7	1	Copy 2	2.83	$\Delta \Delta$ Han 8
Connelli	1	Copy 2	2.85	AA Hop 8
Macha da Espiga Quadrada	1	Copy 1	2.79	$AA_Hap 14$
Altor 84	1	Copy 1	2.79	AA Hop 7
Altal 64	1	Copy 2	2.07	AA_Hap /
Dulau Ded Equation	1	Copy 2	2.07	
	2	Copy 1	2.07	
Agaillia Di-lati Clabas DD 2	1	Copy 2	2.38	
BISKEI Glabre KP 2	1	Copy 2	2.54	AA_Hap 8
12:01-81-31-281-2B-21	1	Copy 2	2.50	AA_Hap 8
Rurik	2	Copy I	2.50	AA_Hap 14
Vallelunga Glabra	1	Copy I	2.50	AA_Hap 14
T. dicoccum 135	2	Copy I	2.46	AA_Hap 14
Sora	1	Copy 2	2.43	AA_Hap 8
Rieti	2	Copy 1	2.42	AA_Hap 14
Croc I	1	Copy 2	2.39	AA_Hap 8
Iumillo	2	Copy 1	2.39	AA_Hap 14
Golden Ball	2	Copy 1	2.36	AA_Hap 14
Bidi 17	1	Copy 2	2.33	AA_Hap 8
Mahmoudi Ag	1	Copy 2	2.32	AA_Hap 8
Indian Runner	1	Copy 1	2.25	AA_Hap 21
Mountrail	1	Copy 2	2.25	AA_Hap 8
Souri	1	Copy 1	2.25	AA_Hap 21
Wales	1	Copy 2	2.17	AA_Hap 8
Svevo	1	Copy 2	2.14	AA_Hap 8
Ble Dur	1	Copy 1	2.08	AA_Hap 21
T. dicoccum 63	2	Copy 1	2.08	AA_Hap 14
Kronos	1	Copy 2	2.06	AA_Hap 8
Chinese Spring	1	Copy 1	2.03	AA_Hap 14
Laidley	1	Copy 2	2.03	AA_Hap 8
Maier	1	Copy 2	2.00	AA Hap 8
Yar	1	Copy 2	2.00	AA Hap 8
Adjini AC 1	2	Copy 1	1.94	AA Hap 14
DN-2378	1	Copy 2	1.93	AA Hap 8
Dverd 2	1	Copy 2	1.92	AA Hap 8
Volo	2	Copy 1	1.82	AA Hap 14
G532	1	Copy 2	1.67	AA Hap 8
Termok	2	Copy 1	1.58	AA Hap 14
Falcin 1	1	Copy 2	1.50	AA Hap 8
Botno	2	Copy 1	1.10	AA Hap 20
Kubanka	2	Copy 1	0.97	AA Hap 20
T dicoccum 177	1	Copy 1	0.78	AA Hap 13
Grandin	1	Copy 2	0.78	AA Han 9
Ben	1	Copy 2	0.71	$\Delta \Delta$ Hap 12
Cotrone	1	Copy 1	0.69	$\Delta \Delta$ Han 17
Divide	2	Copy 1	0.60	$\Delta \Delta$ Han 17
Amery	∠ 1	Copy 1	0.54	$\Lambda \Lambda$ Hap 10
Hope	1	Copy 2	0.54	$\Lambda \Lambda$ Hap 0
Langdon ^b	2	Copy 2	0.33	$\Delta \Delta$ Hap 12
Languon	2	сору і	0.44	АА_пар 12

Table 4.1. *Snn1* copy number and expression.

Accession	Number of	Expressed	Average phenotypic	Amino acid
	2	Copy 1		
Ajala 9 Timatain	2	Copy 1	0.42	AA_Hap 15
	1	Copy 2	0.42	АА_пар 9
T. dicoccum 119	1	Copy I	0.39	AA_Hap 13
T. dicoccum 120	1	Copy 1	0.36	AA_Hap 13
Renan ^b	2	Copy 1	0.31	AA_Hap 12
T. dicoccum 36	1	Copy 1	0.29	AA_Hap 13
<i>T. dicoccum</i> 42 ^b	2	Copy 1	0.28	AA_Hap 6
T. dicoccum 58	2	Copy 2	0.28	AA_Hap 5
T. dicoccum 10	1	Copy 1	0.25	AA_Hap 13
FHB4512	2	Copy 1	0.22	AA_Hap 15
Negro	1	Copy 1	0.22	AA_Hap 16
T. dicoccoides 10	1	Copy 1	0.08	AA_Hap 2
Kahla	1	Copy 1	0.04	AA_Hap 19
Ae speltoides 92	1	Copy 1	0.00	AA_Hap 1
N-85 ^b	2	Copy 1	0.00	AA_Hap 15
Novo	2	Copy 1	0.00	AA_Hap 11
Opata 85 ^b	2	Copy 1	0.00	AA_Hap 18
T. dicoccoides 13	1	Copy 1	0.00	AA_Hap 4
T. dicoccoides 27	1	Copy 1	0.00	AA_Hap 3

Table 4.1. *Snn1* copy number and expression (continued).

^a Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) of average phenotypic scores was 0.469 at the 0.05 level of probability.

^bCopy 1 and copy 2 were assigned arbitrarily because the SNP G127A was absent.

4.4.3. Nucleotide diversity and haplotype analysis

Analysis of the full-length coding sequence revealed 144 SNPs defining 38 haplotypes with a haplotype diversity (Hd) = 0.919 (Table 4.2). The alignments of the coding region of the expressed copies of the gene identified 68 SNPs that correspond to 42 amino acid changes. These polymorphisms represent 27 coding sequence haplotypes (CDS_Haps) (Figure 4.4) based on the nucleotide sequences with a haplotype diversity of 0.905 (Table 4.1). This corresponds to 21 haplotypes based on the predicted amino acid sequences (Figure 4.5). The most frequent haplotype, CDS_Hap8, was identified in 19 out of the 70 accessions. According to the reaction to SnTox1, nine haplotypes were associated with the sensitive phenotype and 18 haplotypes were associated with the insensitive phenotype.

A comparative analysis revealed high levels of nucleotide diversity in *Snn1*. The average number of nucleotide differences (K) was 9.04679 (Table 4.2). The overall nucleotide diversity

(π) was 0.00298, and the overall nucleotide polymorphism (θ w) was 0.00942. The highest level of nucleotide diversity was in the first intron, which had a value of 0.0091. This nucleotide polymorphism level in intron 1 was more than threefold higher than the level observed in the other regions. In addition, the genetic variability of the *Snn1* gene was evaluated using the Tajima's D and the Fu and Li neutrality tests to determine if the target *Snn1* gene sequence fits the neutrality model of evolution. According to the results, the Tajima's D and Fu and Li's D and F values for the full genomic region of *Snn1* were negative. However, neutrality tests were not significant (P < 0.05) for exon 2.

Table 4.2. Nucleotide diversity and neutrality test of different regions along the *Snn1* gene.

	Fragment				Fu and Li's	Fu and Li's		
Region	length	π	$\theta \mathbf{w}$	Tajima' D	D	F	Κ	HD
Full gene	3045	0.00298	0.00942	-2.37537*	-6.57698*	-5.86209*	9.04679	0.919
Coding region	2145	0.00237	0.00658	-2.15187*	-5.40327*	-4.94689*	5.08447	0.905
Exon1	991	0.00331	0.00713	-1.72179	-4.56544*	-4.17623*	3.27619	0.856
Intron1	93	0.00910	0.06158	-2.73140*	-7.03900*	-6.48974*	0.82774	0.084
Exon2	165	0.00169	0.00629	-1.65756	-0.96041	-1.38980	0.27909	0.239
Intron2	807	0.00390	0.01110	-2.12419*	-5.58455*	-5.09799*	3.13458	0.828
Exon3	989	0.00155	0.00609	-2.36229*	-5.50172*	-5.17345*	1.52919	0.631

 π nucleotide diversity (Nei and Li 1979); θ w per-site estimates of diversity by Watterson's theta; K average nucleotide difference.

* Significant at p < 0.05



76

Figure 4.4. Haplotypes identified based on the coding sequences. Green shade: Insensitive haplotype, Tan shade: sensitive haplotype, Red font: change from insensitive to sensitive, Green font: change from sensitive to insensitive, Tan font: no change in phenotype, Grey shade: synonymous mutation

			Nucleotide position	14	26	47	112	124	127	158	111	221	268	281	350	355	370	661	680	707	815	826	1118	1132	1243	2086	2131	2187	2200	2567	2592	2649	2664	2761	2775	2792	2807	1787	2954	3019	3041
			Amino acid change	SSN	H9R	L16P	D38N	H42G	143V	R53P	071A	F74S	P90S	S94N	A117G	V119F	S124G	L221F	V227A	P236L	A272V	A276T	P342R	G347R	A384P	V396I	E411K	K429N	K401N R497S	TSS6K	D564E	F583L	L588F	D621N	F625L	E631G	R636T	CO#02	V685A	V7071	A714V
	Amino acid haplotype	Corresponding CDS haplotype	Position Number of lines	ы	б	16	80	42	43	3 23	6 5	74	90	94	117	119	124	221	227	236	272	276 375	342	347	384	396	411	429	491 497	556	564	583	588	621	625	631	636	657	685	707	714
1	AA_Hap1	CDS_Hap1	1	1 S	н	L	DH	1	R	L	А	F	Р	S	А	v	S	L	v	P 🖌	A	v	Р	G	Α	1	к к	К	R	т	D	L	L	D	L	G R	L L	Q	А	1	v
2	AA_Hap2	CDS_Hap2	1	1 S	R	L	DH	ł I	R	v	Ρ	F	S	S	G	F	S	L	v	P 🖌	Т	v	Р	G	А	v	E K	N	R	Т	D	F	L	D	F I	E R	L L	Q	V	1.	Α
3	AA_Hap3	CDS_Hap3	1	1 S	н	L	N C	6 I	P	v	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	v	S	L	v	P A	A	(I	R	G	Α	V	E K	N	R	Т	D	F	L	D	F I	E R	L	Q	V	1 /	А
4	AA_Hap4	CDS_Hap4	1	1 S	н	L	DH	1	R	v	Ρ	F	S	Ν	Α	V	S	L	v	P 🖌	A	(I	R	G	А	V	E K	N	R	т	Е	F	L	D	F	E R	L L	Q	V	1	Α
5	AA_Hap5	CDS_Hap5	1	1 N	н	L	DH	+ V	/R	v	Ρ	F	Р	S	А	V	G	F	v	L N	/ A	(I	Р	G	Р	V	E N	I N	R	Т	D	F	F I	D	F	E R	L L	Q	V	V	А
6	AA_Hap6	CDS_Hap6	1	1 N	н	L	DH	1 I	R	v	Ρ	S	Р	S	Α	۷	S	F	v	L N	/ A	. I.	P	G	Р	V	E N	I N	R	К	D	F	L	D	F	E R	L L	Q	V	V	Α
7	AA_Hap7	CDS_Hap7	1	1 N	н	L	DH	+ V	/ R	V	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	۷	S	F	v	P 🖌	A	(I	Р	G	Α	V	E K	N	R	Т	D	F	L	D	F	E R	l S	Q	V	V	А
8	AA_Hap8	CDS_Hap8, 9	22	2 N	н	L	DH	+ V	/ R	v	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	۷	S	F	v	P 🖌	A	(I	Р	G	А	V	E K	N	R	Т	D	F	L	D	F	E R	L L	Q	V	V	А
9	AA_Hap9	CDS_Hap10	3	B N	н	L	DH	+ V	/ R	v	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	۷	S	F	v	P 🖌	A	(I	Р	R	Α	V	E K	N	R	Т	D	F	L	D	F	E R	L L	Q	V	V	А
10	AA_Hap10	CDS_Hap11	1	1 N	н	L	DH	+ V	/R	V	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	۷	S	F	v	P 🖌	A	(I	P	R	Α	V	E K	N	R	Т	D	F	L	N	F	E R	L L	Q	V	V	Α
11	AA_Hap11	CDS_Hap12	1	1 N	н	Р	DH	1	R	V	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	۷	S	F	v	P /	A	(I	Р	G	Α	V	E K	N	R	К	D	F	L	D	F	E R	L L	Q	V	V	А
12	AA_Hap12	CDS_Hap13,23	4	4 N	н	L	DH	4 I	R	V	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	v	S	F	v	P A	A	(I	Р	G	А	v	E N	I N	R	Т	D	F	L	D	F	E R	L L	Q	V	V	Α
13	AA_Hap13	CDS_Hap14	5	5 N	н	L	DH	1	R	V	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	v	S	F	v	P A	A	(I	Р	G	Α	v	E N	I N	R	Т	D	F	L	D	F	E T	• L	Q	V	V	Α
14	AA_Hap14	CDS_Hap15,20,24,25,27	15	5 N	н	L	DH	1	R	V	Ρ	F	Р	S	А	۷	S	F	v	P /	A	(I	Р	G	Α	V	E K	N	R	Т	D	F	L	D	F	E R	L L	Q	V	V	А
15	AA_Hap15	CDS_Hap16	3	BN	н	L	DH	t I	R	V	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	۷	S	F	v	P A	A	(I	Р	G	Α	V	E K	N	R	К	D	F	L	D	F	E R	L L	Q	V	V	А
16	AA_Hap16	CDS_Hap17	1	1 N	н	L	DH	t I	R	v	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	۷	S	F	v	P 🖌	A	. I.	P	G	Α	V	E K	N	R	К	D	F	L	D	F	E R	L L	н	V	V	Α
17	AA_Hap17	CDS_Hap18	1	1 N	н	L	DH	1	R	V	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	۷	S	F	v	P 🖌	A	(I	Р	G	Α	V	E N	I N	S	Т	D	F	L	D	F	E R	L L	Q	V	V	А
18	AA_Hap18	CDS_Hap19	1	1 N	н	L	DH	t I	R	V	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	۷	S	F	V	P۱	/ A	(I	Р	G	А	V	E N	I N	R	Т	D	F	L	D	F	E T	<u> </u>	Q	V	V	А
19	AA_Hap19	CDS_Hap21	1	1 N	н	L	DH	I I	R	v	Ρ	F	Р	S	Α	V	S	F.	Α	L 🖌	A	(I	P	G	А	V	E K	N	R	Т	D	F	L	D	F	E R	L L	Q	V	V	А
20	AA_Hap20	CDS_Hap22	2	2 N	н	L	DH	I I	R	V	Ρ	F	Ρ	S	А	۷	S	F	V	L A	A	1 I.	Р	G	А	V	E K	N	R	Т	D	F	L	D	F	E R	L L	Q	V	V	А
21	AA_Hap21	CDS_Hap26	3	BN	н	L	DH	ł I	R	V	Р	F	Ρ	S	А	V	S	F	v	P۱	A	L I	Р	G	А	V	E K	N	R	Т	D	F	L	D	F	E R	L	Q	V	V	А

Figure 4.5. Haplotypes identified based on the deduced amino acid sequences. Green shade: Insensitive haplotype, Tan shade: sensitive haplotype, Red font: change from insensitive to sensitive, Green font: change from sensitive to insensitive, Tan font: no change in phenotype, Grey shade: synonymous mutation

4.4.4. Identification of critical SNPs

According to the phylogenetic analysis, there were two major clades of sensitive wheat lines (Figure 4.6). These two clades were different from a single missense mutation (I43V). In addition, there was another sensitive clade that included three lines which was separated from the missense mutation A272V. These three clades represent the haplotypes AA_Hap 8, AA_Hap 14 and AA_Hap 21. Although they belong to three clades, their phenotypic scores were not significantly different from each other (Table 4.1). All the insensitive lines made different clades that were clearly separated from sensitive clades (Figure 4.6). Phenotypic scores of insensitive clades are significantly different from those of sensitive clades. The line Botno considered as sensitive but belong to a clade with the insensitive line Kubanka. However, their phenotypic scores are not significantly different according to LSD analysis.

Phylogenetic analysis of the sequenced lines identified four SNPs (C707T, G1132C, A2187C, C2567A) that change the sensitive phenotype to insensitive phenotype. All four SNPs cause missense mutations that cause amino acid changes P236L, G347R, K429N and T556K, respectively (Figure 4.5). All these changes have SIFT scores < 0.05 that indicate deleterious mutations (Table 4.3). The four SNPs represent all three exons of the gene showing the importance of all domains for the SnTox1 sensitivity. In addition, three SNPs were identified as possible SNPs that can change the insensitive phenotype into a sensitive phenotype (Table 4.3). They are located at nucleotide positions G14A, C661T and A3019G. All three of them cause missense mutations and the amino acid changes are S5N, L221F and I707V, respectively. It is possible that one or more of these three mutations caused the change of insensitive allele in *T. dicoccoides* to the sensitive allele in durum and common wheat. Locations of the identified critical mutations are shown in the Figure 4.7.



0.0 - 0.4

0.5 - 0.9

1.0 - 1.4

1.5 - 1.9

2.0 - 2.4

2.5 <mark>–</mark> 3.0 Color key

Figure 4.6. Phylogenetic tree based on the deduced amino acid sequences. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test are shown in black next to the branches. The color scheme of the heat map is based on the average phenotypic score of each accession. Critical mutations are shown in red (insensitve to sensitive), green (sensitve to insensitive) and tan (no change in phenotype) colors. Corresponding amino acid haplotypes are shown in gray next to the accession names

			Amino acid		Amino acid	SIFT	
SNP ID	Existing variation	Exon	position	Major domain	change	score	Expected impact
				Signal			
G14A	CDS_Hap1, 2, 3, 4	1	5	peptide	N->S	1.00	Tolerated_Low_Confidence
C661T	CDS_Hap1, 2, 3, 4	1	221	None	F->L	0.39	Tolerated
C707T	CDS_Hap5, 6, 21, 22	1	236	None	P->L	0.00	Deleterious
G1132C	CDS_Hap10, 11	2	347	EGF_CA	G->R	0.05	Deleterious
A2187C	CDS_Hap5, 6, 13, 14, 18, 19, 23	3	429	None	K->N	0.00	Deleterious
C2567A	CDS_Hap6, 12, 16, 17	3	556	PKc	T->K	0.00	Deleterious
A3019G	CDS_Hap1, 2, 3, 4	3	707	None	V->I	1.00	Tolerated

Table 4.3. Descriptions of critical natural mutations identified within the *Snn1* gene.



Figure 4.7. Locations of critical mutations in the *Snn1* gene. SNPs indicated in red are natural mutations associated with the evolutionary change from insensitivity to sensitivity, but it is not known if only one or more of these changes is causal to the phenotype. SNPs indicated in light green are natural mutations that change sensitive phenotype to insensitive phenotype. SNPs indicated in dark green are induced mutations that changed sensitive phenotype to insensitive phenotype.

4.4.5. Marker development

Three dCAPs markers were developed for three of the four SNPs identified as responsible for generating SnTox1-insensitive alleles. The resulting gel image pattern generated after restriction enzyme digestion was used to identify the presence of absence of the target SNP (Figure 4.8). Three dCAPs markers were developed that could successfully differentiate the SNPs C707T, G1132C and A2187C, and they were designated as *Snn1*dCAPs707, *Snn1*dCAPs1132, and *Snn1*dCAPs2187, respectively (Table 4.4). The marker *Snn1*dCAPs707 creates a 156 bp fragment when the corresponding SNP is present and a single 138 bp fragment when the SNP is absent. The marker *Snn1*dCAPs 1132 creates a 104 bp fragment when the corresponding SNP is present and a single 291 bp fragment when the corresponding SNP is present and a single 291 bp fragment when the corresponding SNP is absent. Attempts to develop a marker for the fourth critical SNP (C2567A), were unsuccessful.

SNP	Marker name	Sequence (5'->3')	Annealing	Product	Restriction	Recognition
			(°C)	size (op)	enzyme	sequence
C707T	Snn1dCAPs707-F3	AGCATGGCGTAGGAGCCC	61.87	156	SmaI	CCGG
	Snn1dCAPs707-R3	AAGTGTGACCCCAACAAACG	58.9			
G1132C	Snn1CAPs1232-F1	GCATGTGTATCCCTGCTCA	57.21	268	HaeIII	GGCC
	Snn1CAPs1232-R1	CACACCCGAAGGGTTTTGAT	58.38			
A2187C	Snn1dCAPs2187-F1	TTAGAGAAGGCAGATGTCTTTA	54.29	313	DraI	TTTAAA
	Snn1dCAPs2187-R1	TGTGAAGGATGTCAAGGAGG	56.84			

Table 4.4. Markers develop to identify lines with critical SNPs.



Figure 4.8. Restriction enzyme digestion profiles of PCR products amplified from genomic DNA using dCAPs markers. Fragments are separated on 6% polyacrylamide gels. (a) PCR with *dCAPs707F3R3* followed by digestion with *SmaI* for the SNP C707T. Lanes 1, 2 and 3 contain undigested PCR products from Kahla, PI41025 and Kronos, respectively. Lane 4, 5 and 6 contain the same PCR products after digestion with *SmaI*. (b) PCR with *dCAPs1132F1R1* followed by digestion with *Hae*III for the SNP G1132C. Lanes 1, 2 and 3 contain undigested PCR products from Amery, Grandin and Kronos, respectively. Lane 4, 5 and 6 contain the same PCR products after digestion. (c) PCR with *dCAPs2187F1R1* followed by digestion with *DraI* for the SNP A2187C. Lanes 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 contain undigested PCR products from Divide, Ben, Cotrone, Langdon and Kronos, respectively. Lane 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10 contain the same PCR products after digestion with *DraI*.

4.4.6. Analysis of Kronos EMS-mutants

Forty-five of the 69 Kronos mutants analyzed had the expected mutations (Appendix C). Thirty-eight of these had missense mutations, six had intron variants, and one had a mutation that caused a premature stop codon. Ten of the mutants had critical mutations that changed the sensitive phenotype to an insensitive phenotype (Table 4.5). Among them, six mutations occurred in the protein kinase domain, one was in the EGF_CA domain, one was in the signaling domain and two were in the region between GUB_WAK domain and EGF_CA domain (Table 4.5, Figure 4.9). Among the 45 mutations analyzed, 17 caused amino acid substitutions that were known to have similar properties. The majority of the mutations in the protein kinase domain that were expected to cause deleterious amino acid substitutions did affect the phenotype as expected (Figure 4.9). However, there were 15 mutations that were expected to be deleterious and did not affect the function of the gene. The majority of such mutations were present in exons 1 and 2.

SNP ID	Mutant ID	Exon	Amino acid position	Major domain	Amino acid change	SIFT score	Expected impact
C64T	Kronos3810	1	22	Signal peptide	Q->Stop	-	Deleterious
C706T	Kronos1070	1	236	None	P->S	0.09	Tolerated
G803A	Kronos3588	1	268	None	G->D	0.01	Deleterious
G1180A	Kronos2958	2	363	EGF_CA	G->R	0.06	Tolerated
G2255A	Kronos4218	3	452	РКс	G->D	0.00	Deleterious
G2399A	Kronos2581	3	500	РКс	G->D	0.00	Deleterious
G2543A	Kronos2088	3	548	РКс	G->D	0.00	Deleterious
G2719A	Kronos683	3	607	РКс	D->N	0.00	Deleterious
G2761A	Kronos4432	3	621	РКс	D->N	0.00	Deleterious
G2984A	Kronos2928	3	695	РКс	R->K	0.00	Deleterious

Table 4.5. Descriptions of critical induced mutations identified within the Snn1 gene.



Figure 4.9. Positions and the phenotypic effects of mutations in Kronos population. Mutations that were expected to be deleterious based on the corresponding amino acid substitutions are shown in orange dots. Mutations that were expected to be less deleterious are shown in blue dots.

4.5. Discussion

The use of more durum lines in which *Snn1* was prevalent and the high diversity gained using accessions from different parts of the world allowed the identification of 27 coding sequence haplotypes of *Snn1*. Among the haplotypes identified, the wild wheat relatives *Ae. speltoides* and *T. turgidum* ssp. *dicoccoides* had the most divergent haplotypes as expected (CDS_Hap1, CDS_Hap2, CDS_Hap3, CDS_Hap4). Although only nine of the 27 haplotypes were associated with SnTox1 sensitivity, they included 41 of the analyzed accessions. This included 3 of the 10 common wheat varieties and 31 of the 42 durum wheat varieties analyzed, which agrees with Shi et al. (2016b) that *Snn1* alleles that confer sensitivity to SnTox1 are frequent among durum varieties. A relatively high frequency of sensitive alleles in durum wheat varieties

suggests that *Snn1* might provide a secondary function that may be more important in durum than common wheat and perhaps compensated for by factor(s) on the D genome in the latter.

Hexaploid bread wheat, durum wheat and cultivated emmer have lower overall nucleotide diversity than wild emmer (Haudry et al. 2007). Initial diversity of wild emmer was reduced by 69% in T. aestivum and 84% in T. durum. This reduction of nucleotide diversity in wheat is lower than that of most other crop species. The average overall nucleotide diversity of T. aestivum A and B genomes was reported to be 0.00059 and 0.0008 in two separate studies (Akhunov et al. 2010, Haudry et al. 2007). The nucleotide diversity of *Snn1* was 0.00298. High polymorphism levels in R genes facilitate rapid evolution in response to pathogen evolution (Kuang et al. 2004; Allen et al. 2004; Yang et al. 2007). Genes with different nucleotide diversity levels have been observed in previous studies. For example, the nucleotide diversity π of the NLR gene BPH9 in rice was found to be 0.04421 (Zhao et al. 2016) and that of the wheat transcription factor gene DREB, which is important for abiotic stress tolerance, was 0.180 (Edae et al. 2013). As would be expected, the nucleotide diversity of the coding region of *Snn1* was lower than that of the non-coding region. The highest π was observed in intron 1 (0.00910) and the lowest π was observed in exon 3 (0.00155). The conservation of exon 3, which predominantly contains the protein kinase domain, demonstrates the importance of this domain to the functionality of *Snn1*.

The theory of neutral molecular evolution (Kimura 1983) states that the majority of DNA polymorphisms are selectively neutral in a population. Therefore, the diversity in a population is due to the introduction or loss of polymorphism by mutations and genetic drift. The standard statistics Tajima's D (Tajima 1989), Fu and Li's D, and Fu and Li's F (Fu and Li 1993) estimate the deviation from the neutral model expectation. A value of zero for Tajima's D indicates a

neutral locus and a positive value reveals the predominance of rare alleles indicating a negative selection. A negative Tajima's D value indicates the predominance of intermediate frequency alleles and is associated with positive selection pressure (Akhunov et al. 2010). According to the results, the Tajima's D and Fu and Li's D and F values for the entire genomic region of *Snn1* gene were negative. This suggests that this gene may have been under positive selection during evolution. If *Snn1* in fact possesses a secondary function as suggested earlier, it might be the reason for this positive selection observed. However, neutrality tests were not significant (P < 0.05) for some regions and thus this observation needs further validation.

Three SNPs (G14A, C661T and A3019G) were identified as possible mutations that changed the insensitive *Snn1* allele in *Ae. speltoides* and wild emmer to a sensitive allele found in cultivated emmer, durum and common wheat. The expected impacts of these changes are not expected to be deleterious, and instead, all are expected to be tolerated. However, the SNPs C661T and A3019G do not encode amino acids that belong to any of the conserved functional domains of *Snn1*, whereas the SNP G14A is located at the beginning of the gene and encodes an amino acid in the signal peptide domain. Therefore, it may be that the G14A SNP causal mutation that change the insensitive allele to the sensitive allele during the domestication of wheat, but further investigation is needed to confirm this.

Sequence analysis of the 70 lines also revealed four SNPs (C707T, G1132C, A2187C, and C2567A) that generated insensitive alleles from sensitive alleles. Two of these SNPs (G1132C and A2187) were previously reported by Shi et al. (2016b). All four SNPs cause missense mutations and have SIFT scores < 0.05 indicating deleterious effects. These mutations likely occurred relatively recently within cultivated wheat giving rise to new insensitive alleles. It therefore appears that the evolution of the *Snn1* gene has gone from insensitive to sensitive and

87

back to insensitive. In other words, the wild progenitors of domesticated wheat were insensitive to SnTox1 but mutation G14A, C661T, or A3019G gave rise to an allele that allowed *Snn1* to be recognized by SnTox1 leading to the induction of NETS and the development of SNB. Subsequent mutations within the SnTox1-sensitive allele(s) such as C707T, G1132C, A2187C, and C2567A led to the formation of insensitive alleles, which confer SNB resistance.

The four SNPs C707T, G1132C, A2187C, and C2567A were targeted for the development of diagnostic markers to differentiate sensitive and insensitive Snn1 alleles among durum and common wheat varieties. Attempts to convert the identified critical SNPs to STARP markers (Long et al. 2017) were unsuccessful (data not shown). Therefore, dCAPs markers were developed for three of the four SNPs identified. The dCAPS markers were introduced (Michaels and Amasino 1998; Neff et al. 1998) as a modification of CAPS markers (Konieczny and Ausubel 1993). The CAPS method uses amplification of a target region followed by restriction digestion of the amplified product at the target SNP. However, the usage of this method is limited because it requires the target SNP to disrupt a naturally occurring restriction enzyme recognition site. The dCAPS method uses primers that contain one or more mismatches that can create or destroy a restriction enzyme recognition site at the target SNP during PCR. The PCR product is then digested with the corresponding restriction enzyme and the resulting profile on the gel is used to determine the presence or absence of the SNP. These markers can be used in marker-assisted selection after validation using a large set of wheat accessions. However, it is possible that other naturally occurring mutations that gave rise to insensitive alleles exist and have yet to be identified. In that case, additional markers will be needed.

Although some of the sensitive lines had two copies of *Snn1*, cDNA sequencing showed that only one of the copies was expressed. Two SNPs that differentiated the two copies in some

of the two-copy lines (G127A and A264G) are located in the coding region of the gene. G127A encodes a missense variant V43I, and A264G is a synonymous mutation. However, V43I was a common variant observed in most of the expressed sensitive accessions. Therefore, it is likely that neither of these two SNPs are responsible for the differences in the expression of the two copies. Shi et al. (2016b) showed that the durum variety Lebsock was not expressed even though it had the same sequence as several other SnTox1-sensitive lines. Therefore, the differences in expression are likely due to differences in the promoter region. BLAST searches of *Snn1* gene sequence against wheat reference genomes that recently became available including Chinese Spring, Arina, Cadenza, Claire, Jagger, Julius Mace, Lancer, Landmark, Norin61, Paragon, Robigus, Soissons, Stanley, SY Mattis and Zavitan revealed that two of the sequenced lines (Stanley and Norin61) contains two copies of Snn1. The two copies in Stanley could be differentiated by the SNP G127A. In Stanley, copy 2 was present in chromosome 1B as expected, but copy 1 was located in a chromosome assembly designated as 'unknown.' Similarly, the two copies in Norin61 were also located in chromosome 1B and an assembly designated as 'unknown.' However, the two copies of Snn1 in Norin61were identical to each other, which raises the question whether the previously identified lines with single copy may be lines with two identical copies. More work is needed to determine the physical positions of the two copies relative to each other and the reason for the copy 1-containing contig not assembling with the rest of chromosome 1B in Stanley and Norin61.

The *T. turgidum* cv. Kronos TILLING resource was used to identify additional amino acids important for *Snn1* functionality. Among the mutants that are insensitive to SnTox1, six had mutations in the protein kinase domain, one had the mutation in the EGF_CA and one had a mutation in the signal peptide domain. Also, two had mutations in the region between the

GUB_WAK and EGF_CA domains which can be explained by the fact that SnTox1 directly binds to a region between the GUB_WAK and EGF_CA domains (Shi et al. 2016b). Seven out of the ten critical mutations were observed in the protein kinase domain. This suggests that the protein kinase domain is very important for the proper function of *Snn1*. The majority of the critical mutations completely knocked down the *Snn1* gene. The mutation in EGF_CA domain (G363R) and one mutation in protein kinase domain (R695K) showed an average sensitivity score of 0.6.

Among the 45 mutants used, 15 had C to T transitions and 29 had G to A transitions. EMS is known to induce predominantly G to A and C to T transitions because it preferentially induces alkylation of G residues (Henry et al. 2014; Greene et al. 2003; Till et al. 2007). Although there were 45 different mutants, only ten of them caused the insensitive phenotype. The effect of an amino acid substitution on a protein depends on both the position and the degree of similarity between the new and the original amino acid (Goldberg and Wittes 1966). Among the 35 mutants that remained sensitive to SnTox1, 16 had mutations in introns or regions between the major conserved domains. It can be assumed that they did not alter function of the protein because they did not disrupt the major domains. However, the remaining 19 SnTox1sensitive Kronos mutants had missense mutations within one of the major domains. It is possible these amino acid substitutions had less impact due to their physical properties. Except Tyr, hydrophobic amino acids (Phe, Ile, Leu, Met and V) can substitute for each other without affecting protein function. Similarly, polar or hydrophilic amino acids can substitute for amino acids in the same group. The hydrophilic amino acids can be divided into two subgroups known as polar-charged amino acids (Glu, Asp, Lys, Arg, Hys) and polar-partially-charged amino acids (Tyr, Gln, Asn, Thr, Ser). Substitution of an amino acid by another in the same subgroup would

have less impact on the protein. Some amino acids have been identified as more interchangeable both within and across their corresponding groups while retaining protein function. They include Ala for Val, Ala for Phe, Val for Ile or Leu, Leu for Met, Phe or Ile, Gly for Ala, Glu for Asp, Arg for Lys, Ser for Thr, Gln for Asn or Glu, Asn for Asp and Phe for Ile (Castro-Chavez 2010; Goldberg and Wittes 1966). Eleven of the 19 missense mutations that did not affect *Snn1* function were in this group of interchangeable amino acids (V20I, A76V, L103F, I491L, D536N) or had an exchange with another amino acid in the same polarity group (V115M, P338L, S558N, S645N, E667K) (Appendix C).

4.6. Conclusions

One of the major goals of cloning resistance genes is to develop diagnostic markers to be used in MAS. To date, we were unable to develop diagnostic markers for *Snn1* even though the gene was cloned. Current study revealed that this was because of the presence of multiple haplotypes that could confer SnTox1 sensitivity. Analysis of allelic diversity of *Snn1* revealed 27 haplotypes based on the coding sequence of the gene. Three SNPs were identified as the possible mutations that changed the insensitive allele in wild emmer into the sensitive allele in domesticated wheat. Four independent SNPs that most likely occurred later and changed the sensitive allele to insensitive alleles in domesticated wheat were also identified. It was also found that some of the wheat lines carry two copies of *Snn1*. However, the location of the second copy and the factors governing the expression of the different copies are yet to be identified. SNP-based markers were developed for three of the mutations that caused insensitive alleles. More gene-specific markers for *Snn1* can be developed based on the results of this study to be used in MAS. The results also help to increase our understanding of the NE sensitivity gene evolution.

This knowledge will be useful to obtain better host resistance against necrotrophic pathogens in

the future through genetic manipulation.

4.7. References

- Abeysekara NS, Friesen TL, Keller B, Faris JD (2009) Identification and characterization of a novel host-toxin interaction in the wheat-*Stagonospora nodorum* pathosystem. Theor Appl Genet 120:117–126. doi: 10.1007/s00122-009-1163-6
- Akhunov ED, Akhunova AR, Anderson OD, Anderson JA, Blake N, Clegg MT, Coleman-Derr D, Conley EJ, Crossman CC, Deal KR, Dubcovsky J, Gill BS, Gu YQ, Hadam J, Heo H, Huo N, Lazo GR, Luo M-C, Ma YQ, Matthews DE, McGuire PE, Morrell PL, Qualset CO, Renfro J, Tabanao D, Talbert LE, Tian C, Toleno DM, Warburton ML, You FM, Zhang W, Dvorak J (2010) Nucleotide diversity maps reveal variation in diversity among wheat genomes and chromosomes. BMC Genomics 11:702. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-11-702
- Allen RL, Bittner-Eddy PD, Grenville-Briggs LJ, Meitz JC, Rehmany AP, Rose LE, Beynon JL (2004) Host-parasite coevolutionary conflict between *Arabidopsis* and downy mildew. Science 306:1957–1960. doi: 10.1126/science.1104022
- Arora S, Steuernagel B, Gaurav K, Chandramohan S, Long Y, Matny O, Johnson R, Enk J, Periyannan S, Singh N, Asyraf Md Hatta M, Athiyannan N, Cheema J, Yu G, Kangara N, Ghosh S, Szabo LJ, Poland J, Bariana H, Jones JDG, Bentley AR, Ayliffe M, Olson E, Xu SS, Steffenson BJ, Lagudah E, Wulff BBH (2019) Resistance gene cloning from a wild crop relative by sequence capture and association genetics. Nat Biotechnol 37:139– 143. doi: 10.1038/s41587-018-0007-9
- Avni R, Nave M, Barad O, Baruch K, Twardziok SO, Gundlach H, Hale I, Mascher M, Spannagl M, Wiebe K, Jordan KW, Golan G, Deek J, Ben-Zvi B, Ben-Zvi G, Himmelbach A, MacLachlan RP, Sharpe AG, Fritz A, Ben-David R, Budak H, Fahima T, Korol A, Faris JD, Hernandez A, Mikel MA, Levy AA, Steffenson B, Maccaferri M, Tuberosa R, Cattivelli L, Faccioli P, Ceriotti A, Kashkush K, Pourkheirandish M, Komatsuda T, Eilam T, Sela H, Sharon A, Ohad N, Chamovitz DA, Mayer KFX, Stein N, Ronen G, Peleg Z, Pozniak CJ, Akhunov ED, Distelfeld A (2017) Wild emmer genome architecture and diversity elucidate wheat evolution and domestication. Science 357:93–97. doi: 10.1126/science.aan0032
- Brueggeman R, Rostoks N, Kudrna D, Kilian A, Han F, Chen J, Druka A, Steffenson B, Kleinhofs A (2002) The barley stem rust-resistance gene *Rpg1* is a novel diseaseresistance gene with homology to receptor kinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:9328– 9333. doi: 10.1073/pnas.142284999
- Brunner PC, McDonald BA (2018) Evolutionary analyses of the avirulence effector AvrStb6 in global populations of *Zymoseptoria tritici* identify candidate amino acids involved in recognition. Mol Plant Pathol 19:1836–1846 . doi: 10.1111/mpp.12662

- Brutus A, Sicilia F, Macone A, Cervone F, De Lorenzo G (2010) A domain swap approach reveals a role of the plant wall-associated kinase 1 (WAK1) as a receptor of oligogalacturonides. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:9452–9457. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1000675107
- Castro-Chavez F (2010) The rules of variation: Amino acid exchange according to the rotating circular genetic code. J Theor Biol 264:711–721. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2010.03.046
- Catanzariti AM, Dodds PN, Ve T, Kobe B, Ellis JG, Staskawicz BJ (2010) The AvrM effector from flax rust has a structured C-terminal domain and interacts directly with the M resistance protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 23:49–57. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-23-1-0049
- Cavanagh CR, Chao S, Wang S, Huang BE, Stephen S, Kiani S, Forrest K, Saintenac C, Brown-Guedira GL, Akhunova A, See D, Bai G, Pumphrey M, Tomar L, Wong D, Kong S, Reynolds M, da Silva ML, Bockelman H, Talbert L, Anderson JA, Dreisigacker S, Baenziger S, Carter A, Korzun V, Morrell PL, Dubcovsky J, Morell MK, Sorrells ME, Hayden MJ, Akhunov E (2013) Genome-wide comparative diversity uncovers multiple targets of selection for improvement in hexaploid wheat landraces and cultivars. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110:8057–8062. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1217133110
- Cesari S, Bernoux M, Moncuquet P, Kroj T, Dodds PN (2014) A novel conserved mechanism for plant NLR protein pairs: the "integrated decoy" hypothesis. Front Plant Sci 5:606. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2014.00606
- Chisholm ST, Coaker G, Day B, Staskawicz BJ (2006) Host-microbe interactions: shaping the evolution of the plant immune response. Cell 124:803–814. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.008
- Chu CG, Chao S, Friesen TL, Faris JD, Zhong S, Xu SS (2010) Identification of novel tan spot resistance QTLs using an SSR-based linkage map of tetraploid wheat. Mol Breeding 25:327–338. doi: 10.1007/s11032-009-9335-2
- Couto D and Zipfel C (2016) Regulation of pattern recognition receptor signaling in plants. Nat Rev Immunol 16:537-552. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.77
- Delteil A, Gobbato E, Cayrol B, Estevan J, Michel-Romiti C, Dievart A, Kroj T, Morel J-B (2016) Several wall-associated kinases participate positively and negatively in basal defense against rice blast fungus. BMC Plant Biol 16. doi: 10.1186/s12870-016-0711-x
- Edae EA, Byrne PF, Manmathan H, Haley SD, Moragues M, Lopes MS, Reynolds MP (2013) Association mapping and nucleotide sequence variation in five drought tolerance candidate genes in spring wheat. Plant Genome 6. doi: 10.3835/plantgenome2013.04.0010
- Edgar RC (2004) MUSCLE: multiple sequence alignment with high accuracy and high throughput. Nucleic Acids Res 32:1792–1797. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh340

- Eitas TK, Dangl JL (2010) NB-LRR proteins: pairs, pieces, perception, partners, and pathways. Curr Opin Plant Biol 13:472–477 . doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2010.04.007
- FAO (2019) Crop Prospects and Food Situation Quarterly Global Report no. 3, September 2019. Rome
- Faris J, Anderson JA, Francl L, Jordahl J (1996) Chromosomal location of a gene conditioning insensitivity in wheat to a necrosis-inducing culture filtrate from *Pyrenophora triticirepentis*. Phytopathology 86:459–463. doi: 10.1094/Phyto-86-459
- Faris JD, Friesen TL (2009) Reevaluation of a tetraploid wheat population indicates that the *Tsn1*–ToxA interaction is the only factor governing Stagonospora nodorum blotch susceptibility. Phytopathology 99:906–912. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-99-8-0906
- Faris JD, Haen KM, Gill BS (2000) Saturation mapping of a gene-rich recombination hot spot region in wheat. Genetics 154:823–835
- Faris JD, Zhang Z, Lu H, Lu S, Reddy L, Cloutier S, Fellers JP, Meinhardt SW, Rasmussen JB, Xu SS, Oliver RP, Simons KJ, Friesen TL (2010) A unique wheat disease resistance-like gene governs effector-triggered susceptibility to necrotrophic pathogens. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:13544–13549. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1004090107
- Friesen T, Zhang Z, Solomon P, Oliver R, Faris J (2008) Characterization of the interaction of a novel *Stagonospora nodorum* host-selective toxin with a wheat susceptibility gene. Plant Physiol 146:682–93. doi: 10.1104/pp.107.108761
- Friesen TL, Chu C, Xu SS, Faris JD (2012) SnTox5–Snn5: a novel Stagonospora nodorum effector–wheat gene interaction and its relationship with the SnToxA–Tsn1 and SnTox3– Snn3–B1 interactions. Mol Plant Pathol 13:1101–1109. doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2012.00819.x
- Friesen TL, Chu C-G, Liu ZH, Xu SS, Halley S, Faris JD (2009) Host-selective toxins produced by *Stagonospora nodorum* confer disease susceptibility in adult wheat plants under field conditions. Theor Appl Genet 118:1489–1497. doi: 10.1007/s00122-009-0997-2
- Friesen TL, Faris JD (2010) Characterization of the wheat-*Stagonospora nodorum* disease system: what is the molecular basis of this quantitative necrotrophic disease interaction?. Can J Plant Pathol 32:20–28. doi: 10.1080/07060661003620896
- Friesen TL, Faris JD, Solomon PS, Oliver RP (2008) Host-specific toxins: effectors of necrotrophic pathogenicity. Cell Microbiol 10:1421–1428. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2008.01153.x
- Friesen TL, Meinhardt SW, Faris JD (2007) The Stagonospora nodorum-wheat pathosystem involves multiple proteinaceous host-selective toxins and corresponding host sensitivity genes that interact in an inverse gene-for-gene manner. Plant J 51:681–692. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2007.03166.x

- Friesen TL, Stukenbrock EH, Liu Z, Meinhardt S, Ling H, Faris JD, Rasmussen JB, Solomon PS, McDonald BA, Oliver RP (2006) Emergence of a new disease as a result of interspecific virulence gene transfer. Nat Genet 38:953–956. doi: 10.1038/ng1839
- Fu YX and Li WH (1993) Statistical tests of neutrality of mutations. Genetics, 133, 693–709.
- Gao Y, Faris JD, Liu Z, Kim YM, Syme RA, Oliver RP, Xu SS, Friesen TL (2015) Identification and characterization of the SnTox6-*Snn6* interaction in the *Parastagonospora nodorum*wheat pathosystem. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 28:615-625
- Goldberg AL, Wittes RE (1966) Genetic Code: aspects of Organization. Science 153:420-424
- Greene EA, Codomo CA, Taylor NE, Henikoff JG, Till BJ, Reynolds SH, Enns LC, Burtner C, Johnson JE, Odden AR, Comai L, Henikoff S (2003) Spectrum of chemically induced mutations from a large-scale reverse-genetic screen in *Arabidopsis*. Genetics 164:731– 740
- Haudry A, Cenci A, Ravel C, Bataillon T, Brunel D, Poncet C, Hochu I, Poirier S, Santoni S, Glémin S, David J (2007) Grinding up wheat: a massive loss of nucleotide diversity since domestication. Mol Biol Evol 24:1506–1517. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msm077
- Henry IM, Nagalakshmi U, Lieberman MC, Ngo KJ, Krasileva KV, Vasquez-Gross H, Akhunova A, Akhunov E, Dubcovsky J, Tai TH, Comai L (2014) Efficient genome-wide detection and cataloging of EMS-induced mutations using exome capture and nextgeneration sequencing. Plant Cell 26:1382–1397. doi: 10.1105/tpc.113.121590
- Huang L, Sela H, Feng L, et al. (2016) Distribution and haplotype diversity of WKS resistance genes in wild emmer wheat natural populations. Theor Appl Genet 129:921–934 . doi: 10.1007/s00122-016-2672-8
- IWGSC, Appels R, Eversole K, Stein N, Feuillet C, Keller B, Rogers J, Pozniak CJ, Choulet F, Distelfeld A, Poland J, Ronen G, Sharpe AG, Barad O, Baruch K, Keeble-Gagnère G, Mascher M, Ben-Zvi G, Josselin A-A, Himmelbach A, Balfourier F, Gutierrez-Gonzalez J, Hayden M, Koh C, Muehlbauer G, Pasam RK, Paux E, Rigault P, Tibbits J, Tiwari V, Spannagl M, Lang D, Gundlach H, Haberer G, Mayer KFX, Ormanbekova D, Prade V, Šimková H, Wicker T, Swarbreck D, Rimbert H, Felder M, Guilhot N, Kaithakottil G, Keilwagen J, Leroy P, Lux T, Twardziok S, Venturini L, Juhász A, Abrouk M, Fischer I, Uauy C, Borrill P, Ramirez-Gonzalez RH, Arnaud D, Chalabi S, Chalhoub B, Cory A, Datla R, Davey MW, Jacobs J, Robinson SJ, Steuernagel B, Ex F van, Wulff BBH, Benhamed M, Bendahmane A, Concia L, Latrasse D, Bartoš J, Bellec A, Berges H, Doležel J, Frenkel Z, Gill B, Korol A, Letellier T, Olsen O-A, Singh K, Valárik M, Vossen E van der, Vautrin S, Weining S, Fahima T, Glikson V, Raats D, Číhalíková J, Toegelová H, Vrána J, Sourdille P, Darrier B, Barabaschi D, Cattivelli L, Hernandez P, Galvez S, Budak H, Jones JDG, Witek K, Yu G, Small I, Melonek J, Zhou R, Belova T, Kanyuka K, King R, Nilsen K, Walkowiak S, Cuthbert R, Knox R, Wiebe K, Xiang D, Rohde A, Golds T, Čížková J, Akpinar BA, Biyiklioglu S, Gao L, N'Daiye A, Kubaláková M, Šafář J, Alfama F, Adam-Blondon A-F, Flores R, Guerche C, Loaec M, Quesneville H, Condie J, Ens J, Maclachlan R, Tan Y, Alberti A, Aury J-M, Barbe V,

Couloux A, Cruaud C, Labadie K, Mangenot S, Wincker P, Kaur G, Luo M, Sehgal S, Chhuneja P, Gupta OP, Jindal S, Kaur P, Malik P, Sharma P, Yadav B, Singh NK, Khurana JP, Chaudhary C, Khurana P, Kumar V, Mahato A, Mathur S, Sevanthi A, Sharma N, Tomar RS, Holušová K, Plíhal O, Clark MD, Heavens D, Kettleborough G, Wright J, Balcárková B, Hu Y, Salina E, Ravin N, Skryabin K, Beletsky A, Kadnikov V, Mardanov A, Nesterov M, Rakitin A, Sergeeva E, Handa H, Kanamori H, Katagiri S, Kobayashi F, Nasuda S, Tanaka T, Wu J, Cattonaro F, Jiumeng M, Kugler K, Pfeifer M, Sandve S, Xun X, Zhan B, Batley J, Bayer PE, Edwards D, Hayashi S, Tulpová Z, Visendi P, Cui L, Du X, Feng K, Nie X, Tong W, Wang L (2018) Shifting the limits in wheat research and breeding using a fully annotated reference genome. Science 361:eaar7191. doi: 10.1126/science.aar7191

- Jia Y, McAdams SA, Bryan GT, Hershey HP, Valent B (2000) Direct interaction of resistance gene and avirulence gene products confers rice blast resistance. EMBO J 19:4004–4014. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.15.4004
- Jones JDG, Dangl JL (2006) The plant immune system. Nature 444:323–329. doi: 10.1038/nature05286
- Keen NT (1990) Gene-for-gene complementarity in plant-pathogen interactions. Annu Rev Genet 24:447–463. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ge.24.120190.002311
- Kim MG, Cunha L da, McFall AJ, Belkhadir Y, DebRoy S, Dangl JL, Mackey D (2005) Two *Pseudomonas syringae* type III effectors inhibit RIN4-regulated basal defense in *Arabidopsis*. Cell 121:749–759. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.03.025
- Kimura M (1983). The neutral theory of molecular evolution. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Kimura M (1991) The neutral theory of molecular evolution: a review of recent evidence. Jpn J Genet 66:367–386
- Konieczny A, Ausubel FM (1993) A procedure for mapping *Arabidopsis* mutations using codominant ecotype-specific PCR-based markers. Plant J 4:403–410. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313x.1993.04020403.x
- Kuang H, Woo S-S, Meyers BC, Nevo E, Michelmore RW (2004) Multiple genetic processes result in heterogeneous rates of evolution within the major cluster disease resistance genes in lettuce. Plant Cell 16:2870–2894. doi: 10.1105/tpc.104.025502
- Kumar S, Stecher G, Tamura K (2016) MEGA7: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 7.0 for bigger datasets. Mol Biol Evol 33:1870–1874. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msw054
- Librado P, Rozas J (2009) DnaSP v5: a software for comprehensive analysis of DNA polymorphism data. Bioinformatics 25:1451–1452. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp187

- Liu Z, Faris J, Meinhardt S, Ali S, Rasmussen JB, Friesen TL (2004a) Genetic and physical mapping of a gene conditioning sensitivity in wheat to a partially purified host-selective toxin produced by *Stagonospora nodorum*. Phytopathology 94:1056–1060. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO.2004.94.10.1056
- Liu Z, Faris JD, Oliver RP, Tan K-C, Solomon PS, McDonald MC, McDonald BA, Nunez A, Lu S, Rasmussen JB, Friesen TL (2009) SnTox3 acts in effector triggered susceptibility to induce disease on wheat carrying the *Snn3* gene. PLoS Pathog 5. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000581
- Liu Z, Friesen TL, Ling H, Meinhardt SW, Oliver RP, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2006) The *Tsn1*-ToxA interaction in the wheat-*Stagonospora nodorum* pathosystem parallels that of the wheat-tan spot system. Genome 49:1265–1273. doi: 10.1139/g06-088
- Liu Z, Zhang Z, Faris JD, Oliver RP, Syme R, McDonald MC, McDonald BA, Solomon PS, Lu S, Shelver WL, Xu S, Friesen TL (2012) The cysteine rich necrotrophic effector SnTox1 produced by *Stagonospora nodorum* triggers susceptibility of wheat lines harboring *Snn1*. PLoS Pathog 8. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002467
- Liu Z, Friesen TL, Rasmussen JB, Ali S, Meinhardt SW, Faris JD (2004b) quantitative trait loci analysis and mapping of seedling resistance to Stagonospora nodorum leaf blotch in wheat. Phytopathology 94:1061–1067. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO.2004.94.10.1061
- Long YM, Chao WS, Ma GJ, Xu SS, Qi LL (2017) An innovative SNP genotyping method adapting to multiple platforms and throughputs. Theor Appl Genet 130:597–607. doi: 10.1007/s00122-016-2838-4
- Lorang JM, Sweat TA, Wolpert TJ (2007) Plant disease susceptibility conferred by a "resistance" gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:14861–14866. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0702572104
- Luo MC, Gu YQ, Puiu D, Wang H, Twardziok SO, Deal KR, Huo N, Zhu T, Wang L, Wang Y, McGuire PE, Liu S, Long H, Ramasamy RK, Rodriguez JC, Van SL, Yuan L, Wang Z, Xia Z, Xiao L, Anderson OD, Ouyang S, Liang Y, Zimin AV, Pertea G, Qi P, Bennetzen JL, Dai X, Dawson MW, Müller H-G, Kugler K, Rivarola-Duarte L, Spannagl M, Mayer KFX, Lu F-H, Bevan MW, Leroy P, Li P, You FM, Sun Q, Liu Z, Lyons E, Wicker T, Salzberg SL, Devos KM, Dvořák J (2017) Genome sequence of the progenitor of the wheat D genome *Aegilops tauschii*. Nature 551:498–502. doi: 10.1038/nature24486
- Martin G, Brommonschenkel S, Chunwongse J, Frary A, Ganal M, Spivey R, Wu T, Earle E, Tanksley S (1993) Map-based cloning of a protein kinase gene conferring disease resistance in tomato. Science 262:1432–1436
- McLaren W, Gil L, Hunt SE, Riat HS, Ritchie GRS, Thormann A, Flicek P, Cunningham F (2016) The Ensembl Variant Effect Predictor. Genome Biol 17:122. doi: 10.1186/s13059-016-0974-4

- Meyers BC, Kozik A, Griego A, Kuang H, Michelmore RW (2003) Genome-wide analysis of NBS-LRR–encoding genes in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 15:809–834. doi: 10.1105/tpc.009308
- Michaels SD, Amasino RM (1998) A robust method for detecting single-nucleotide changes as polymorphic markers by PCR. Plant J 14:381–385. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313x.1998.00123.x
- Nagy ED, Bennetzen JL (2008) Pathogen corruption and site-directed recombination at a plant disease resistance gene cluster. Genome res 18:1918–1923. doi: 10.1101/gr.078766.108
- Neff MM, Neff JD, Chory J, Pepper AE (1998) dCAPS, a simple technique for the genetic analysis of single nucleotide polymorphisms: experimental applications in *Arabidopsis thaliana* genetics. Plant J 14:387–392. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313x.1998.00124.x
- Neff MM, Turk E, Kalishman M (2002) Web-based primer design for single nucleotide polymorphism analysis. Trends Genet 18:613–615. doi: 10.1016/s0168-9525(02)02820-2
- Nei M (1987) Molecular evolutionary genetics. Columbia University Press, New York
- Ng PC, Henikoff S (2003) SIFT: Predicting amino acid changes that affect protein function. Nucleic Acids Res 31 (13):3812-3814
- Oliver RP, Friesen TL, Faris JD, Solomon PS (2012) *Stagonospora nodorum*: from pathology to genomics and host resistance. Annu Rev Phytopathol 50:23–43. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-081211-173019
- Petit-Houdenot Y, Fudal I (2017) Complex interactions between fungal avirulence genes and their corresponding plant resistance genes and consequences for disease resistance management. Front Plant Sci 8. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017.01072
- Quaedvlieg W, Verkley GJM, Shin H-D, Barreto RW, Alfenas AC, Swart WJ, Groenewald JZ, Crous PW (2013) Sizing up *Septoria*. Stud Mycol 75:307–390. doi: 10.3114/sim0017
- Reddy L, Friesen TL, Meinhardt SW, Chao S, Faris JD (2008) Genomic analysis of the *Snn1* locus on wheat chromosome arm 1BS and the identification of candidate genes. Plant Genome 1:55–66. doi: 10.3835/plantgenome2008.03.0181
- Sarris PF, Duxbury Z, Huh SU, Ma Y, Segonzac C, Sklenar J, Derbyshire P, Cevik V, Rallapalli G, Saucet SB, Wirthmueller L, Menke FLH, Sohn KH, Jones JDG (2015) A plant immune receptor detects pathogen effectors that target WRKY transcription factors. Cell 161:1089–1100. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.04.024
- Schmidt R, West J, Love K, Lenehan Z, Lister C, Thompson H, Bouchez D, Dean C (1995)
 Physical map and organization of *Arabidopsis thaliana* chromosome 4. Science 270:480–483. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5235.480
- Sela H, Spiridon LN, Petrescu A, Akerman M, Mandel-Gutfreund Y, Nevo E, Loutre C, Keller B, Schulman AH, Fahima T (2011) Ancient diversity of splicing motifs and protein surfaces in the wild emmer wheat (*Triticum dicoccoides*) *LR10* coiled coil (CC) and leucine-rich repeat (LRR) domains. Mol Plant Pathol 13:276–287. doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2011.00744.x
- Shi G, Friesen TL, Saini J, Xu SS, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2015) The wheat Snn7 gene confers susceptibility on recognition of the Parastagonospora nodorum necrotrophic effector SnTox7. Plant Genome 8. doi: 10.3835/plantgenome2015.02.0007
- Shi G, Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Bansal U, Cloutier S, Wicker T, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2016a) Marker development, saturation mapping, and high-resolution mapping of the Septoria nodorum blotch susceptibility gene *Snn3-B1* in wheat. Mol Genet Genomics 291:107– 119. doi: 10.1007/s00438-015-1091-x
- Shi G, Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Raats D, Fahima T, Brueggeman RS, Lu S, Trick HN, Liu Z, Chao W, Frenkel Z, Xu SS, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2016b) The hijacking of a receptor kinase–driven pathway by a wheat fungal pathogen leads to disease. Sci Adv 2. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1600822
- Snedecor GW, Cochran WG (1980) Statistical methods, 7th ed. Ames, Iowa : Iowa State University Press
- Song WY, Wang GL, Chen LL, Kim HS, Pi LY, Holsten T, Gardner J, Wang B, Zhai WX, Zhu LH, Fauquet C, Ronald P (1995) A receptor kinase-like protein encoded by the rice disease resistance gene, Xa21. Science 270:1804–1806. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5243.1804
- Steinbrenner AD, Goritschnig S, Staskawicz BJ (2015) Recognition and activation domains contribute to allele-specific responses of an Arabidopsis NLR receptor to an oomycete effector protein. PLoS Pathog 11:e1004665. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004665
- Tajima F (1989) Statistical method for testing the neutral mutation hypothesis by DNA polymorphism. Genetics, 123, 585–595.
- Tamura K, Stecher G, Peterson D, Filipski A, Kumar S (2013) MEGA6: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 6.0. Mol Biol Evol 30:2725–2729. doi: 10.1093/molbev/mst197
- Thakur S, Gupta YK, Singh PK, Rathour R, Variar M, Prashanthi SK, Singh AK, Singh UD, Chand D, Rana JC, Singh NK, Sharma TR (2013) Molecular diversity in rice blast resistance gene *Pi-ta* makes it highly effective against dynamic population of Magnaporthe oryzae. Funct Integr Genomics 13:309–322. doi: 10.1007/s10142-013-0325-4
- Thomma BP, Penninckx IA, Cammue BP, Broekaert WF (2001) The complexity of disease signaling in *Arabidopsis*. Curr Opin Immunol 13:63–68. doi: 10.1016/S0952-7915(00)00183-7

- Till BJ, Cooper J, Tai TH, Colowit P, Greene EA, Henikoff S, Comai L (2007) Discovery of chemically induced mutations in rice by TILLING. BMC Plant Biol 7:19. doi: 10.1186/1471-2229-7-19
- Wang S, Wong D, Forrest K, Allen A, Chao S, Huang BE, Maccaferri M, Salvi S, Milner SG, Cattivelli L, Mastrangelo AM, Whan A, Stephen S, Barker G, Wieseke R, Plieske J, International Wheat Genome Sequencing Consortium, Lillemo M, Mather D, Appels R, Dolferus R, Brown-Guedira G, Korol A, Akhunova AR, Feuillet C, Salse J, Morgante M, Pozniak C, Luo M-C, Dvorak J, Morell M, Dubcovsky J, Ganal M, Tuberosa R, Lawley C, Mikoulitch I, Cavanagh C, Edwards KJ, Hayden M, Akhunov E (2014a) Characterization of polyploid wheat genomic diversity using a high-density 90 000 single nucleotide polymorphism array. Plant Biotechnol J 12:787–796. doi: 10.1111/pbi.12183
- Wang X, Jiang N, Liu J, Liu W, Wang GL (2014b) The role of effectors and host immunity in plant–necrotrophic fungal interactions. Virulence 5:722–732. doi: 10.4161/viru.29798
- Watterson GA (1975) On the number of segregating sites in genetical models without recombination. Theor Popul Biol 7:256–276. doi: 10.1016/0040-5809(75)90020-9
- Xu S, Friesen T, Mujeeb-Kazi A (2004) Seedling resistance to tan spot and stagonospora nodorum blotch in synthetic hexaploid wheats. Crop Sci 44:2238–2245. doi: 10.2135/cropsci2004.2238
- Yang S, Gu T, Pan C, Feng Z, Ding J, Hang Y, Chen JQ, Tian D (2007) Genetic variation of NBS-LRR class resistance genes in rice lines. Theor Appl Genet 116:165. doi: 10.1007/s00122-007-0656-4
- Zhang R, Zheng F, Wei S, Zhang S, Li G, Cao P, Zhao S (2019) Evolution of disease defense genes and their regulators in plants. Int J Mol Sci 20. doi: 10.3390/ijms20020335.
- Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Simons KJ, Xu SS, Faris JD (2009) Development, identification, and validation of markers for marker-assisted selection against the *Stagonospora nodorum* toxin sensitivity genes *Tsn1* and *Snn2* in wheat. Mol Breeding 23:35–49. doi: 10.1007/s11032-008-9211-5
- Zhang Z, Friesen TL, Xu SS, Shi G, Liu Z, Rasmussen JB, Faris JD (2011) Two putatively homoeologous wheat genes mediate recognition of SnTox3 to confer effector-triggered susceptibility to *Stagonospora nodorum*. Plant J 65:27–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2010.04407.x
- Zhao Y, Huang J, Wang Z, Jing S, Wang Y, Ouyang Y, Cai B, Xin X-F, Liu X, Zhang C, Pan Y, Ma R, Li Q, Jiang W, Zeng Y, Shangguan X, Wang H, Du B, Zhu L, Xu X, Feng Y-Q, He SY, Chen R, Zhang Q, He G (2016) Allelic diversity in an NLR gene BPH9 enables rice to combat planthopper variation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 113:12850–12855. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1614862113
- Zipfel C (2009) Early molecular events in PAMP-triggered immunity. Curr Opin Plant Biol 12:414–420. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2009.06.003

APPENDIX A. ACCESSIONS OF WHEAT SPECIES DEPLOYED IN THE

Accession	PI number	Ploidy level	Genus	Species	Subspecies	Origin
Amery	N/A	6	Triticum	aestivum	aestivum	Austalia
Chinese Spring	CItr 14108	6	Triticum	aestivum	aestivum	China
Grandin	PI 531005	6	Triticum	aestivum	aestivum	US North Dakota
Норе	CItr 8178	6	Triticum	aestivum	aestivum	US South Dakota
Novo	N/A	6	Triticum	aestivum	aestivum	India
Opata 85	PI 591776	6	Triticum	aestivum	aestivum	CIMMYT
Red Egyptian	PI45403	6	Triticum	aestivum	aestivum	South Africa
Renan	PI 564569	6	Triticum	aestivum	aestivum	France
Rurik	N/A	6	Triticum	aestivum	aestivum	France
Timstein	PI 168688	6	Triticum	aestivum	aestivum	US Minnesota
Mocho de Espiga Quadrada	PI56213	6	Triticum	aestivum	compactum	Portugal
Termok	PI41023	6	Triticum	aestivum	compactum	Kyrgyzstan
DN-2378	PI361862	6	Triticum	aestivum	macha	Denmark
G532	PI428146	6	Triticum	aestivum	macha	Sweden
12:61-8T-5T-2aT-2B-2T	PI324929	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Australia
Adjini AC 1	CItr 3137	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Tunisia
Agamia	TA4154-29	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Mexico
Ajaia 9	TA4154-40	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	CIMMYT
Altar 84	TA4154-4	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	CIMMYT
Ben	PI596557	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	US-ND
Bidi 17	PI306641	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	France
Biskri Glabre RP 2	CItr 3180	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Tunisia
Ble Dur	CItr 1471	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Algeria
Botno	TA4154-35	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	United States
Cappelli	PI264949	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Italy
CHEN 7	TA4154-48	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	CIMMYT
Cotrone	PI157975	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Italy
Croc 1	TA4154-1	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	CIMMYT
Divide	PI642021	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	US-ND
Durati	PI434645	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Australia
Dverd 2	TA4154-5	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	CIMMYT
Faia	PI 584835	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Portugal
Falcin 1	TA4154-43	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	CIMMYT
FHB4512	Cltr5094	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	China
Golden Ball	CItr 11477	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	United States, North
Indian Runner	CItr 5136	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Victoria Australia
Iumillo	PI210973	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Italy
Kahla	PI 7794	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Setif Algeria

PHYLOGENETIC INTERACTION STUDY

101

Accession	PI number	Ploidy level	Genus	Species	Subspecies	Origin
Kronos	N/A	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	United Kingdom,
Kubanka	PI 2758	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	England Russian Federation, Samara
Laidley	PI67342	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Australia
Langdon	CItr13165	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	US-ND
Mahmoudi Ag	PI41046	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Tunisia
Maier	PI607531	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	US-ND
Mountrail	PI607530	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	US-ND
N-85	PI79900	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	China
Negro	PI 7425	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Cordoba Spain
Rieti	CItr 2793	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Leiria Portugal
Sora	TA4154-16	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	CIMMYT
Souri	PI41051	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Tunisia
Svevo		4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	
Trinakria	TA4154-38	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Italy
Vallelunga Glabra	PI157979	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Italy
Volo	CItr 2462	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	Germany
Wales	N/A	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	US-ND
Yar	TA4154-31	4	Triticum	turgidum	durum	CIMMYT
T. dicoccum 42	PI 41025	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccum	Russian Federation, Samarskaja oblasť
T. dicoccum 10	PI 12214	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccum	
T. dicoccum 119	PI 164582	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccum	India, Tamil Nadu
T. dicoccum 120	PI 168673	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccum	United States, Wisconsin
T. dicoccum 135	PI 193641	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccum	Ethiopia, Ādīs Ābeba
T. dicoccum 177	PI 217640	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccum	India, Tamil Nadu
T. dicoccum 178	PI 221400	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccum	Serbia
T. dicoccum 36	PI 14919	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccum	
T. dicoccum 58	PI 94617	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccum	Russian Federation,
T. dicoccum 63	PI 94624	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccum	Dagestan, Respublika Iran
T. dicoccoides 10	Td G -11	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccoides	
T. dicoccoides 27	Td 582	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccoides	
T. dicoccoides 13	Td B - 6	4	Triticum	turgidum	dicoccoides	
Ae speltoides 92	PI 542256	2	Aegilops	speltoides	ligustica	Turkey, Adıyaman

APPENDIX B. COMPARISON OF SNTOX1-SENSITIVITY LEVELS AMONG



DIFFERENT WHEAT SUBSPECIES EVALUATED

(Data were taken from Shi et al. 2016b)

ID	Nucleotide change	Nucleotide position	Amino acid change	Amino acid position	Mutation effect	Average phenotypic score
Kronos873	G > A	58	V > I	20	Missense variant	2.1
Kronos3810	C > T	64			Stop codon	0.0
Kronos826	G > A	85	A > T	29	Missense variant	2.4
Kronos2019	C > T	227	A > V	76	Missense variant	2.6
Kronos4539	C > T	257	S > F	86	Missense variant	2.1
Kronos3842	C > T	290	S > F	97	Missense variant	2.0
Kronos771	C > T	307	L > F	103	Missense variant	2.0
Kronos3011	C > T	329	T > M	110	Missense variant	2.4
Kronos4256	G > A	343	V > M	115	Missense variant	2.2
Kronos1257	C > T	448	R > C	150	Missense variant	2.5
Kronos3870	C > T	568	P > S	190	Missense variant	2.5
Kronos1400	C > T	599	T > M	200	Missense variant	2.0
Kronos2379	G > A	605	R > K	202	Missense variant	2.0
Kronos1070	C > T	706	P > S	236	Missense variant	0.0
Kronos2622	G > A	766	E > K	256	Missense variant	2.1
Kronos3588	G > A	803	G > D	268	Missense variant	0.0
Kronos2431	G > A	832	G > R	278	Missense variant	2.2
Kronos2594	G > A	833	G > E	278	Missense variant	2.4
Kronos2282	G > A	856	G > R	286	Missense variant	1.9
Kronos798	C > T	908	A > V	303	Missense variant	1.7
Kronos4688	G > A	1023			Intron variant	2.0
Kronos1361	G > A	1043			Intron variant	2.3
Kronos3737	G > A	1066			Intron variant	2.2
Kronos2425	G > A	1067			Intron variant	2.0
Kronos3934	C > T	1105	P > S	338	Missense variant	2.0
Kronos2434	C > T	1106	P > L	338	Missense variant	2.0
Kronos2958	G > A	1180	G > R	363	Missense variant	0.6
Kronos1270	G > A	1189	G > S	366	Missense variant	2.0
Kronos2032	G > A	1231	A > T	380	Missense variant	2.1
Kronos594	G > A	1249			Intron variant	1.8
Kronos4683	G > A	1334			Intron variant	2.0
Kronos3352	C > T	2101	L > F	401	Missense variant	2.4
Kronos2306	C > T	2129	T > M	410	Missense variant	2.0
Kronos4218	G > A	2255	G > D	452	Missense variant	0.0
Kronos3657	G > A	2269	G > S	457	Missense variant	2.5
Kronos2261	A > C	2371	$I > \Gamma$	491	Missense variant	2.0
Kronos2581	G > A	2399	G > D	500	Missense variant	0.0
Kronos590	G > A	2506	D > N	536	Missense variant	2.1
Kronos2088	G > A	2543	G > D	548	Missense variant	0.0

APPENDIX C. DETAILS OF THE KRONOS MUTANTS USED IN THE STUDY

ID	Nucleotide change	Nucleotide position	Amino acid change	Amino acid position	Mutation effect	Average phenotypic score
Kronos929	G > A	2573	S > N	558	Missense variant	2.0
Kronos683	G > A	2719	D > N	607	Missense variant	0.0
Kronos4432	G > A	2761	D > N	621	Missense variant	0.0
Kronos3633	G > A	2834	S > N	645	Missense variant	2.5
Kronos3669	G > A	2899	E > K	667	Missense variant	2.3
Kronos2928	G > A	2984	R > K	695	Missense variant	0.6